
AGENDA  

CITY COUNCIL STUDY SESSION 

DECEMBER 11, 2023 - 6:00PM 

CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 

CITY HALL – COMMUNITY ROOM 

31555 W ELEVEN MILE ROAD 

FARMINGTON HILLS, MICHIGAN 

Telephone: 248-871-2410     Website: www.fhgov.com 

1. Call Study Session to Order

2. Roll Call

3. Ordinance Amendments – Noise and Loading/Unloading Trucks

4. Police Department AXON Project Presentation

5. Adjourn Study Session

Respectfully submitted, 

Carly Lindahl, Interim City Clerk 

Reviewed by: 

Gary Mekjian, City Manager 

NOTE: Anyone planning to attend the meeting who has need of special assistance under the 

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) is asked to contact the City Clerk’s Office at 248-871-2410 

at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting, wherein necessary 

arrangements/accommodations will be made.  Thank you. 

http://www.fhgov.com/


 
DATE: December 11, 2023 
 
TO: Gary Mekjian, City Manager 
 
FROM: Charmaine Kettler-Schmult, Director of Planning & Community  
 Development 
 
SUBJECT: Code of Ordinances Amendments – Noise and Loading and Unloading 

Trucks  
 
 
The two (2) attached draft amendments to the Farmington Hills Code of Ordinances regarding 
noise and the loading and/or unloading of trucks are presented for City Council consideration.  
 
Draft amendments were prepared by the City Attorney’s Office with input from the City Manager 
and Planning and Community Development Department staff.  
 
The draft amendments propose changes to two (2) Sections within Chapters 17 and 18 of the Code. 
These two Sections govern noise associated with loading and/or unloading of trucks, with the 
former also governing noise within the City generally. Section 18-165, enacted in 1981, is 
proposed to be repealed so as to defer noise regulation to the more modern noise standards of 
Section 17-101.  
 
Section 17-101 was last amended in 2004 to address maximum permitted noise levels in various 
zoning districts at specified times of the day.  
 
The City Attorney and Planning and Community Development Department staff will be present to 
discuss the draft amendments and answer questions.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:    

• Current Section 18-165 (Loading or unloading trucks) 
• Section 18-165 (Loading or unloading trucks) – draft amendment repealing Section 
• Section 17-101 (Noise) – draft amendment adding new subsections  
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City of Farmington Hills 

Sec. 18-165. Loading or unloading of trucks. 

(a) As used in this section:  

(1) "Truck" means every motor vehicle designed, used or maintained primarily for the transportation of 
property, including trailer-pulling tractors.  

(2) "Trailer" means every vehicle with or without motive power, designed for carrying property and 
persons, or property alone.  

(3) "Building or land use" means and/or includes all zoning districts and land uses permitted or allowed 
therein by the city zoning ordinance, including by way of example and not by way of limitation, 
restaurants, grocery stores, gasoline stations, department stores, clothiers, drugstores, warehouses, 
vacant land storage areas, open air businesses or land uses, clubs, churches, hospitals and dwellings.  

(b) It shall be unlawful for any person to cause to be loaded or unloaded any truck, trailer or combination 
thereof between the hours of 8:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., except that on Sundays no such loading or unloading 
shall be permitted at any time where such building or land use at which such loading or unloading operation 
is taking place is located within five hundred (500) feet of any dwelling.  

(c) During all loading or unloading, the engine of any truck or trailer shall be stopped for the time it takes to load 
or unload such truck or trailer, if such operation shall take in excess of twenty (20) minutes.  

(d) All loading, unloading or other handling of merchandise shall be conducted in a manner to avoid loud and 
unnecessary noise by persons or equipment used in such operation.  

(e) No person in charge of a building or land use shall permit the loading, unloading or other handling of 
merchandise, supplies, inventory or property for its use or sale to be conducted in a manner prohibited by 
this section.  

(Code 1981, § 80.135; Ord. No. C-7-85, § 1, 3-11-85) 

 



1 
 

 

ORDINANCE NO. C-___________-2024 

CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 
OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE FARMINGTON HILLS CODE OF ORDINANCES, 
CHAPTER 18, “OFFENSES,” ARTICLE V “OFFENSES AGAINST PUBLIC PEACE,” 
FOR PURPOSES OF REPEALING SECTION 18-165, “LOADING OR UNLOADING 
OF TRUCKS.” 

THE CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS ORDAINS: 

Section 1 of Ordinance.  Ordinance Amendment. 

The Farmington Hills City Code, Chapter 18, “Offenses,” Article V, “Offenses Against Public 
Peace,” is hereby amended to repeal and delete Section 18-165, “Loading or Unloading of 
Trucks.” 

Section 2 of Ordinance.  Repealer. 

All ordinances, parts of ordinances, or sections of the City Code in conflict with this ordinance 
are repealed only to the extent necessary to give this ordinance full force and effect, and the 
Farmington Hills Ordinance Code shall remain in full force and effect, amended only as 
specified above. 

Section 3 of Ordinance.  Savings. 

The amendments of the Farmington Hills Code of Ordinances set forth in this ordinance do 
not affect or impair any act done, offense committed, or right accruing, accrued, or acquired 
or liability, penalty, forfeiture, or punishment, pending or incurred prior to the amendments 
of the Farmington Hills Code of Ordinances set forth in this ordinance. 

Section 4 of Ordinance.  Severability. 

If any section, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall be declared to be unconstitutional, 
void, illegal or ineffective by any court of competent jurisdiction, the validity of the ordinance 
as a whole, or in part, shall not be affected other than the part invalidated, and such section, 
clause or provision declared to be unconstitutional, void, or illegal shall thereby cease to be 
a part of this ordinance, but the remainder of this ordinance shall stand and be in full force 
and effect. 

Section 5 of Ordinance.  Effective Date. 

The provisions of this ordinance are ordered to take effect twenty-one (21) days after 
enactment. 
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Section 6 of Ordinance.  Date and Publication. 

This ordinance is declared to have been enacted by the City Council of the City of Farmington 
Hills at a meeting called and held on the ____ day of __________, 2024, and ordered to be given 
publication in the manner prescribed by law. 

 
Ayes: 
Nays: 
Abstentions: 
Absent: 
 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN  ) 
    )  ss. 
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 
 
 
I, the undersigned, the qualified and acting City Clerk of the City of Farmington Hills, Oakland 
County, Michigan, do certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of the Ordinance 
adopted by the City Council of the City of Farmington Hills at a meeting held of the ____ day 
of ______________, 2024, the original of which is on file in my office. 

_______________________________ 
       ___________________, City Clerk 
       City of Farmington Hills 
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ORDINANCE NO. C-___________-2024 

CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 
OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE FARMINGTON HILLS CODE OF ORDINANCES, 
CHAPTER 17, “NUISANCES,” ARTICLE VII “PERFORMANCE STANDARDS,” 
SECTION 17-101, “NOISE,” FOR PURPOSES OF ADDING A NEW SUBSECTION 
17-101(e)(2) TO PROHIBIT NOISE, THAT IS AUDIBLE ON ADJACENT 
RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY, EMANATING FROM THE ENGINE OF ANY PARKED OR 
STANDING COMMERCIAL TRUCK OR TRACTOR TRAILER WHILE LOADING OR 
UNLOADING, OR WHILE WAITING TO LOAD OR UNLOAD, ITS CARGO, IF SUCH 
VEHICLE IS PARKED OR STANDING FOR SUCH PURPOSES FOR A PERIOD OF 
MORE THAN TWENTY (20) MINUTES. 

THE CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS ORDAINS: 

Section 1 of Ordinance.  Ordinance Amendment. 

The Farmington Hills City Code, Chapter 17, “Nuisances,” Article VII, “Performance Standards,” 
Section 17-101, “Noise,” is hereby amended to add a new subsection 17-101(e)(2) to read as 
set forth below: 

Sec. 17-101. – Noise.  

(a) General requirements. No operation or activity shall be carried on that 
causes or creates measurable noise levels that are unreasonably loud or that 
unreasonably interfere with the peace and comfort of others, or that exceed 
the maximum noise level limits prescribed in Table A below as measured at 
any point on property adjacent or in close proximity to the lot or parcel on 
which the operation or activity is located. 

(b) Method and units of measurement. The measuring equipment and 
measurement procedures shall conform to the latest American National 
Standards Institute (ANSI) specifications. The sound measuring equipment 
shall be properly calibrated before and after the measurements. Because 
sound waves having the same decibel (Db) level "sound" louder or softer to 
the human ear depending upon the frequency of the sound wave in cycles-
per-second (that is, depending on whether the pitch of the sound is high or 
low) an A-weighted filter constructed in accordance with ANSI specifications 
shall be used on any sound level meter used to take measurements required 
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in this section. All measurements below are expressed in Db(A) to reflect the 
use of the A-weighted filter. 

(c) Table of maximum noise levels. Except as otherwise provided in this section, 
noise levels shall not exceed the limits set forth in the following Table A: 

TABLE A 
MAXIMUM PERMITTED NOISE LEVELS 

 Use  Time  Sound Level (A-
Weighted)Decibels 
Db(A)  

Residential (see uses 
included in RA, RP, RC, 
SP, MH districts)  

7:00 a.m. 
to 7:00 
p.m.  

60  

  7:00 p.m. 
to 10:00 
p.m.  

55  

  10:00 
p.m. to 
7:00 a.m.  

50  

Business/Office (see 
uses included in OS, B, 
ES, P districts)  

7:00 a.m. 
to 7:00 
p.m.  

65  

  7:00 p.m. 
to 7:00 
a.m.  

50  

Industrial (see uses 
included in IRO, LI-1 
districts), where all 
adjacent properties are 
used for 
industrial/business 
purposes  

Anytime  70  

Industrial, where any 
adjacent properties are 
used for residential 
purposes  

Anytime  60  

 

(d) Background noise. Where existing background noise exceeds the 
maximum permitted levels specified in Table A, the noise caused or created 
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by a specific operation or activity may exceed the levels specified in the table, 
provided that the sound level on property adjacent or in close proximity to 
the lot or parcel on which the operation or activity is located does not exceed 
the background noise level. For purposes of this subsection, background 
noise shall mean noise being produced by permitted uses conducted in a 
legally-accepted manner from all sources other than those occurring on the 
lot or parcel on which the operation or activity is located. Background noise 
levels shall be determined by measurement at substantially the same time and 
location as the noise levels caused or created by the complained-of operation 
or activity. 

(e) Intermittent or other unreasonable sounds.  

(1) Intermittent sounds or sounds characterized by pure tones might be a 
source of complaints, even though the measured sound level does not 
exceed the permitted level in Table A. Such sounds shall be prohibited 
when found to be unreasonably loud or to unreasonably interfere with the 
peace and comfort of others. In making such determination, the following 
shall be considered: 

(1i) The proximity of the sound to sleeping facilities; 

(2ii) The nature of the use from which the sound emanates and the 
area where it is received or perceived; 

(3iii) The time (day or night) the sound occurs; and 

(4iv) The duration of the sound. 

(2) Noise, that is audible on adjacent residential property, emanating from 
the running engine of any parked or standing commercial truck or tractor-
trailer while loading or unloading, or while waiting to load or unload, cargo 
is prohibited, if such vehicle is parked or standing for such purposes for a 
period of more than twenty (20) minutes, even though the measured sound 
level does not exceed the permitted level in Table A. 

(f) Special exception. An application for a special exception from the provisions 
of this section may be submitted to the zoning board of appeals, sitting as an 
administrative review board for purposes of this provision. The owner or 
operator of equipment on the property shall submit a statement regarding 
the effect of noise from the equipment on the overall noise level in the area. 
The statement shall also include a study of background noise levels, predicted 
levels of noise measured at the boundary line due to the proposed operation, 
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and justification for the special exception. If it appears to the zoning board of 
appeals, in the course of its review of the applicant's application and 
statement, that the expertise of a sound engineer or other expert shall be 
necessary in order to review the application, the zoning board of appeals shall 
be authorized to obtain a reasonable escrow for consulting fees from the 
applicant and retain such expert for such purposes. Upon review of the 
request for a special exception, the zoning board of appeals may grant a 
special exception where such relief would be within the spirit and intent of 
this ordinance, would not adversely affect the public health, safety, and 
welfare, and would not be materially injurious to surrounding properties and 
improvements. The zoning board of appeals may impose conditions of 
operation in granting a special exception. 

(g) Exemptions. Noise resulting from the following activities shall be exempt 
from the maximum permitted sound levels provided such activity occurs in a 
legally-accepted manner: 

(1) Construction activity (see section 18-164); 

(2) Performance of emergency work, including snow removal; 

(3) Warning devices necessary for public safety, such as police, fire, and 
ambulance sirens, tornado and civil defense warning devices, and train 
horns; 

(4) Lawn care and yard maintenance that occurs between 8:00 a.m. and 
9:00 p.m.; 

(5) Outdoor school and playground activities when conducted in 
accordance with the manner in which such spaces are generally used, 
including, but not limited to, school athletic and school entertainment 
events; 

(6) Bells or chimes of churches or other places of worship; 

(7) The unamplified human voice; and 

(8) Public works maintenance, repair, or improvement projects being 
conducted by or on behalf of public agencies. 

Section 2 of Ordinance.  Repealer. 

All ordinances, parts of ordinances, or sections of the City Code in conflict with this ordinance 
are repealed only to the extent necessary to give this ordinance full force and effect, and the 

https://library.municode.com/mi/farmington_hills/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH18OF_ARTVOFAGPUPE_S18-164COACNO
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Farmington Hills Ordinance Code shall remain in full force and effect, amended only as 
specified above. 

Section 3 of Ordinance.  Savings. 

The amendments of the Farmington Hills Code of Ordinances set forth in this ordinance do 
not affect or impair any act done, offense committed, or right accruing, accrued, or acquired 
or liability, penalty, forfeiture, or punishment, pending or incurred prior to the amendments 
of the Farmington Hills Code of Ordinances set forth in this ordinance. 

Section 4 of Ordinance.  Severability. 

If any section, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall be declared to be unconstitutional, 
void, illegal or ineffective by any court of competent jurisdiction, the validity of the ordinance 
as a whole, or in part, shall not be affected other than the part invalidated, and such section, 
clause or provision declared to be unconstitutional, void, or illegal shall thereby cease to be 
a part of this ordinance, but the remainder of this ordinance shall stand and be in full force 
and effect. 

Section 5 of Ordinance.  Effective Date. 

The provisions of this ordinance are ordered to take effect twenty-one (21) days after 
enactment. 

Section 6 of Ordinance.  Date and Publication. 

This ordinance is declared to have been enacted by the City Council of the City of Farmington 
Hills at a meeting called and held on the ____ day of __________, 2024, and ordered to be given 
publication in the manner prescribed by law. 

 
Ayes: 
Nays: 
Abstentions: 
Absent: 
 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN  ) 
    )  ss. 
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 
 
 
I, the undersigned, the qualified and acting City Clerk of the City of Farmington Hills, Oakland 
County, Michigan, do certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of the Ordinance 
adopted by the City Council of the City of Farmington Hills at a meeting held of the ____ day 
of ______________, 2024, the original of which is on file in my office. 
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_______________________________ 
       ___________________, City Clerk 
       City of Farmington Hills 

 



 

31555 West Eleven Mile Road • Farmington Hills MI 48336 • 248.871.2500 Phone • 248.871.2501 Fax 

OFFICE OF CITY MANAGER 

 

DATE:  December 8, 2023  

 

TO:  City Council   

  

FROM: Gary Mekjian, City Manager   

 

SUBJECT: AXON Project Presentation 
 

Chief of Police King will be in attendance to provide City Council with a presentation on the 

referenced.  I’ve attached Chief King’s memo that provides a very brief description of this 

project.  We will be seeking direction from City Council this evening on how it wishes to 

proceed. 



 

INTEROFFICE CORRESPONDENCE 

                      

DATE:  December 8, 2023  

 

TO:  Gary Mekjian, City Manager   

  

FROM: Jeff King, Chief of Police   

 

SUBJECT: AXON Project Presentation 

 

  

 On December 11, 2023, I am requesting an opportunity to formally present City 

Council a proposal regarding a needed Equipment and Technology program for the 

Farmington Hills Police Department.  

 

This presentation will detail equipment and supporting technology that will focus on 

increasing Department wide efficacy, safety, and transparency. City Council members will 

be provided a copy of the presentation, that will include technological, legal, financial, 

transparency, and operational advantages of this proposal, in addition to internal and 

external stakeholder support.     



AGENDA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

DECEMBER 11, 2023 – 7:30PM 

CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 

31555 W ELEVEN MILE ROAD 

FARMINGTON HILLS, MICHIGAN 

Telephone: 248-871-2410     Website:  www.fhgov.com 

Cable TV:  Spectrum – Channel 203; AT&T – Channel 99 

YouTube Channel:  https://www.youtube.com/user/FHChannel8 

REQUESTS TO SPEAK:  Anyone requesting to speak before Council on any agenda item other than an 

advertised public hearing issue must complete and turn in to the City Clerk a blue, Public Participation Registration 

Form (located in the wall rack by the south door entering the council chambers). 

REGULAR SESSION MEETING BEGINS AT 7:30P.M. IN THE CITY COUNCIL CHAMBER 

STUDY SESSION (6:00 P.M. Community Room– See Separate Agenda) 

REGULAR SESSION MEETING 

CALL REGULAR SESSION MEETING TO ORDER 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL 
1. Approval of regular session meeting agenda

2. Selection of Mayor Pro-Tem

3. Proclamation recognizing the 20th Anniversary of the Farmington Hills Youth Theatre

4. Presentation and Acceptance of the City’s FY 2022/2023 Audit Results

CORRESPONDENCE 

CONSENT AGENDA - (See Items No. 9 - 15) 

All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered routine, administrative, or non-controversial by the City 

Council and will be enacted by one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items, unless a 

Council Member or citizen so requests, in which event the items may be removed from the Consent Agenda for 

consideration.    

CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS 

Limited to five (5) minutes for any item of City business not on the agenda. 

COUNCIL MEMBERS COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

CITY MANAGER UPDATE 

PUBLIC HEARING: 

5. Public hearing and consideration of the construction of a cellular tower located at 30691 Grand River Avenue, 
Site Plan 52-4-2023.

NEW BUSINESS: 

6. Consideration of Appointments to various boards and commissions.

http://www.fhgov.com/
https://www.youtube.com/user/FHChannel8


CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

DECEMBER 11, 2023 Page 2 

7. Consideration of approval of the Second Amendment to Planned Unit Development 5, 1993 Agreement with 
Farmington Hills Corporate Investors for the construction of two new office buildings.

8. Consideration of approval of the Third Amendment to Planned Unit Development 5, 1993 Agreement with 
Farmington Hills Corporate Investors for Comerica Signage.

CONSENT AGENDA: 

9. Recommended approval of Consulting Services Agreement for Building Department Database Management 
and System with Munivate, LLC in an amount not to exceed $75,000. CMR 12-23-125

10. Recommended approval of as needed purchase of asphalt materials from Ajax Materials Corporation in the 
amount not-to-exceed $50,000 per year, with extensions. CMR 12-23-126

11. Recommended approval of purchase of two 5-yard dump truck chassis with Swap Loader hoist systems from 
Wolverine Freightliner in the amount of $231,492. CMR 12-23-127

12. Recommended approval of as needed purchase of OEM parts for emergency vehicles from Liquid Spring LLC 
in the estimated amounts of $15,000, Rosenbaur in the amount of $30,000 and MacQueen in the amount of

$15,000. CMR 12-23-128

13. Recommended approval of setting the City Council goals session date of January 6, 2024.

14. Recommended approval of city council study session meeting minutes of November 27, 2023.

15. Recommended approval of city council regular session meeting minutes of November 27, 2023.

ADDITIONS TO AGENDA 

16. Attorney Report

ADJOURNMENT 

Respectfully submitted, 

Carly Lindahl, Interim City Clerk 

Reviewed by: 

Gary Mekjian, City Manager 

NOTE: Anyone planning to attend the meeting who has need of special assistance under the Americans with 

Disabilities Act (ADA) is asked to contact the City Clerk’s Office at 248-871-2410 at least two (2) business 

days prior to the meeting, wherein necessary arrangements/ accommodations will be made.   



 
 

PROCLAMATION 
Honoring the 20th Anniversary of  

the Farmington Hills Youth Theatre 
December 2023 

 
WHEREAS, the arts enrich the lives of all community members, and exposure 

to the arts is a vital part of young people’s educational 
experience and personal development; and, 

 
WHEREAS, youth theater provides lifelong skills in collaboration, creativity 

and social awareness, and is especially successful in boosting 
confidence, self-esteem and concentration in children; and, 

 
WHEREAS, since its inaugural season in 2003-2004, the Farmington Hills 

Youth Theatre (FHYT) has believed in the intrinsic value of access 
to children’s theater and the power of the arts; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the FHYT was created as a program of the Cultural Arts Division of 

the City’s Special Services Department to support actors from the 
ages of four to 18, and has produced 55 productions, including 
recent productions of Disney’s Little Mermaid, Matilda Jr., Beauty 
and the Beast Jr., Newsies, Mary Poppins and many more, in 
addition to a full roster of summer camps; and,  

 
WHEREAS, the FHYT is committed not only to the craft, but also to creating 

an inclusive environment that supports the development of young 
people as valuable, contributing members of the community; and,   

 
WHEREAS, for 20 years, the FHYT has impacted 7 thousand youth performers 

from the City of Farmington Hills and across metro Detroit and has 
provided countless hours of accessible entertainment to more 
than 100 thousand audience members of all ages. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Theresa Rich, Mayor of the City of Farmington Hills, on behalf 
of the City Council, do hereby recognize all former and current Farmington Hills Youth 
Theatre performers, parents, guardians and instructors in acknowledgment of the 20th 
anniversary of the Farmington Hills Youth Theatre and urge all residents to expose 
themselves and their children to the arts for the benefit of our community. 
 

 
            Theresa Rich, Mayor 
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December 4, 2023 

Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council, 
     and Citizens of Farmington Hills 

We are pleased to submit the annual comprehensive financial report (ACFR) of the City of Farmington Hills (the “City”) for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2023.  This report was prepared by the Finance Department in conformance with regulations and standards set forth by the City Charter, the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and its Committee on Governmental 
Accounting and Auditing, generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), the Treasurer of the State of Michigan, and the Government Finance 
Officers Association (GFOA). This report consists of management representations concerning the finances of the City of Farmington Hills. Therefore, 
responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, reliability, and fairness of the financial data herein, including all disclosures, rests with the administration 
and management of the City of Farmington Hills. We believe the data presented is accurate in all material aspects, that it is presented in a manner 
designed to fairly set forth the financial position and results of operations of the City, and that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain 
the maximum understanding of the City’s financial affairs have been included. The statements have been audited in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards by Yeo & Yeo, a certified public accounting firm licensed by the State of Michigan. 

Since the report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the City of Farmington Hills, a comprehensive internal control 
framework that is designed both to protect the City’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable information for preparation of 
the City of Farmington Hills’ financial statements in conformity with GAAP has been established. However, due to the fact that the internal control 
systems should be cost effective, the City’s comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable rather than 
absolute assurance that the financial statements will be free from material misstatement.  

Yeo & Yeo has audited the City of Farmington Hills’ financial statements to provide reasonable assurance that the City’s financial statements for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 are free of material misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures contained in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  

The independent auditors concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion that the City of 
Farmington Hills’ financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent auditor’s 
report is presented as the first component of the financial section of the report.   
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The independent audit of the financial statements of the City was part of a broader, federally mandated “single audit” designed to meet the special 
needs of federal grantor agencies. The standards governing single audit engagements require the independent auditor to report not only on the fair 
presentation of the financial statements, but also on the audited government’s internal controls and compliance with legal requirements, with special 
emphasis on internal controls and legal requirements involving the administration of federal awards. This report is available in the City of Farmington 
Hills’ separately issued single audit report.  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and 
analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in the form of a management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is 
designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it.  The City of Farmington Hills’ MD&A can be found immediately following 
the report of the independent auditor. 

Profile of the Government

Farmington Hills is a 34 square mile suburban community with a pastoral and gently rolling terrain in Oakland County, MI, located 17 miles from 
downtown Detroit. It is one of the largest cities in Oakland County, the most prosperous county in Michigan and one of the most prosperous counties 
in America. Incorporated in 1973, the City quickly grew from its rural roots, and today offers a unique blend of historic charm, international diversity, 
and cutting-edge commerce, making it one of the most desirable locations to live and work in the United States. The City’s tax base of $4.2 billion is 
comprised of 69 percent residential property and 31 percent commercial, industrial, and personal property. The community’s estimated 82,737 
residents live in approximately 35,628 households with a median household income of $93,434.

The City possesses an ideal location within 25 minutes of downtown Detroit and Detroit Metro Airport, and at the focal point of a north/south and 
east/west freeway network.  Industrial centers of Warren, the Saginaw/Flint area, Lansing and Toledo, Ohio, as well as the Ann Arbor technology 
corridor are within an hour’s drive. Approximately half of America's disposable income, half of the country's work force, and nearly half of the total 
U.S. population are within a 500-mile radius of the City. The City supports seven industrial parks totaling more than 600 acres, which provide first-
rate services and facilities. In addition, the 12 Mile Road, Orchard Lake Road and Northwestern Highway corridors host many commercial and office 
developments, which house many corporate headquarters and district offices of regional, national and international prominence.

The community offers a wide range of quality housing featuring homes in every style and price range. There are many premier residential areas 
providing housing options including more than 25,200 single-family homes and over 10,600 rental units designed to fit every lifestyle. Home prices 
range from under $100,000 to $3 million, with the average home priced at approximately $309,000.

The City's respect for its Quaker heritage is demonstrated by its commitment to historical preservation through its Historic Commission, Historical 
District, and the conversion of the historic Spicer Estate House to a Visitor Center within the 211-acre passive Heritage Park, located in the center of 
the City.

The City is enhanced by exemplary educational opportunities for kindergarten through 12th grade via both public and private schools and a premier 
district library system with one of the highest annual circulation rates in the State. A broad spectrum of recreational and cultural activities is available 
within the City or within a short drive. A total of 12 major colleges and universities are within a 45-minute drive of the community. Quality health care 
is readily accessible through Beaumont Hospital, Farmington Hills, a full-service teaching hospital with a Level II Trauma Center and Certified Stroke 
Center, which is associated with Michigan State University and a part of Beaumont Health. Twelve major medical centers and hospitals are within a 
half-hour driving distance of the City. Many physicians affiliated with these medical facilities maintain their offices in Farmington Hills.
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The City operates under the City Council/city manager form of government with seven elected officials, a mayor, and six City Council members 
representing the citizens of the City of Farmington Hills. The mayor is elected directly by the electorate for not more than two consecutive, two-year 
terms. The six City Council members are elected at large for staggered terms of four years each. The mayor and City Council establish all policies for 
the City government. The city manager is appointed by the City Council.

The City of Farmington Hills provides a full range of services including police and fire protection; the construction and maintenance of highways, 
streets, and other infrastructure; recreational activities and cultural events; and refuse collection and recycling services. Utility services for water and 
sanitary sewers are provided by the City, with the Oakland County Water Resources Commission administrating the service for water and sanitary 
sewers under contract with the City. Library functions are provided by the Farmington Community Library, which serves both the City of Farmington 
Hills and the neighboring City of Farmington.

City Hall, which is a LEED Gold certified facility, will serve the community well through the coming decades by allowing the City to improve its energy 
and operational efficiencies, strengthen its community image, and provide flexibility in meeting the needs of the community.

Economic development efforts have been promoted by the City of Farmington Hills Economic Development Corporation, a component unit of the City 
whose financial statements are displayed in the basic financial statements.

The other component units of the City are the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority, established by the City Council to assist in the redevelopment of 
environmentally challenged sites within the City; and the Corridor Improvement Authority, created by the City Council to correct and prevent 
deterioration in business districts, encourage historic preservation, and promote economic growth. The Corridor Improvement Authority was created 
in collaboration with the City of Farmington in sharing a corridor to leverage investments by defraying some of the costs of redevelopment and sharing 
resources that can be invested in improvements. The Brownfield Redevelopment Authority and the Corridor Improvement Authority financial 
statements are also displayed in the basic financial statements.

The City’s annual budget provides the foundation for financial planning and control. All departments funded by the City of Farmington Hills are required 
to submit requests for appropriations to the city manager in February of each year. The city manager utilizes these requests as the basis for developing 
the proposed budget submitted to City Council by the first regular council meeting in May. 

In conformity with Article VII General Finance of the City Charter and the State of Michigan Uniform Budgets Act, a public hearing on the proposed 
annual budget and tax rates is held by the first regular Council meeting in June, after public notice of the meeting and hearing is published at least 
seven days prior to the public hearing.  

The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function (e.g., public safety), and department (e.g., police department). Department heads may make 
transfers of appropriated funds within a department with the approval of the city manager and finance director. Transfers of appropriations between 
departments require approval by the City Council. 

Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in this report for each governmental fund in which an appropriated annual budget has been adopted. For 
the General Fund and the major Special Revenue Funds (Municipal Street Fund, Major Road Fund, Local Road Fund, and the Public Safety Millage 
Fund), the comparison is reported as part of the required supplemental information following the notes to the financial statements. 

For the major Community Center Renovations Fund and all nonmajor governmental funds with an appropriated annual budget, this comparison is 
presented in the other supplemental information subsection of this report.
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Factors Affecting Financial Condition

The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when it is considered from the broader perspective of the unique 
environment within which the City of Farmington Hills operates.

Local Economy - The City of Farmington Hills possesses a diversified property tax base comprised of 69 percent residential, 22 percent commercial, 
3 percent industrial, and 5 percent personal property (business equipment, furniture, and machinery). No one taxpayer exceeds 1.70 percent of the 
tax roll and the top 20 taxpayers combined account for approximately 10.27 percent of the total tax roll. Farmington Hills is home to approximately 
4,700 businesses, 75 Fortune 500 companies, and more than 100 international firms. The City’s residents are employed predominantly in 
management, professional sales, and related occupations. 

Economic development staff of the City coordinates development activity with the City’s Economic Development Corporation.  The City participates 
in a business retention program and has formed a partnership with the Oakland County Planning and Economic Development Services Division and 
the Michigan Economic Development Corporation.  Working together, they have been successful in assisting companies in expanding their business 
opportunities in the City.  

Oakland County’s economic growth and business sustainability is assisted by “Automation Alley,” a dynamic organization of leaders from all 
backgrounds and business sectors that are combining talent and energy to transform southeast Michigan into a high technology workforce and 
business development powerhouse. Membership is made up of 1,000 technology-driven companies, governments, and educational institutions which 
have helped to drive the growth and image of southeast Michigan’s technology economy.  

Oakland County continues to embrace the “emerging sectors” initiative, an aggressive plan to attract the top new and emerging businesses to Oakland 
County. Over the last several years over 500 emerging sector endeavors have generated over $5 billion in investment while creating or retaining over 
89,000 jobs. These sectors are: 

• Advanced electronics 
• Advanced material
• Aerospace
• Alternative energy
• Communications and information technology
• Defense and homeland security
• Medical main street/health care
• Robotics
• Finance, insurance, and real estate

Oakland County’s median household income of $86,275 is the highest among Michigan’s 83 counties. Oakland County, as well as the City of 
Farmington Hills, continues to enjoy a AAA bond rating from Standard & Poor’s, the highest bond rating achievable. The AAA bond rating allows the 
City to borrow at the lowest possible interest rate, saving City’s taxpayers significant dollars in future borrowing costs.    
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The Michigan Senate Fiscal Agency report from May 2023 forecasts the following:

The City Council annually reviews and accepts the updated “Six-year Capital Improvement Program,” as prepared by staff and adopted by the City’s 
Planning Commission, which directly impacts the City’s infrastructure. The City Council adopts many of the projects in the first year of this program 
in the annual budget. In addition to road construction and utility projects, the following categories of acquisitions or improvements are planned for 
FY 2023-2024:

• $2.2 million for drainage projects

• $0.5 million for sidewalk and bike path improvements/replacements

• $0.9 million for Fire Department vehicles and equipment

• $0.5 million for Police Department vehicles and equipment

• $1.2 million for Public Services Department equipment

• $1.7 million for technology equipment, software and upgrades

• $1.7 million for public facility improvements

Financial Policies - The following financial policies of the City had a significant impact on the City’s FY 2022-2023 financial statements:

Revenue Policy to Maintain a Diversified and Stable Taxable Revenue Base - Although the tax base remains diversified with approximately 69 
percent residential and 31 percent nonresidential, the tax base had an increase in taxable values of approximately 6.5 percent in FY 2022-23.  
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Taxable Values have increased by another 6.5% in FY 2023-24, reflecting a high inflation rate in the housing sector in the last several years and 
strong development.

Investment Policy to Maximize Yields while Maintaining the Integrity and Safety of Principal - The City makes a serious effort to maximize investment 
earnings, diversification, and insurability of its investable funds. At year end, the weighted average liquidity of the City’s investment portfolio was 
approximately one week, while the average yield on the portfolio was out-performing the three-month and six-month Treasury yield along with the 
Federal Funds rate. 

Financial Policy to Place Emphasis on Areas of Long-term Importance Such as Employee Relations, Automation, and Technology Improvements - 
With a reduced workforce from the recent past, the City has continued to focus on technology improvements and process improvements to increase 
employee productivity and efficiency.

Long-term Financial Planning - Annually, City staff prepares a six-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), which is approved by the City Planning 
Commission and accepted by the City Council. This program will contain projects and equipment costs in excess of $25,000.  Total project cost and 
sources of funding, along with project descriptions, will be outlined in the Capital Improvement Program. Areas included in the program will be drainage, 
sanitary sewers and water mains, public facilities, sidewalks, transportation, equipment, and parks and recreation facilities. The purpose of this six-
year program is to facilitate the orderly planning and infrastructure improvements, maintain, preserve, and protect the City's existing infrastructure 
system, and provide for the scheduled replacement of equipment and acquisition of new equipment to insure the efficient delivery of services to the 
community. The first year of the adopted CIP is incorporated into the city’s proposed budget, if funding is available. The City manages its debt by 
establishing debt capacity limits or guidelines to use in conjunction with its capital planning and budgeting processes. 

In order to better understand the financial condition of the City, it has become increasingly important to maintain and update an ongoing Financial 
Forecasting model. The end result of this forecasting model is intended to communicate what is likely to happen in the future based on where the City 
is today and where it appears to be heading. The preparation of a reasonably complete forecast allows the City to look at its options and prudently 
plan and act accordingly. The Financial Forecasts are developed as part of the annual Citizens Guide and Performance Dashboard document. This 
document also includes performance measurements of key benchmark data related to fiscal stability and economic strength.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of 
Farmington Hills for its ACFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. This was the 25th consecutive year that the City has received this prestigious 
award.  In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the City published an easily readable and efficiently organized ACFR. This report satisfied 
both GAAP and applicable legal requirements. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current ACFR 
continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another 
certificate.

In addition, the City received the GFOA’s Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for its annual budget document for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2023. In order to qualify for the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award, the City’s budget document was judged to be proficient in several categories, 
including as a policy document, a financial plan, an operations guide, and a communications device. This was the 39th consecutive year the City 
received this award.  
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The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the efficient and dedicated services of the entire staff of the finance department 
and city manager’s office.  We would like to express our appreciation to all members of the departments who assisted and contributed to the 
preparation of this report.  The independent auditing firm of Yeo & Yeo provided assistance for proper presentation in the form of counsel, suggestions, 
and direct input. Credit also must be given to the mayor and the City Council for their support in maintaining the highest standards of professionalism 
in the management of the City of Farmington Hills’ finances.  

Respectfully submitted,

Gary Mekjian Thomas C. Skrobola
Interim City Manager Finance Director/Treasurer  



1 - 8



 

1 - 9 

City of Farmington Hills 
List of Elected and Principal Officials 

June 30, 2023 

 
Mayor and City Council 

Title  Name 

Mayor  Vicki Barnett 

Mayor Pro Tem  Randy Bruce  

Council Member  Valerie Knol 

Council Member  Michael Bridges 

Council Member  Ken Massey 

Council Member  Mary Newlin 

Council Member  Jackie Boleware 

 



 

1 - 10 

City of Farmington Hills 
List of Elected and Principal Officials 

June 30, 2023 

 
Principal Officials 

Title  Name 

City Manager  Gary Mekjian 

Assistant City Manager  Joe Valentine 

Economic Development Director  Cristia Brockway 

City Clerk  Pamela Smith 

Central Services Director  Kelly Monico 

Finance Director/Treasurer  Thomas Skrobola 

Fire Chief  Jon Unruh 

Human Resources Director  Lori Brown 

Planning and Community Development Director  Charmaine Kettler-Schmult 

Police Chief  Jeff King 

Public Services Director  Karen Mondora 

Special Services Director  Ellen Schnackel 

City Attorney  Rosati, Schultz, Joppich & Amtsbuechler, P.C. 

Deputy Director Special Services  Bryan Farmer 

Deputy Director Special Services  Brian Moran 

Assistant Police Chief  Vacant 

Assistant Police Chief  John Piggott 

Deputy Fire Chief  Jason Olszewski 

Building Official  Scott Lenhart 

City Assessor  Matthew Dingman 

City Engineer   James Cubera 

City Planner  Erik Perdonik 

Community Development Coordinator  Tracey Emmanuel 

Assistant Finance Director  Teresa Jablonski 

Deputy City Clerk  Carly Lindahl 

Deputy Treasurer  Shontae Stringfellow 

Fire Marshal  Jason Baloga 

Public Works Superintendent  Derrick Schueller 

Zoning Division Supervisor  Dennis Randt 



1 - 11

• Building
• Zoning Code 

Enforcement
• Community 

Development
• Housing 

Rehabilitation 
• Planning

• Treasury
• Assessing
• Accounting
• Budget
• Pension 

Administration
• Risk 

Management
• Debt 

Administration

Citizens of Farmington Hills

47th District 
Court

Human 
Resources

Auditors Boards and 
Commissions

Mayor & City Council

Assistant City 
Manager

Economic 
Development

• Employment
• EEO
• Contract Administration
• Compensation & Benefits
• Employee Relations
• Organizational Development

Planning 
Consultant

City Manager

• Elections 
• Voter Registration
• Records

City Attorney City Clerk

Central Services Finance Fire
Planning and 
Community

Development
Police Public 

Services
Special
Services

• Purchasing
• MIS
• Communication

s Equipment
• Mail
• GIS

• EMS
• Fire Suppression
• Technical Rescue
• HazMat 

Emergencies
• Fire Prevention

• Administrative 
Bureau

• Crime Prevention
• Operations Bureau
• Records/ 
Community 
Policing

• Investigative 
Division

• Public Works
• Engineering
• Refuse Removal
• Road 
Maintenance

• Utilities and 
Drains

• Building 
Maintenance

Public 
Information

• Parks and Rec
• Senior Programs
• Grounds 
Maintenance
• Golf Course
• Activities Center
• Ice Arena
• Cultural Arts
• Youth Programs
• Video Production

CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS



City of Farmington Hills
Fund Organization Chart

Governmental Funds

General Special Revenue

General Fund Major Roads
Local Roads

Debt Service Municipal Streets
Public Safety Millage

General Debt Service Community Development Block Grants (CDBG)
Nutrition Grant
Forfeiture
Parks and Recreation Special Millage

Capital Projects Michigan Indigent Defense Commission

Capital Improvement
Community Center Renovations

Proprietary Funds - Enterprise

Water and Sewer

Fiduciary Funds

Custodial

Tax Collections

Component Units

Economic Development Corporation Brownfield Redevelopment Authority
Corridor Improvement Authority

 1 - 12



 
 

2 - 1 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members 
of the City Council 

City of Farmington Hills 
City of Farmington Hills, Michigan 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely 
presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Farmington Hills (the “City”), as of and for 
the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as 
listed in the table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the City, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Adoption of New Accounting Standard 
As discussed in Note 16 to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 2023  the City adopted new accounting guidance, GASB Statement 
No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City ‘s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, 
significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information  
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary 
comparison schedules, and the pension and OPEB schedules, as identified in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
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methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 
 
Supplementary Information  
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. 
The other supplementary information, as identified in the table of contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part 
of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by us. In our opinion, based on our 
audit, the other supplementary information, as identified in the table of contents, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 
 
Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information comprises the introductory and statistical 
sections but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.  Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not 
cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether a material 
inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required 
to describe it in our report. 
 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 4, 2023 on our consideration of the City’s 
internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. 
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Auburn Hills, MI 
December 4, 2023 
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Using this Annual Report 

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The statement of net position and the statement of activities provide information about 
the activities of the City of Farmington Hills, Michigan (the “City”) on a government-wide basis. They are designed to present a long-term view of the 
City’s finances. Fund financial statements follow the above-mentioned statements and illustrate how the services provided by the City were financed 
in the short term, as well as what remains for future spending. Additionally, fund financial statements report the City’s operations in more detail than 
the government-wide financial statements. 

The City of Farmington Hills as a Whole 

The City’s combined primary government net position increased $21.1 million or 5.6 percent, from $375.8 million to $396.9 million, due primarily to 
the net increase of $10.8 million of capital assets and $11.2 million of Restricted assets, primarily in the Road Funds, due to the acquisition of 
infrastructure, facilities, and equipment, and the net increase in funds restricted for road construction, due to the timing of capital project expenditures 
over the fiscal year end.  Of that amount, $77.5 million (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to 
citizens/creditors. Governmental activities net position increased by $21.0 million or 9.0 percent.  Unrestricted net position of governmental activities 
was approximately $12.0 million as of June 30, 2023. Business-type activities net position increased by approximately $100,000 in net position or 0.1 
percent.  The unrestricted net position of business-type activities was approximately $65.5 million as of June 30, 2023.   
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In condensed format, the table below shows the comparison of net position (in millions of dollars) as of June 30, 2023 to the prior year: 
 

 
 

 

TABLE 1

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Assets

Current assets 121.6$        101.6$    70.0$           75.3$         191.6$    176.9$    

Noncurrent assets: 

Noncapital assets 7.6              5.6          -                   -                 7.6          5.6          

Capital assets 241.7          232.2      111.7           99.2           353.4      331.4      

Total assets 370.9          339.4      181.7           174.5         552.6      513.9      

Deferred Outflows of Resources 14.2            16.1        -                   -                 14.2        16.1        

Liabilities

Current liabilities 23.5            26.3        6.0               5.3             29.5        31.6        

Long-term liabilities 104.3          92.6        31.4             25.0           135.7      117.6      

Total liabilities 127.8          118.9      37.4             30.3           165.2      149.2      

Deferred Inflows of Resources 4.6 5.0 -                   -                 4.6 5.0

Net Position

Invested in capital assets 202.6          198.0      78.8             72.7           281.4      270.7      

Restricted 38.1            26.9        -                   -                 38.1        26.9        

Unrestricted (deficit) 12.0            6.7          65.5             71.5           77.5        78.2        

Total net position 252.7$        231.6$    144.3$         144.2$       397.0$    375.8$    

Business-type ActivitiesGovernmental Activities Total
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The following table shows the changes in net position (in millions of dollars) for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022: 

 
 
Governmental Activities  

The City’s total governmental activities revenue increased by $14.7 million or 13 percent.  This was primarily attributed to improved interest earnings 
of $6.3 million, due to the Federal Reserve’s very rapid increase in the Federal Funds Rate, which drives most municipal cash investment returns, 
which are governed strictly by Public Act 20 of the Compiled Laws of Michigan; this increase is expected to be short-lived as the Federal Reserve is 

TABLE 2

Governmental Activities

Business-type 

Activities

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenue

Program revenue:

Charges for services 22.1$    19.0$     34.3$    31.0$    56.4$     50.0$       

Operating grants and contributions 20.0      17.5       -        -        20.0       17.5         

Capital grants and contributions -        -         1.5        1.2        1.5         1.2           

General revenue:

Property taxes 67.6      64.5       -        -        67.6       64.5         

State-shared revenue 11.1      11.0       -        -        11.1       11.0         

Interest 6.3        -         2.7        -        9.0         -           

Other 0.4        0.8         -        -        0.4         0.8           

Total revenue 127.5    112.8     38.5      32.2      166.0     145.0       

Program Expenses

General government 17.3      17.8       -        -        17.3       17.8         

Public safety 41.7      35.4       -        -        41.7       35.4         

Public services 27.6      21.6       -        -        27.6       21.6         

Health and welfare 0.4        0.2         -        -        0.4         0.2           

Community and economic development 2.8        2.2         -        -        2.8         2.2           

Recreation and culture 15.9      14.3       -        -        15.9       14.3         

Interest on long-term debt 0.7        0.8         -        -        0.7         0.8           

Water and sewer -        -         38.4      33.4      38.4       33.4         

Total program expenses 106.4    92.3       38.4      33.4      144.8     125.7       

Change in Net Position 21.1      20.5       0.1        (1.2)       21.2       19.3         

Net Position - Beginning of year 231.6    211.1     144.2    145.4    375.8     356.5       

Net Position - End of year 252.7$  231.6$   144.3$  144.2$  397.0$   375.8$     

Total
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expected to lower interest rates in the next year.  This was also impacted by a $3.1 million increase in charges for services as the Hawk Community 
Center patrons continue to flock to the City’s new community crown jewel and COVID pandemic concerns have receded, as well as City staff 
Engineering work conducted in support of City infrastructure projects.  Finally, revenues were impacted by a $2.5 million increase in operating grants 
and contributions, driven in part by the receipt of a Federal FEMA grant through Oakland County to reimburse for costs from the July 2021 storm 
event.  The City’s total governmental program expenses increased by $14.2 million or 15.3 percent.  This is attributable to increased Police and Fire 
staffing as approved by City Council in the FY 22-23 Budget, as well as increases in road paving activity, and increased expenses to accommodate 
the increased patronage of the new Hawk Community Center.  The trend in Hawk revenues and expenditures are expected to continue in a net 
positive direction, as one-time rate adjustments have been made to reflect recent inflation and the results of a comparative study of fees in the 
Community Center and recreational facilities market.  Improvements in Grants were largely a one-time event.  These expectations have been built 
into the City’s FY 23-24 Budget. 

The City continues to pre-fund postretirement healthcare benefits as well as retirement benefits so that future taxpayers will not have to bear the 
burden of currently earned benefits. During the year, the City contributed 100 percent of the actuarial required contributions for the Employees’ 
Retirement System Pension and the Postretirement Healthcare Plan.  

Business-type Activities 

The City’s business-type activities are recorded in the Water and Sewer Fund. The City provides water distribution and sanitary sewer disposal 
services, which are supplied by the Great Lakes Water Authority and operated, maintained, and administered by the Oakland County Water Resources 
Commissioner. The utility system incurred a $0.1 million operating gain during fiscal year 2022-2023 compared to an operating loss of $1.2 million in 
the previous fiscal period. The change in net operating income is primarily the result of the positive differential in interest earnings in FY 2022-23, due 
to the aforementioned rising interest rate environment.  The Water and Sewer Fund maintained a net position of $144.3 million at year end, of which 
approximately $65.5 million (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the fund’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

The City’s Funds 

An analysis of the City’s major funds follows the government-wide financial statements. The fund financial statements provide detailed information on 
the most significant funds, not the City as a whole. In addition to state legislative requirements to maintain separate funds for Act 51 major and local 
road money, the City Council creates funds to administer certain dedicated dollars and demonstrate accountability to the citizens for special tax 
millages voted by the citizens and earmarked bond proceeds. The City’s major funds for fiscal year 2022-2023 include the General Fund, the Municipal 
Street Fund, the Major Roads Fund, the Local Roads Fund, and the Public Safety Millage Fund. Capital improvements in the major funds category 
primarily include major and local road reconstruction/resurfacing. 

General Fund: 

The FY 2022-2023 General Fund budget reflected a $2.0 million decrease in fund balance at year end.  Instead, the General Fund’s fund balance 
increased by $9.1 million or 19.2 percent, due primarily to the aforementioned $6.3 million improvement in interest income (which is expected to be a 
short-term phenomenon, as the Federal Reserve is expected to lower rates in the next year), an ongoing improvement of $3.1 million increase in 
charges for services at the Hawk Community Center, and a one-time $2.5 million increase in operating grants and contributions, for the reasons 
outlined in the Governmental Activities section above. 
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Major Special Revenue Funds: 

The Major Roads Fund fund balance increased by approximately $2.6 million or 19.8% percent. Total revenue and transfers in were $1.6 million more 
than the previous year, due to increases in Road Millage revenue (driven by a 6% improvement in the tax base, which was in turn driven by a broad 
improvement in housing values), and Act 51 Gas and Weight Tax revenue, which was driven by increased post-COVID traffic.  Total expenditures 
and transfers out were $3.0 million more than the previous year, due to increased construction activity, which is also impacted by the timing of 
construction activity in progress as of the year end date of June 30th, which can cause large and more-or-less random fluctuations in year-end 
construction expenditures. The Local Roads Fund fund balance decreased by approximately $0.1 million or 2.0 percent. Total revenue and other 
financing sources were lower than the previous year by $1.8 million, due to a one-time elimination of the typical $2.0 million transfer from the Major 
Roads Fund, to stabilize the Local Roads Fund balance, while total expenditures and transfers out were $3.2 million more than the previous year for 
local street construction projects, due to the timing of construction projects over year end. The Public Safety Millage Fund fund balance increased by 
$732,914, or 27.5 percent, due to the aforementioned increases in interest income.  The Municipal Street Fund, inaugurated in 2019 – 2020; finished 
with a year-end fund balance of $2.3 million, a $1.8 million increase, due to the aforementioned increases in interest income and better than expected 
State Gas and Weight tax revenue. 

Major Capital Improvement Funds: 

The Capital Improvement Fund increased its fund balance by $8.6 million, due primarily to the timing of ongoing capital projects vs. the initial budget 
as of the year end date of June 30, 2023. 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

The city administration and City Council continuously monitor and amend the budget to reflect unanticipated events that occur during the year.  

Differences between the final amended budget and year-end actual numbers can be briefly summarized as follows: 

• Actual Revenue of $78.2 million was $7.1 million higher than the $71.05 million Budgeted, due to the aforementioned improved interest earnings 
of $6.3 million.   

• Actual Expenditures of $61.1 million were $3.4 million less than the $64.5 million budgeted.  The approximate 5.6 percent decrease in total 
expenditures from the final amended budget are based primarily on positive staff vacancy variance due to normal retirement and departures. 

Capital Assets and Debt Administration 

On June 30, 2023, the City had approximately $353 million in total net capital assets ranging from land, buildings, equipment, technology equipment, 
and water and sewer lines. The value of infrastructure (roads, sidewalks, drains, water, and sewer) assets included in this report, net of depreciation 
and exclusive of construction on progress, is approximately $163.9 million (see Note 5 of the notes to financial statements for additional information). 

Debt reported in these financial statements is related to the construction of the above-mentioned infrastructure assets and community center and is 
reported as a liability on the statement of net position. The City’s total debt for governmental activities increased by $5.3 million (12.9 percent). The 
increase was the result of the issuance of $7.0 million of new General Obligation Debt for the construction of drains and other infrastructure projects, 
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net of the payoff of annual maturities on pre-existing debt (see Note 7 of the notes to financial statements- for additional information). The City 
maintained its AAA noninsured rating from Standard & Poor’s and Aa1 noninsured rating from Moody’s. 

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 

The fiscal year 2023-2024 tax rate decreased from 16.5693 to 16.5195 mills, due to the reduction of the Refuse Removal millage by 0.0491, due to a 
new Waste Removal contract that will save the City roughly $400,000 per year in expenditures. The City’s tax base increased by 5.8 percent in fiscal 
year 2022-23, and increased 6.5 percent for FY 2023-24, driven primarily by a nationwide trend in housing price inflation. Our state equalized value 
(SEV) is $5.7 billion in FY 2023-24, which is $1.484 billion more than our taxable value. This is significant because taxes are based on taxable value, 
not SEV. The tax base is well diversified with residential accounting for 69 percent, commercial 22 percent, industrial 3 percent, and personal property 
5 percent (figures do not add to 100% due to rounding). Tax base diversification is further demonstrated by the fact that the top 10 taxpayers in 2023-
24 combined account for approximately 7.5 percent of the tax roll. 
 
Taxes account for approximately 46 percent of the FY 2023-24 General Fund budgeted revenue, while state-shared revenue accounts for 
approximately 13 percent of the FY 2023-24 General Fund budgeted revenue. The FY 2023-24 General Fund adopted budget reflects the use of fund 
balance of $4.5 million, which includes a continued contribution to the Capital Improvement Program.  The FY 23-24 Budget represents the first of a 
5-year plan to reduce the annual budgeted fiscal imbalance from over $6 million in FY 2020-21 to roughly $2 million.  This will be accomplished by 
(a) a 2-year phase-in of the aforementioned inflationary increases in Special Services rates for Parks and Recreation services, as well as further 
increases in users/customers of our Parks and Recreation facilities and programs, as well as significant reductions/efficiencies in Special Services 
expenditures.  These increases in revenues and reductions/efficiencies in expenditures are based on the findings of the firm Sports Facilities 
Companies  (SFC), which works nationally to consult with and operate municipal and regional parks and recreation programming and facilities. 
 
On the expense side, the City operates with a relatively small labor force and low personnel costs, while maintaining all city services, with some 
inflationary cost increases. The City will continue to adjust expenditures through cost savings and efficiencies in FY 2023-24 to match revenue 
projections as they are revised.  
 
Contacting the City’s Management 

This financial report is intended to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and investors with a general overview of the City’s finances and to show 
the City’s accountability for the money it receives. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional 
financial information should be addressed to Thomas C. Skrobola, Finance Director/Treasurer, City of Farmington Hills, Michigan, 31555 West Eleven 
Mile Road, Farmington Hills, MI 48336. 
 



Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 77,582,674$     61,505,107$     139,087,781$   1,982,903$  

Investments 36,118,987       25,550              36,144,537       373,106       

Receivables:

Customers 916,764            9,618,373         10,535,137       -              

Due from other units of government 4,238,570         -                    4,238,570         -              

Internal balances 1,080,759         (1,080,759)        -                    -              

Inventories 999,490            -                    999,490            -              

Prepaid items 240,863            -                    240,863            -              

Deposits 306,416            -                    306,416            -              

Capital assets not being depreciated 79,044,034       13,676,691       92,720,725       -              

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 162,732,958     97,985,514       260,718,472     -              

Net OPEB asset 7,642,629         -                    7,642,629         -              

Total assets 370,904,144     181,730,476     552,634,620     2,356,009    

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred charges on bond refunding 74,690              -                    74,690              -              

Deferred amount relating to net pension liability 10,043,330       -                    10,043,330       -              

Deferred amount relating to net OPEB asset 4,113,389         -                    4,113,389         -              

Total deferred outflows of resources 14,231,409       -                    14,231,409       -              

City of Farmington Hills
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2023

Primary Government

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

City of Farmington Hills
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2023

Primary Government

Liabilities

Accounts payable 6,846,517$       4,088,939$       10,935,456$     -$            

Accrued and other liabilities 9,929,823         453,804            10,383,627       -              

Due to other units of government 154,799            -                    154,799            -              

Unearned revenue 815,490            -                    815,490            -              

Noncurrent liabilities due within one year:

Current portion of compensated absences 2,627,678         -                    2,627,678         -              

Debt due within one year 2,899,651         1,537,525         4,437,176         -              

Claims due within one year 345,000            -                    345,000            -              

Noncurrent liabilities due in more than one year:

Noncurrent portion of compensated absences 3,715,034         -                    3,715,034         -              

Debt due in more than one year 36,792,124       31,351,438       68,143,562       -              

Net pension liability 63,709,201       -                    63,709,201       -              

Total liabilities 127,835,317     37,431,706       165,267,023     -              

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred amount relating to net OPEB asset 4,639,805         -                    4,639,805         -              

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 202,562,652     78,773,242       281,335,894     -              

Restricted for: 

Roads 24,705,373       -                    24,705,373       -              

Police and fire operations 4,965,523         -                    4,965,523         -              

Parks and recreation 815,663            -                    815,663            -              

OPEB asset 7,116,213         -                    7,116,213         -              

Construction code 522,642            -                    522,642            -              

Unrestricted 11,972,365       65,525,528       77,497,893       2,356,009    

Total net position 252,660,431$   144,298,770$   396,959,201$   2,356,009$  

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Operating Capital

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type Component

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total Units

Functions/Programs

Primary government

Governmental activities:

General government 17,441,760$     7,114,125$       1,612,159$       -$                  (8,715,476)$      -$                  (8,715,476)$      -$                  

Public safety 41,650,599       3,007,330         4,678,735         -                    (33,964,534)      -                    (33,964,534)      -                    

Public works 27,687,683       4,038,117         11,621,848       -                    (12,027,718)      -                    (12,027,718)      -                    

Health and welfare 359,628            -                    304,381            -                    (55,247)             -                    (55,247)             -                    

Community and economic development 2,754,805         -                    1,051,148         -                    (1,703,657)        -                    (1,703,657)        -                    

Recreation and culture 15,919,670       7,936,003         781,040            -                    (7,202,627)        -                    (7,202,627)        -                    

Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt 687,530            -                    -                    -                    (687,530)           -                    (687,530)           -                    

Total governmental activities 106,501,675     22,095,575       20,049,311       -                    (64,356,789)      -                    (64,356,789)      -                    

Business-type activities - Water and Sewer 38,412,585       34,313,232       -                    1,467,055         -                    (2,632,298)        (2,632,298)        -                    

Total primary government 144,914,260$   56,408,807$     20,049,311$     1,467,055$       (64,356,789)      (2,632,298)        (66,989,087)      -                    

Component units

  Economic Development Corporation 17$                   -$                  -$                  -$                  -                    -                    -                    (17)                    

  Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 245,043            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    (245,043)           

  Corridor Improvement Authority 11,351              -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    (11,351)             

Total component units 256,411$          -$                  -$                  -$                  -                    -                    -                    (256,411)           

General revenues

Property taxes 67,592,794       -                    67,592,794       751,209            

State-shared revenue 11,056,305       -                    11,056,305       -                    

Unrestricted investment earnings 6,333,121         2,709,248         9,042,369         158,403            

Gain on sale of capital assets 140,958            -                    140,958            -                    

Miscellaneous 294,773            -                    294,773            -                    

Total general revenues 85,417,951       2,709,248         88,127,199       909,612            

Change in net position 21,061,162       76,950              21,138,112       653,201            

Net position - beginning of year 231,599,269     144,221,820     375,821,089     1,702,808         

Net position - end of year 252,660,431$   144,298,770$   396,959,201$   2,356,009$       

Program Revenues Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

City of Farmington Hills

Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Net (Expense) Revenue and 

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Municipal Capital Nonmajor Total

Street Major Roads Local Roads Public Safety Improvement Governmental Governmental
General Fund Fund Fund Millage Fund Fund Funds Funds

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 38,231,768$     2,304,679$       9,138,371$       4,022,386$       9,825,361$       12,224,540$     1,835,569$       77,582,674$     

Investments 15,892,199       -                    6,333,403         4,934,209         3,103,915         4,614,276         1,240,985         36,118,987       

Receivables:

Other receivables 907,171            -                    -                    -                    -                    9,418                175                   916,764            

Due from other units of government 2,181,020         -                    1,411,313         491,136            -                    -                    155,101            4,238,570         

Due from other funds 11,842,036       -                    34,129              252                   -                    -                    457,252            12,333,669       

Prepaid items 240,863            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    240,863            

Deposits 306,416            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    306,416            

Total assets 69,601,473$     2,304,679$       16,917,216$     9,447,983$       12,929,276$     16,848,234$     3,689,082$       131,737,943$   

City of Farmington Hills
Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet
June 30, 2023

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Municipal Capital Nonmajor Total

Street Major Roads Local Roads Public Safety Improvement Governmental Governmental
General Fund Fund Fund Millage Fund Fund Funds Funds

City of Farmington Hills
Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet
June 30, 2023

Liabilities

Accounts payable 1,984,863$       -$                  1,135,307$       2,364,597$       -$                  813,231$          548,519$          6,846,517$       

Accrued and other liabilities 9,773,715         -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    9,773,715         

Due to other funds 444,270            -                    -                    464,601            9,536,054         21,485              786,500            11,252,910       

Unearned revenue 815,490            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    815,490            

Total liabilities 13,018,338       -                    1,135,307         2,829,198         9,536,054         834,716            1,335,019         28,688,632       

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unavailable - opioid 289,283            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    289,283            

Fund Balances

Non-spendable:

Prepaid items 240,863            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    240,863            

Restricted for:

Roads -                    2,304,679         15,781,909       6,618,785         -                    -                    -                    24,705,373       

Police and fire 95,409              -                    -                    -                    3,393,222         -                    1,187,609         4,676,240         

Parks and recreation -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    815,663            815,663            

Capital projects -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    402,745            -                    402,745            

Construction code 522,642            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    522,642            

Assigned:

Capital projects -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    15,610,773       210,138            15,820,911       

Debt service -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    140,653            140,653            

Future expenditures 4,490,061         -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    4,490,061         

Unassigned 50,944,877       -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    50,944,877       

Total fund balances 56,293,852       2,304,679         15,781,909       6,618,785         3,393,222         16,013,518       2,354,063         102,760,028     

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of

resources and fund balances 69,601,473$     2,304,679$       16,917,216$     9,447,983$       12,929,276$     16,848,234$     3,689,082$       131,737,943$   

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Total fund balances for governmental funds 102,760,028$   

Total net position for governmental activities in the statement of net position is different because:

Inventories used in governmental activities are reported on the purchase method in the funds. 999,490            

Capital assets net of accumulated depreciation used in governmental activities are not financial resources and 

therefore are not reported in the funds. 162,732,958     

Capital assets not being depreciated used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore 

are not reported in the funds. 79,044,034       

Certain receivables are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore are deferred in the funds. 289,283            

Deferred charges on bond refundings are amortized over the related bond terms and are not reported in the funds. 74,690              

 Net OPEB asset is not reported in the funds. 7,642,629         

Certain liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and are not reported in the funds.

 Accrued interest (156,108)           

 Compensated absences (6,342,712)        

 Claims and judgments (345,000)           

Deferred outflows (inflows) of resources.

  Deferred inflows of resources resulting from net OPEB asset (4,639,805)        

  Deferred outflows of resources resulting from net pension liability 10,043,330       

  Deferred outflows of resources resulting from net OPEB asset 4,113,389         

Long-term liabilities applicable to governmental activities are not due and payable in the current period and, accordingly,

are not reported as fund liabilities. 

 Bonds and notes payable (39,691,775)      

 Net pension liability (63,709,201)      

Amounts due to Oakland County for drain projects are not included as a liability in the governmental funds. (154,799)           

Net position of governmental activities 252,660,431$   

City of Farmington Hills

Reconciliation of Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to Net Position of Governmental Activities

June 30, 2023

Governmental Funds

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Municipal Capital Nonmajor Total

Street Major Roads Local Roads Public Safety Improvement Governmental Governmental
General Fund Fund Fund Millage Fund Fund Funds Funds

Revenues

Property taxes 36,241,571$     17,605,075$     -$                  -$                  11,955,725$     14,208$              1,790,423$       67,607,002$     

Licenses and permits 2,151,403         -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      -                    2,151,403         

Federal grants 4,257,065         -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      1,679,389         5,936,454         

State and other sources 11,980,134       556,917            8,696,516         2,894,156         137,290            40,599                583,714            24,889,326       

Local contributions -                    -                    6,643                -                    -                    -                      5,424                12,067              

Charges for services 16,504,638       -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      -                    16,504,638       

Fines and forfeitures 1,531,952         -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      -                    1,531,952         

Investment income 3,317,292         384,114            836,727            510,463            564,484            576,590              148,831            6,338,501         

Other revenue:  

Other grants and contributions 58,274              -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      -                    58,274              

Equipment rental 1,623,959         -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      -                    1,623,959         

Other miscellaneous income 526,599            -                    290                   -                    -                    6,426                  210,455            743,770            

Total revenues 78,192,887       18,546,106       9,540,176         3,404,619         12,657,499       637,823              4,418,236         127,397,346     

City of Farmington Hills
Governmental Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Municipal Capital Nonmajor Total

Street Major Roads Local Roads Public Safety Improvement Governmental Governmental
General Fund Fund Fund Millage Fund Fund Funds Funds

City of Farmington Hills
Governmental Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Expenditures

Current:

General government 13,882,188$     -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                    -$                  13,882,188$     

Public safety 23,620,757       -                    -                    -                    11,924,585       -                      121,140            35,666,482       

Public works 8,069,798         -                    11,903,137       14,431,586       -                    -                      -                    34,404,521       

Health and welfare -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      360,687            360,687            

Community and economic development 1,699,740         -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      1,051,151         2,750,891         

Recreation and culture 13,284,256       -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      635,330            13,919,586       

Capital outlay 331,250            -                    -                    -                    -                    6,597,712           815,814            7,744,776         

Debt service 191,775            -                    -                    887,088            -                    -                      2,217,460         3,296,323         

Total expenditures 61,079,764       -                    11,903,137       15,318,674       11,924,585       6,597,712           5,201,582         112,025,454     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures 17,113,123       18,546,106       (2,362,961)        (11,914,055)      732,914            (5,959,889)          (783,346)           15,371,892       

Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers in 1,307,850         -                    4,969,577         11,781,926       -                    7,600,000           2,249,214         27,908,567       

Transfers out (9,849,214)        (16,751,503)      -                    -                    -                    -                      (1,307,850)        (27,908,567)      

Issuance of debt 331,250            -                    -                    -                    -                    7,000,457           -                    7,331,707         

Sale of capital assets 176,682            -                    -                    -                    -                    -                      -                    176,682            

Total other financing sources and uses (8,033,432)        (16,751,503)      4,969,577         11,781,926       -                    14,600,457         941,364            7,508,389         

Net change in fund balance 9,079,691         1,794,603         2,606,616         (132,129)           732,914            8,640,568           158,018            22,880,281       

Fund balance - beginning of year 47,214,161       510,076            13,175,293       6,750,914         2,660,308         7,372,950           2,196,045         79,879,747       

Fund balance - end of year 56,293,852$     2,304,679$       15,781,909$     6,618,785$       3,393,222$       16,013,518$       2,354,063$       102,760,028$   

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 22,880,281$   

Governmental funds report inventory purchases as expenditures. However in the statement of activities purchases

are recognized as inventory and expensed when consumed. 185,323                

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement of activities the cost of those 

assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.   

Depreciation and amortization expense (12,823,103)          

Capital outlay 22,133,812           

Sale of capital assets (net book value) (35,724)                 

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as revenue

in the funds.  24,533                  

Expenses are recorded when incurred in the statement of activities.

 Accrued interest 70,295                  

 Compensated absences (347,223)               

 Claims and judgments (42,000)                 

The statement of net position reports the net pension liability and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows

related to the net pension liability and pension expense.  However, the amount recorded on the governmental funds

 equals actual pension contributions. 

 Net change in net pension liability (6,870,075)            

 Net change in the deferred inflow of resources related to the net pension liability 484,973                

 Net change in the deferred outflow of resources related to the net pension liability (1,335,414)            

The statement of net position reports the net OPEB asset and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows

related to the net OPEB asset and pension expense.  However, the amount recorded on the governmental funds

 equals actual OPEB contributions. 

 Net change in net OPEB asset 2,008,672             

 Net change in the deferred inflow of resources related to the net OPEB asset (143,791)               

 Net change in the deferred outflow of resources related to the net OPEB asset (336,188)               

Bond proceeds are reported as financing sources in the governmental funds and thus contribute to the change in

fund balance.  In the statement of net position, however, issuing debt increases long-term liabilities and does not

affect the statement of activities.  Similarly, repayment of principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds 

but reduces the liability in the statement of net position. 

Debt issued (7,331,707)            

Repayments of long-term debt 2,561,185             

Amortization deferred outflows related to debt refundings and premiums (22,687)                 

Change in net position of governmental activities 21,061,162$         

 Total change in net position reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities is different because: 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

City of Farmington Hills
Governmental Funds

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Water and Sewer

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 61,505,107$              

Investments 25,550                       

Receivables 9,618,373                  

Total current assets 71,149,030                

Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets not being depreciated 13,676,691                

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 97,985,514                

Total noncurrent assets 111,662,205              

Total assets 182,811,235              

Liabilities

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 4,088,939                  

Accrued and other liabilities 453,804                     

Due to other funds 1,080,759                  

Current portion of noncurrent liabilities 1,537,525                  

Total current liabilities 7,161,027                  

Long-term debt net of current portion 31,351,438                

Total liabilities 38,512,465                

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 78,773,242                

Unrestricted 65,525,528                

Total net position 144,298,770$            

Enterprise Fund

City of Farmington Hills

Proprietary Funds

Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2023

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Water and Sewer

Operating revenue

Sale of water 16,747,122$               

Sewage disposal charges 15,158,438                 

Other operating revenue 4,725                          

Total operating revenue 31,910,285                 

Operating expenses

Cost of water 9,983,803                   

Cost of sewage treatment 12,138,420                 

Other operating and maintenance costs 4,369,980                   

Billing and administrative costs 6,946,832                   

Depreciation 4,592,534                   

Total operating expenses 38,031,569                 

Operating loss (6,121,284)                  

Nonoperating revenue (expenses)

Investment income 2,709,248                   

Interest expense (381,016)                     

Debt service charge 2,402,947                   

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 4,731,179                   

Loss before capital contributions (1,390,105)                  

Tap-in fees 420,055                      

Lines donated by developers 1,047,000                   

Change in net position 76,950                        

Net position - beginning of year 144,221,820               

Net position - end of year 144,298,770$             

Enterprise Fund

City of Farmington Hills

Proprietary Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Water and Sewer

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 31,034,682$            

Receipts from other funds 607,522                   

Payments to suppliers (32,956,895)             

Net cash used by operating activities (1,314,691)               

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities

Tap-in fees and other 420,055                   

Purchases/construction of capital assets (7,877,110)               

Principal and interest paid on long-term debt (1,841,763)               

Debt service charge 2,402,947                

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities (6,895,871)               

Cash flows from investing activities

Sale of investments 36,231,074              

Interest received 2,709,248                

Net cash provided by investing activities 38,940,322              

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 30,729,760              

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 30,775,347              

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 61,505,107$            

Enterprise Fund

City of Farmington Hills

Proprietary Funds

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Water and Sewer

Enterprise Fund

City of Farmington Hills

Proprietary Funds

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash provided by operating activities

Operating loss (6,121,284)$             

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash

from operating activities:

Depreciation expense 4,592,534                

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Receivables (875,603)                  

Accounts payable 482,140                   

Due to other funds 607,522                   

Net cash used by operating activities (1,314,691)$             

 

Noncash transactions 

Lines donated by developers 1,047,000$              

Construction in progesss and long-term debt 8,091,300                

9,138,300$              

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Custodial
Fund

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 74,068$            

Receivables 40                     

Total assets 74,108              

Liabilities

Other liabilities 74,108              

Net Position -$                  

City of Farmington Hills
Fiduciary Funds

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
June 30, 2023

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Custodial Fund

Additions

Property tax collections for other governments 122,910,377$   

Deductions

Payments of property tax to other governments 122,910,377     

Change in net position -                    

Net position - beginning of year -                    

Net position - end of year -$                  

City of Farmington Hills
Fiduciary Funds

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Economic Brownfield Corridor

Development Redevelopment Improvement
Corporation Authority Authority Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 77$                   1,713,214$       269,612$          1,982,903$       

Investments 583                   -                    372,523            373,106            

Total assets 660                   1,713,214         642,135            2,356,009         

Net Position

Unrestricted 660$                 1,713,214$       642,135$          2,356,009$       

City of Farmington Hills

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2023

Component Units

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Operating Capital Economic Brownfield Corridor

Charges for Grants and Grants and Development Redevelopment Improvement

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Corporation Authority Authority Total

Functions/Programs

Economic Development

Corporation 17$              -$            -$              -$             (17)$                 -$                 -$               (17)$               

Brownfield Redevelopment

Authority 245,043       -              -                -               -                   (245,043)          -                 (245,043)        

Corridor Improvement Authority 11,351         -              -                -               -                   -                   (11,351)          (11,351)          

Total component units 256,411$     -$            -$              -$             (17)                   (245,043)          (11,351)          (256,411)        

General revenues

Property taxes -                   556,202           195,007         751,209         

Unrestricted investment earnings 49                    141,369           16,985           158,403         

49                    697,571           211,992         909,612         

Change in net position 32                    452,528           200,641         653,201         

Net position - beginning of year 628                  1,260,686        441,494         1,702,808      

Net position - end of year 660$                1,713,214$      642,135$       2,356,009$    

Total general revenues

Component Units

City of Farmington Hills

Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Net (Expense) Revenue and 

Program Revenues Changes in Net Position

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

4 - 17



City of Farmington Hills 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

  June 30, 2023  

 

4 - 18 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Reporting entity 
The City of Farmington Hills (the “City”) is governed by an elected 
seven-member Council. The accompanying financial statements 
present the government and its component units, entities for which the 
government is considered to be financially accountable.  Although 
blended component units are legal separate entities, in substance, they 
are part of the government’s operations. Each discretely presented 
component unit is reported in a separate column in the government-
wide financial statements to emphasize that it is legally separate from 
the government (see discussion below for description). 
 
Blended Component Units – The Farmington Hills Building Authority 
(the "Authority") is governed by a board appointed by the City Council. 
Although it is legally separate from the City, the Authority is reported as 
if it were part of the primary government because its sole purpose is to 
finance and construct the City's public buildings. There was no activity 
during the current year.  
 
Discretely Presented Component Units – The following component 
units are reported within the component units column in the financial 
statements. They are reported in a separate column in the government-
wide financial statements to emphasize that they are legally separate 
from the City. The component units do not issue separate financial 
statements. However, the City's basic financial statements include the 
statement of net position and the activities of the component units. For 
all component units, the fund-based statements are the same as the 
government-wide level because there are no differences resulting from 
the different basis of accounting. Therefore, fund-based statements are 
not presented.  
 
Economic Development Corporation – The Economic Development 
Corporation (the "EDC") was created to encourage and assist 
commercial and industrial enterprises to locate and expand facilities 
and services to the City and its residents. The EDC has the potential 
for financial benefit or burden to the City. The EDC's governing body, 

which consists of nine individuals, is appointed by the City Council. In 
certain situations, members of the EDC board of directors may be 
removed by a majority vote of the City Council. 

 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority – The Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority (the "BRA") was created to facilitate the implementation of 
plans for the identification, treatment, and revitalization of 
environmentally distressed areas within the City designated as 
Brownfield Redevelopment Zones. The BRA has the potential for 
financial benefit or burden to the City. The BRA's governing board of 
directors, consisting of nine members, is appointed by the mayor 
subject to approval by the City Council. In certain situations, members 
of the BRA board of directors may be removed by formal action of the 
City Council. 

 
Corridor Improvement Authority – The Corridor Improvement Authority 
(the "CIA") was established to help correct and prevent deterioration in 
commercial corridor business districts, encourage historical 
preservation, and promote the economic growth of the districts. The 
CIA has the potential for financial benefit or burden to the City. The 
CIA's governing body, consisting of seven members, is appointed by 
the mayor, subject to approval by the City Council. In certain situations, 
members of the CIA board of directors may be removed by formal 
action of the City Council. 

 
The City is party to the following jointly governed organizations:  
 
The City participates in the Michigan 47th District Court Administration 
Fund with the City of Farmington, Michigan. The City provides 
approximately 84.70 percent of the funding for the Michigan 47th 
District Court Administration Fund. 

 
In addition, the City is a member of the Resource Recovery and 
Recycling Authority of Southwest Oakland County (the “Recycling 
Authority”). The Recycling Authority is incorporated by the cities of 
Farmington, Farmington Hills, Novi, South Lyon, Southfield, Walled 
Lake, and Wixom, Michigan and the Charter Township of Lyon. The 



City of Farmington Hills 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

  June 30, 2023  

 

4 - 19 

joint venture receives its operating revenue from member contributions 
and miscellaneous income. 

 
The City is unaware of any circumstances that would cause an 
additional benefit or burden to the participating governments of any of 
the above joint ventures in the near future. 

 
Complete financial statements for the 47th District Court Administration 
Fund and Resource Recovery and Recycling Authority of Southwest 
Oakland County can be obtained from the administrative offices at 
31555 W. 11 Mile Road, Farmington Hills, MI 48336. 
 
Government-wide and fund financial statements 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net 
position and the statement of activities) report information on all the 
nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component 
units. Government activities, which normally are supported by taxes 
and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from 
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and 
charges for support.  Likewise, the primary government is reported 
separately from certain legally separate component units for which the 
primary government is financially accountable. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct 
expenses of a given function or segments are offset by program 
revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to 
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from 
goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment 
and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  
Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues 
are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, 
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are 
excluded from the government-wide financial statements.  Major 

individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are 
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
 
Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement 
presentation 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the 
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial 
statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related 
cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for 
which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider 
have been met. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current 
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis 
of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available 
when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the 
government considers revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.  Expenditures 
generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as 
expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and 
judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. For compensated 
absences related to employees that have been terminated by year-end, 
an accrual is made in the General Fund. 
 
Property taxes, sales taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest 
associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be 
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the 
current fiscal period. Only the portion of special assessments 
receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to be 
susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period.  All other 
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revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only 
when cash is received by the City. 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

General Fund – The General Fund is the City’s primary operating 
fund.  It accounts for all financial resources used to provide general 
government services, except those required to be accounted for in 
another fund. 
 
Municipal Street Fund – The Municipal Street Fund accounts for 
revenues provided by a dedicated millage adopted by the electorate 
of the City that is restricted for the rehabilitation or construction of 
municipal streets. 
 
Major Roads Fund – The Major Roads Fund accounts for the 
resources of state gas and weight tax revenue that is restricted for 
use on major streets. The fund is operated under the provisions of 
Michigan's Act 51 of the Public Acts of 1951, as amended.  
 
Local Roads Fund – The Local Roads Fund accounts for the 
resources of state gas and weight tax revenue that is restricted for 
use on local streets. The fund is operated under the provisions of 
Michigan's Act 51 of the Public Acts of 1951, as amended.  
 
Public Safety Millage Fund – The Public Safety Millage Fund 
accounts for police and fire department staffing and equipment 
needs of the City. Financing is provided by a dedicated millage 
adopted by the electorate of the City. 
 
Capital Improvement Fund – This find accounts for the revenues 
and expenditures related to the acquisition, development, 
improvement, and/or maintenance of capital assets. 

 

The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 
 

Water and Sewer Fund – The Water and Sewer Fund accounts for 
the activity of the water distribution and sewage collection systems 
administered by Oakland County, Michigan. 
 

Additionally, the government reports the following fiduciary funds: 
 

Custodial Fund – The custodial fund accounts for property tax and other 
deposits collected on behalf of other units and individuals.  
 
During the course of operations, the City has activity between funds for 
various purposes. Any residual balances outstanding at year-end are 
reported as due from/to other funds and advances to/from other funds. 
While these balances are reported in fund financial statements, certain 
eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-wide 
financial statements. Balances between the funds included in 
governmental activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is 
included as internal balances in the governmental activities column. 
Similarly, balances between the funds included in business-type 
activities (i.e., the enterprise funds) are eliminated so that only the net 
amount is included as internal balances in the business-type activities 
column. 
 
Furthermore, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers 
of resources between funds. In fund financial statements, these 
amounts are reported at gross amounts as transfers in/out. While 
reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in 
the preparation of the government-wide financial statements. Transfers 
between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminated 
so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the governmental 
activities column. Similarly, balances between the funds included in 
business-type activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is 
included as transfers in the business-type activities column. 
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Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to 
customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) 
operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and 
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated 
resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program 
revenues.  Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from 
nonoperating items.  Operating revenues and expenses generally 
result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The 
principal operating revenues of the sewer and water fund are charges 
to customers for sales and services.  The government also recognizes 
as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the 
cost of connecting new customers to the system.  Operating expenses 
for sewer and water funds include the cost of sales and services, 
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
Assets, liabilities, and net position or equity 
Cash and cash equivalents – Cash and cash equivalents include cash 
on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with a maturity 
of three months or less when acquired. 
 
Investments – Investments are reported at fair value or estimated fair 
value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates 
fair value. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are 
valued at the last reported sales price at current exchange rates. 
Investments that do not have an established market value are reported 
at estimated fair value, as determined by management. 
 
Receivables and payables – In general, outstanding balances between 
funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.”  Activity between funds 
that is representative of a lending/borrowing arrangement outstanding 
at the end of the fiscal year is referred to as “advances to/from other 
funds.”  Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental 

activities and the business-type activities are reported in the 
government-wide financial statements as “internal balances.” 
 
All trade and property tax receivables are shown as net of allowance 
for uncollectible amounts.  The City considers all accounts receivable 
to be fully collectible; accordingly, no allowance for uncollectible 
amounts is recorded.  
  
Property tax revenue – Property taxes are levied on each July 1 on the 
taxable valuation of property as of the preceding December 31. The 
related property taxes are billed on July 1 and become a lien at that 
time. These taxes are payable at the City until August 31 without 
penalty. Taxes are considered delinquent on March 1 of the following 
year, at which time penalties and interest are assessed. 
 
The City's 2022 property tax revenue was levied and collectible on July 
1, 2022 and is recognized as revenue in the year ended June 30, 2023 
when the proceeds of the levy are budgeted and available for the 
financing of operations. 
 
The 2022 final amended taxable valuation of the City totaled 
$3,969,512,110 on which ad valorem taxes levied consisted of 7.8510 
mills for operating purposes, 0.4546 mills for parks and recreation, 
0.7333 mills for refuse, 0.0125 mills for economic development, 4.4790 
for roads, and 3.0389 mills for public safety. This resulted in 
approximately $30,903,000 for operations, $1,790,000 for parks and 
recreation, $2,885,000 for refuse, $49,000 for economic development, 
$17,598,000 for roads, and $11,951,000 for public safety. These 
amounts are recognized in the respective General Fund, special 
revenue fund, and debt service fund financial statements as tax 
revenue, subsequent to Brownfield captures. 
 
Inventories and prepaid items – Inventories are valued at cost, on a 
first-in, first-out basis. Inventories are recorded as expenditures when 
purchased. Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to 
future fiscal years and are recorded as prepaid items in both 
government-wide and fund financial statements. 
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Capital assets – Capital assets, which include property, plant, 
equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, 
water and sewer distribution systems, and similar items), are reported 
in the applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the 
government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by 
the City as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $5,000 and 
an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded 
at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or 
constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated 
acquisition value at the date of donation. The reported value excludes 
normal maintenance and repairs which are essentially amounts spent 
in relation to capital assets that do not increase the capacity or 
efficiency of the item or extend its useful life beyond the original 
estimate.   
 
Infrastructure, buildings, equipment, and vehicles are depreciated 
using the straight-line method over the following useful lives: 
 

Capital Asset Class Useful Life

Roads and sidewalks 20 to 50 years

Water and sewer distribution systems 40 to 50 years

Drains 50 years

Land improvements 15 to 30 years

Buildings and building improvements 30 to 50 years

Vehicles 3 to 5 years

Machinery and equipment 7 to 20 years

Office equipment and furniture 5 to 7 years  
 

Deferred outflows of resources – A deferred outflow of resources is a 
consumption of net assets by the government that is applicable to a 
future reporting period. Changes in assumptions, experience 
differences, and changes in proportionate share relating to the net 
pension liability or net OPEB asset are deferred and amortized over the 
expected remaining services lives of the employees and retirees in the 
plan.  Deferred amounts on bond refundings are included in the 

government-wide financial statements. The amounts represent the 
difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount 
of the prior debt.  
 
Compensated absences – It is the City's policy to permit employees to 
accumulate earned but unused sick and vacation pay benefits. The 
government-wide and proprietary statements accrue all vacation, sick, 
and personal pay as it is earned. A liability for these amounts is reported 
in governmental funds only for employee terminations as of year-end. 
All other accrued compensated absences are reported in the 
government-wide financial statements. In prior years, the General Fund 
has been used to liquidate the liability for compensated absences. 
 
Long-term obligations – In the government-wide financial statements 
and the proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-
term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in 
the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or 
proprietary fund-type statement of net position. Bond premiums and 
discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using 
the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the 
applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are 
expensed at the time they are incurred. In the fund financial statements, 
governmental fund types recognize bond issuances as an "other 
financing source," as well as bond premiums and discounts. Long-term 
obligations are typically liquidated by the applicable debt service funds, 
the Local Roads Fund, and the Water and Sewer Fund. 
 
Pensions – The City offers pension benefits to retirees. The City 
records a net pension liability for the difference between the total 
pension liability calculated by the actuary and the pension plan’s 
fiduciary net position. For the purpose of measuring the net pension 
liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about 
the fiduciary net position of the pension plan and additions 
to/deductions from the pension plan’s fiduciary net position have been 
determined on the same basis as they are reported by the pension plan. 
For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
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contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance 
with the benefit terms. The contributions made to the pensions to fund 
the liability will be made by the fund from which the employee's salary 
and wage was earned. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Other post employment benefits (OPEB) – The City offers retiree 
healthcare benefits to retirees. The City records a net OPEB asset or 
liability for the difference between the total OPEB liability calculated by 
the actuary and the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position. For the purpose 
of measuring the net OPEB asset or liability, deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and 
OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
OPEB plan and additions to/deductions from the OPEB plan’s fiduciary 
net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
reported by the OPEB plan. For this purpose, benefit payments 
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due 
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. The contributions to 
fund the liability will be made by the fund which the employee’s salary 
and wage was earned. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Deferred inflows of resources – A deferred inflow of resources is an 
acquisition of net assets by the government that is applicable to a future 
reporting period. The City reports deferred inflows of resources as a 
result of pension and OPEB earnings. This amount is the result of a 
difference between what the plans expected to earn from plan 
investments and what is actually earned. This amount will be amortized 
over the next four years and included in pension and OPEB expense.  
Changes in assumptions, experience differences, and changes in 
proportionate share relating to the net pension and OPEB liability or 
asset are deferred and amortized over the expected remaining services 
lives of the employees and retirees in the plan.  For governmental funds 
this includes unavailable revenue in connection with receivables for 
revenues that are not considered available to liquidate liabilities of the 
current period.   
 
Net position flow assumption – The City will sometimes fund outlays for 
a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond or grant 

proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts 
to report as restricted net position and unrestricted net position in the 
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow 
assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are 
considered to be applied. It is the City’s policy to consider restricted net 
position to have been depleted before unrestricted net position is 
applied. 
 
Fund balance flow assumption – The City will sometimes fund outlays 
for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted resources 
(the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance). In 
order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted, committed, 
assigned, and unassigned fund balance in the governmental fund 
financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order 
in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the City’s 
policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted before 
using any of the components of unrestricted fund balance. 
Furthermore, when the components of unrestricted fund balance can 
be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, 
followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is applied 
last. 
 
Fund balance policies – Fund balance of governmental funds is 
reported in various categories based on the nature of any limitations 
requiring the use of resources for specific purposes. The City itself can 
establish limitations on the use of resources through either a 
commitment (committed fund balance) or an assignment (assigned 
fund balance). 
 
The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can 
be used only for the specific purposes determined by a formal action of 
the City’s highest level of decision-making authority. The City Council 
is the highest level of decision-making authority for the City that can, by 
adoption of a resolution prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund 
balance. Once adopted, the limitation imposed by the resolution 
remains in place until a similar action is taken (the adoption of another 
resolution) to remove or revise the limitation. 
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Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be 
used by the government for specific purposes, but do not meet the 
criteria to be classified as committed. The City Council has, by 
resolution, authorized the finance director and the city manager to 
assign fund balance. The City Council may also assign fund balance 
as it does when appropriating fund balance to cover a gap between 
estimated revenue and appropriations in the subsequent year’s 
appropriated budget. Unlike commitments, assignments generally only 
exist temporarily. In other words, an additional action does not normally 
have to be taken for the removal of an assignment. Conversely, as 
discussed above, an additional action is essential to either remove or 
revise a commitment. 
 
Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Adoption of New Accounting Standards 
Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements, is based on the standards established in Statement No. 
87 Leases. This statement (1) defines a SBITA as a contract that 
conveys control of the right to use a SBITA vendor’s IT software, alone 
or in combination with tangible capital assets, as specified in the 
contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like 
transaction (2) requires governments with SBITAs to recognize a right-
to-use subscription asset, an intangible asset, and a corresponding 
subscription liability, and (3) provides guidance related to outlays other 
than subscription payments, including implementation costs, and 
requirements for note disclosures related to a SBITA. 
 

Upcoming Accounting and Reporting Changes 
Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, 

improves the clarity of the accounting and financial reporting 

requirements for accounting changes and error corrections, which will 

result in greater consistency in application in practice. More 

understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent and comparable 

information will be provided to financial statement users for making 

decisions or assessing accountability. Additionally, the display and note 

disclosure requirements will result in more consistent, decision useful, 

understandable and comprehensive information for users about 

accounting changes and error corrections. This statement is effective 

for the year ending June 30, 2024. 

Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, updates the recognition 

and measurement guidance for compensated absences. That objective 

is achieved by aligning the recognition and measurement guidance 

under a unified model and by amending certain previously required 

disclosures. This statement is effective for the year ending June 30, 

2025. 

The City is evaluating the impact that the above GASB Statements will 
have on its financial reporting. 

Note 2 - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

Budgetary information 
The budget is constructed in compliance with the State Uniform 
Accounting Budgetary Act of 1968 (Public Act 22 of 1968), as amended, 
which categorizes elements of the accounting and budget system into 
Funds, Departments or categories, Reserves and Expenditures.  The 
City budget is presented to the City Council on an activity, department, 
and fund-level basis.  The City Council adopts the Budget Resolution 
based on fund-level appropriation centers.  The City Manager is 
authorized by Budget Resolution to make budgetary transfers within the 
appropriation centers established through the budget.  However, all 
increases of and transfers between appropriation centers may be made 
only by further action by the City Council. 
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City Council may make additional fund-level appropriations during the 
fiscal year for unanticipated expenditures required by the City, but such 
additional appropriations shall not exceed the amount of actual and/or 
anticipated revenue and available fund balance as estimated in the 
budget, unless the appropriations are necessary to relieve an 
emergency endangering the public health, safety or welfare.  The 
Council may also reappropriate funds between appropriation 
centers.  Council is apprised of the budget status through quarterly 
reports prepared by the Finance Department. 
 
Encumbrances represent commitments related to unperformed 
contracts (or purchase orders) for goods or services.  Encumbrances 
are not included as expenditures or liabilities; the amount of 
encumbrances outstanding at June 30, 2023 for all funds is not 
significant.  General Fund encumbrances represent outstanding at the 
fiscal year end will not be charged to the current year budget but may 
be assigned from fund balance and automatically re-appropriated in the 
new budget year and when paid charged to the new fiscal year. The 
new fiscal year budget may need to be amended to support the re-
appropriated encumbrances, if budget funds were not sufficiently 
available to be carried forward with the encumbrances.   

 
The budget has been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  The 
budget information for revenue and expenditures presented for the 
General Fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds, and capital 
projects funds is a summarization of the actual adopted budget.  A 
comparison of the adopted budget with the actual revenue and 
expenditures for the year is presented as required supplementary 
information.  Comparison schedules are presented on the same basis 
of accounting used in preparing the adopted budget.  Individual 
amendments were not material in relation to the original appropriations 
that were adopted.  Budget appropriations lapse at year-end. 
 

Excess of expenditures over appropriations 
During the year, the City incurred expenditures that were in excess of 
the amounts budgeted for various purposes as described below: 
 

Budget

Appropriations Actual Variance

General Fund

General government:

Central services 1,214,155$      1,271,352$   57,197$        

Debt Service -                  191,775        191,775        

Capital outlay -                  331,250        331,250        

Transfers out 9,830,000        9,849,214     19,214          

Local Roads Fund

Public works 14,297,387      14,431,586   134,199        

Community Development Block Grant Fund

Community and economic development 1,037,979        1,051,151     13,172          

Nutrition Grant Fund

Recreation and culture 586,690           635,330        48,640          

MIDC Fund

Health and welfare 356,581           360,687        4,106            

 
Construction code fees 
The City oversees building construction, in accordance with the State's 
Construction Code Act, including inspection of building construction 
and renovation to ensure compliance with the building codes. The City 
charges fees for these services. The law requires that collection of 
these fees be used only for construction code costs, including an 
allocation of estimated overhead costs. A summary of the current year 
activity and the cumulative shortfall generated since July 1, 2000 is as 
follows: 
 

Shortfall at July 1, 2022 (294,148)$        

Current year permit revenue 2,040,927        

Related expenses

Direct costs 1,036,404        

Estimated indirect costs 187,733           1,224,137        

Current year 816,790           

Cumulative restricted at June 30, 2023 522,642$         
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Note 3 - Deposits and Investments 

Michigan Compiled Laws Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of 1943, as 
amended) authorizes local governmental units to make deposits and 
invest in the accounts of federally insured banks, credit unions, and 
savings and loan associations that have offices in Michigan. The law 
also allows investments outside the state of Michigan when fully 
insured. The local unit is allowed to invest in bonds, securities, and 
other direct obligations of the United States or any agency or 
instrumentality of the United States; repurchase agreements; bankers’ 
acceptances of United States banks; commercial paper rated within the 
two highest classifications, which matures not more than 270 days after 
the date of purchase; obligations of the State of Michigan or its political 
subdivisions, which are rated as investment grade; and mutual funds 
composed of investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by 
local units of government in Michigan. 
 
The City has designated nine banks/advisors for the deposit of its 
funds. The investment policy adopted by the City Council in accordance 
with Public Act 196 of 1997 has authorized investment in all 
investments allowable under the state statutory authority, as listed 
above. The City's deposits and investments are in accordance with 
statutory authority. As noted below, the City participates in the Oakland 
County, Michigan local government investment pool.  

At year-end, the City’s deposits and investments were reported in the 
financial statements in the following categories: 
 

 Cash and Cash 

Equivalents  Investments  Total 

Governmental activities 77,582,674$       36,118,987$       113,701,661$     

Business-type activities 61,505,107         25,550                61,530,657         

Total 139,087,781       36,144,537         175,232,318       

Fiduciary funds 74,068                -                      74,068                

Component unit 1,982,903           373,106              2,356,009           

Total 141,144,752$     36,517,643$       177,662,395$     

 
The breakdown between deposits and investments is as follows: 
 

 Primary 

Government  Fiduciary Funds  Component Unit  Total 

Bank deposits (checking and 

savings accounts, money 

markets and certificates of 

deposit) 139,081,341$   74,068$            1,982,903$       141,138,312$   

Investments in securities, 

mutual funds and similar 

vehicles 36,144,537       -                    373,106            36,517,643       

Petty cash and cash on hand 6,440                -                    -                    6,440                

175,232,318$   74,068$            2,356,009$       177,662,395$   
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As of year-end, the City had the following investments: 
 

 Investment  Carrying value 

 Weighted-

average 

Maturity  Rating 

 Rating 

Organization 

MI CLASS Investment Pool 25,872,401$     69days AAAm S&P

Oakland County LGIP 10,645,242       536 days Not Rated N/A

Total 36,517,643$     

 
The City’s cash and investments are subject to several types of risk, 
which are examined in more detail below: 
 
Custodial credit risk of bank deposits – Custodial credit risk is the risk 
that, in the event of a bank failure, the City's deposits may not be 
returned to it. The City's investment policy strives to minimize custodial 
credit risk by prequalifying the financial institutions, brokers/dealers, 
and intermediaries with which the City does business. At year-end, the 
City had $142,234,575 of bank deposits (certificates of deposit and 
checking and savings accounts) that were uninsured and 
uncollateralized. The City believes that, due to the dollar amounts of 
cash deposits and the limits of FDIC insurance, it is impractical to insure 
all deposits. As a result, the City evaluates each financial institution with 
which it deposits funds and assesses the level of risk of each institution; 
only those institutions with an acceptable estimated risk level are used 
as depositories.  
 
Interest rate risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of 
investments will decrease as a result of a rise in interest rates. City 
policy – The City's investment policy does not restrict investment 
maturities other than commercial paper, which can only be purchased 
with a 270-day maturity.  
 
Credit risk – Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty 
to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. City policy – State law 
limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings issued by 

nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The City has no 
investment policy that would further limit its investment choices.  
 
Concentration of credit risk – Concentration of credit risk is the risk of 
loss attributed to the magnitude of the investments in a single issuer.  
 
Risks and uncertainties – The City invests in various securities. 
Investment securities are exposed to various risks, such as interest 
rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with 
certain investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that 
changes in the values of investment securities will occur in the near 
term and that such changes could materially affect the amounts 
reported in the balance sheet. There are no limitations or restrictions 
on participant withdrawals for the investment pools that are recorded at 
amortized cost. 
 
Note 4 - Fair Value Measurements  

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value 
hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The 
hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair 
value of the assets. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets 
for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable 
inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. Investments 
that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or 
its equivalent) as a practical expedient are not classified in the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 
In instances whereby inputs used to measure fair value fall into different 
levels in the fair value hierarchy, fair value measurements in their 
entirety are categorized based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the valuation. The City’s assessment of the significance 
of particular inputs to these fair value measurements requires judgment 
and considers factors specific to each asset. 
 
All of the City’s investments are measured at fair value using the net 
asset value per share. 
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Investments in entities that calculate net asset value per share – The 
City holds shares or interests in investment companies whereby the fair 
value of the investments is measured on a recurring basis using net 
asset value per share (or its equivalent) of the investment companies 
as a practical expedient and is presented in the following table. 
 
As of June 30, 2023, the fair value, unfunded commitments, and 
redemption rules of those investments are as follows: 
 

Redemption

Redemption Notice

Fair Value Frequency Period

External investment pools 36,517,643$    N/A N/A

 
The external investment pools include Michigan CLASS and the 
Oakland County Local Government Investment Pool. The fair value of 
the investments in this class has been estimated using the net asset 
value per share of the investments. There are no unfunded 
commitments or redemption restrictions.  
 
At year end, the net asset value of the City's investment in Michigan 
CLASS was $25,872,401. The investment pool had no unfunded 
commitments, specific redemption frequency or redemption notice 
period required. The Michigan CLASS investment pool invests in U.S. 
treasury obligations, federal agency obligations of the U.S. 
government, high-grade commercial paper (rated ‘A-1’ or better) 
collateralized bank deposits, repurchase agreements (collateralized at 
102% by Treasuries and agencies), and approved money-market 
funds. The program seeks to provide safety, liquidity, convenience, and 
competitive rates of return, and is designed to meet the needs of 
Michigan public sector investors. It purchases securities that are legally 
permissible under state statutes and are available for investment by 
Michigan counties, cities, townships, school districts, authorities and 

other public agencies. Financial statements for Michigan CLASS may 
be obtained from the website: www.michiganclass.org.  
 
At year end, the net asset value of the City's investment in the Oakland 
County Local Government Investment Pool was $10,645,242. The 
Oakland County Local Government Investment Pool is not registered 
with the SEC and does not issue a separate report. The fair value of 
the position in the pool is not the same as the value of the pool shares, 
since the pool does not meet the requirements under GASB 79 to report 
its value for financial reporting purposes at amortized cost. Financial 
statements for the Oakland County LGIP are included in Oakland 
County’s financial statements and may be obtained from the website: 
www.oakgov.com. 
 

http://www.michiganclass.org/
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Note 5 - Capital Assets 

Capital assets activity of the primary government for the current year is as follows: 
 

Restated

Beginning Ending

Balance Increases Decreases Transfers Balance

Governmental activities

Capital assets not being depreciated

Land 17,587,532$        -$                     -$                     -$                     17,587,532$        

Construction in progress 25,341,191          18,686,238          -                       (14,132,857)         29,894,572          

Right of way 31,561,930          -                       -                       -                       31,561,930          

Total capital assets not being depreciated 74,490,653          18,686,238          -                       (14,132,857)         79,044,034          

Capital assets being depreciated

Sidewalks 16,767,059          11,947                 -                       184,476               16,963,482          

Drain rights 21,735,961          -                       -                       -                       21,735,961          

Buildings and improvements 91,824,598          157,141               -                       142,482               92,124,221          

Machinery and equipment 18,652,239          1,426,730            70,914                 341,443               20,349,498          

Right-to-use - equipment 345,706               -                       -                       -                       345,706               

Vehicles 20,924,724          1,098,410            -                       -                       22,023,134          

Office furnishings 3,096,201            199,067               -                       -                       3,295,268            

Land improvements 21,517,486          74,029                 -                       271,005               21,862,520          

Major roads 88,665,694          -                       -                       -                       88,665,694          

Local roads 117,191,679        149,000               -                       13,193,451          130,534,130        

Right-to-use - intangible assets 298,048               331,250               -                       -                       629,298               

Total capital assets being depreciated 401,019,395        3,447,574            70,914                 14,132,857          418,528,912        

Less accumulated depreciation for

Sidewalks 11,610,600          318,694               -                       -                       11,929,294          

Drain rights 10,745,572          434,719               -                       -                       11,180,291          

Buildings and improvements 43,781,472          2,153,959            -                       -                       45,935,431          

Machinery and equipment 11,768,378          1,221,784            35,190                 -                       12,954,972          

Right-to-use - equipment 104,301               104,301               -                       -                       208,602               

Vehicles 12,017,593          1,571,885            -                       -                       13,589,478          

Office furnishings 2,742,861            63,562                 -                       -                       2,806,423            

Land improvements 17,400,867          570,053               -                       -                       17,970,920          

Major roads 53,202,216          2,742,367            -                       -                       55,944,583          

Local roads 79,634,181          3,457,351            -                       -                       83,091,532          

Right-to-use - intangible assets -                       184,428               -                       -                       184,428               

Total accumulated depreciation 243,008,041        12,823,103          35,190                 -                       255,795,954        

Net capital assets being depreciated 158,011,354        (9,375,529)           35,724                 14,132,857          162,732,958        

Governmental activities capital assets, net 232,502,007$      9,310,709$          35,724$               -$                     241,776,992$      
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Beginning Ending

Balance Increases Decreases Transfers Balance

Business-type activities

Capital assets not being depreciated

Construction in progress 7,605,705$          13,611,397$        -$                     (7,540,411)$         13,676,691$        

Capital assets being depreciated

Sewage disposal system 100,968,446        643,292               -                       -                       101,611,738        

Water and sewer lines 122,489,443        2,760,721            -                       7,540,411            132,790,575        

Total capital assets being depreciated 223,457,889        3,404,013            -                       7,540,411            234,402,313        

Less accumulated depreciation for

Sewage disposal system 70,060,096          1,686,874            -                       -                       71,746,970          

Water and sewer lines 61,764,169          2,905,660            -                       -                       64,669,829          

Total accumulated depreciation 131,824,265        4,592,534            -                       -                       136,416,799        

Net capital assets being depreciated 91,633,624          (1,188,521)           -                       7,540,411            97,985,514          

Business-type capital assets, net 99,239,329$        12,422,876$        -$                     -$                     111,662,205$      
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Depreciation and amortization of right to use assets expenses were 
charged to programs of the primary government as follows: 

Governmental activities

General government 1,293,804$   

Public safety 1,721,356     

Public services 7,882,856     

Recreation and culture 1,925,087     

Total governmental activities 12,823,103   

Business-type activities

Water and sewer 4,592,534     

Total primary government 17,415,637$ 
 

Construction Commitments 
The City has active construction projects at year-end. The projects 
include road improvements and water main improvements that were 
budgeted for and planned. At year-end, the City’s commitments are as 
follows: 
 

Contract Spent Remaining

Amount to Date Commitment

Local Roads 26,593,063$  17,662,009$ 8,931,054$   

Major Roads 9,302,821      3,922,489     5,380,332     

Water 5,538,736      4,574,692     964,044        

Capital Improvement 4,071,165      1,187,739     2,883,426     

CDBG Water Line Extension 562,739         527,159        35,580          

Total 46,068,524$  27,874,088$ 18,194,436$ 

 
 

Note 6 - Interfund Receivables, Payables, and Transfers 

The composition of interfund balances is as follows: 
 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General Fund Local Roads Fund 464,601$            

General Fund Public Safety Millage Fund 9,510,428           

General Fund Water and Sewer Fund 1,080,507           

General Fund NGF* 786,500              

Major Roads Fund Capital Improvement Fund 21,485                

Major Roads Fund General Fund 12,644                

Local Roads Fund Water and Sewer Fund 252                     

NGF* General Fund 431,626              

NGF* Public Safety Millage Fund 25,626                

12,333,669$       

 
The outstanding balances between funds result mainly from the time 
lag between the dates that 1) interfund goods and services are 
provided, 2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and 
3) payments between funds are made. 
 
The details for interfund transfers are as follows: 
 

Funds Transferred From Funds Transferred To Amount

General Fund Capital Improvement Fund 7,600,000$             

General Fund NGF* 2,249,214               

Municipal Street Fund Major Roads Fund 4,969,577               

Municipal Street Fund Local Roads Fund 11,781,926             

NGF* General Fund 1,307,850               

27,908,567$           

 
*Denotes nonmajor governmental funds. 
 
The transfers from the General Fund to the nonmajor funds and Capital 
Improvement Fund represent the movement of resources for debt 
service payments and capital improvements. The transfer from the 
Municipal Streets Fund to the Local Roads Fund and Major Roads Fund 
represents the movement of resources for road improvements from the 
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property tax millage. The transfer from the Major Roads Fund to the 
Local Roads Fund represents movement of resources for road 
improvements. The transfer from nonmajor governmental funds to the 
General Fund represents the movement of restricted funds to be used 
for restricted purposes in the General Fund.  

 
Note 7 - Leases 

During the 2020 fiscal year, the City entered into a lease agreement for 
copiers and printers  over an 84-month period. With the implementation 
of GASB Statement No. 87, an initial lease liability was recorded in the 
amount of $345,706 as of July 1, 2022. As of June 30, 2023, the value 
of the lease liability was $136,974. The City is required to make monthly 
principal and interest payments of $9,310. The lease has an interest 
rate of 3 percent. The value of the right-to-use asset as of the end of 
the current fiscal year was $345,706 and had accumulated amortization 
of $208,602. 
 
Annual requirements to amortize long-term obligations and related 
interest are as follows: 
 

Year Ending

 June 30, Principal Interest

2024 109,152$       2,566$           

2025 27,822           126                

136,974$       2,692$           

Governmental Activities

 
Note 8 - Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements (SBITA) 

The City has entered into subscription-based information technology 
arrangements (SBITAs) involving: 
 

• Various desktop and server software subscriptions 

• Information technology security software 

• Cloud backup services software 

• Payroll and human resources services software 
 
The future subscription payments under SBITA agreements are as 
follows: 
 

Year Ending

 June 30, Principal Interest

2024 190,499$       17,729$         

2025 106,854         10,344           

2026 79,324           6,044             

2027 54,058           2,642             

2028 23,307           292                

454,042$       37,051$         

Governmental Activities
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Note 9 - Long-Term Debt  

The City issues bonds to provide for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities. General obligation bonds are direct obligations and 
pledge the full faith and credit of the City. County contractual agreements and installment purchase agreements are also general obligations of the 
government. Special assessment bonds provide for capital improvements that benefit specific properties and will be repaid from amounts levied 
against those properties that benefited from the construction. In the event that a deficiency exists because of unpaid or delinquent special assessments 
at the time a debt service payment is due, the City is obligated to provide resources to cover the deficiency until other resources (such as tax sale 
proceeds or a reassessment of the City) are received. Revenue bonds involve a pledge of specific income derived from the acquired or constructed 
assets to pay debt service. 
 
Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 can be summarized as follows: 
 

Interest Principal Restated

Amount of Maturity Rate Maturity Beginning Ending Due Within

Issue Date Ranges Ranges Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Governmental activities

Bonds and notes payable

General obligation bonds

 2023 Capital Improvents Bonds 6,285,000$          2037 5.00% $275,000 - $585,000 -$                   6,285,000$     -$                6,285,000$       275,000$       

 2019 Capital Improvement Bonds 23,925,000          2040 2.00% - 3.00% 1,005,000 - 1,545,000 21,995,000        -                 990,000          21,005,000       1,005,000      

 2020 Refunding Bonds 4,125,000            2030 1.10% - 1.85% 130,000 - 565,000 4,000,000          -                 125,000          3,875,000         130,000         

County contractual obligations

 2013 Refunding Bonds - Golf Course 6,545,000            2031 2.00% - 2.50% 435,000 850,000             -                 415,000          435,000            435,000         

 Districts 345, 346, and 347 - 2016 Capital  

Improvement Bonds 8,475,000            2030 2.00% - 3.00% 505,000 - 665,000 5,200,000          -                 660,000          4,540,000         665,000         

 District 349 - 2017 Capital Improvement Bonds 1,225,000            2031 2.00% - 3.00% 90,000 900,000             -                 90,000            810,000            90,000           

Deferred amounts

For issuance premiums 1,567,526          715,457         132,224          2,150,759         -                 

Total 34,512,526        7,000,457      2,412,224       39,100,759       2,600,000      

Leases 242,903             -                 105,929          136,974            109,152         

Subscriptions 298,048             331,250         175,256          454,042            190,499         

Claims and judgments 303,000             4,737,685      4,695,685       345,000            345,000         

Compensated absences 5,995,489          3,450,369      3,103,146       6,342,712         2,627,678      

Total governmental activities 41,351,966$      15,519,761$   10,492,240$   46,379,487$     5,872,329$    
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Interest Principal

Amount of Maturity Rate Maturity Beginning Ending Due Within

Issue Date Ranges Ranges Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Business-type activities

Bonds and notes payable

Limited tax general obligation bonds

2014 Evergreen and Middlebelt Transport and

Storage Tunnel Bonds* 19,750,005$        2036 2.50% $889,425 - $1,194,750 15,476,837$      -$               865,530$        14,611,307$     889,425$       

2017 Evergreen and Farmington Sewage Disposal

Systems Middlebelt Transport and Storage Tunnel

Project Bonds 528,345               2027 2.14% 53,100 - 61,065 334,530             -                 50,445            284,085            53,100           

2021A Water Supply System Refunding Bonds 3,990,000            2033 2.00% - 5.00% 275,000 - 420,000 3,730,000          -                 255,000          3,475,000         275,000         

2021B Water Supply System Refunding Bonds 5,470,000            2035 3.00% - 4.00% 320,000 - 540,000 5,470,000          -                 320,000          5,150,000         320,000         

Evergreen Farmington Sanitary Drain Bonds, 

 Series 2023** 36,081,006          2046 1.88% 1,503,614 - 2,140,133 -                     8,091,300      -                  8,091,300         -                 

For issuance premiums 1,518,593          -                 241,322          1,277,271         -                 

Total business-type activities 26,529,960$      8,091,300$     1,732,297$     32,888,963$     1,537,525$    

 
* Issue of $19,750,005 but only $19,504,472 was drawn down in total as of June 30, 2023.  
**Issue of $36,081,066 but only $8,091,300 was drawn down in total as of June 30, 2023. 
 
Compensated absences attributable to the governmental activities will be liquidated primarily by the General Fund. 
 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the above obligations are as follows: 

 

Year Ending

 June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest

2024 2,600,000$     1,083,561$     1,537,525$     1,416,206$     

2025 2,635,000       1,006,713       1,606,420       1,238,358       

2026 2,685,000       948,037          1,650,315       1,185,124       

2027 2,530,000       883,750          1,719,210       1,131,448       

2028 2,545,000       813,798          3,294,374       1,063,526       

2029-2033 11,415,000     2,977,166       17,457,011     4,046,725       

2034-2038 9,495,000       1,326,925       14,434,694     2,167,510       

2039-2043 3,045,000       92,025            9,574,752       1,174,547       

2044-2047 -                  -                  8,327,157       300,241          

36,950,000$   9,131,975$     59,601,458     13,723,685$   

Less undrawn maturities (27,989,766)    

31,611,692$   

Business-type Activities

Bonds

Governmental Activities

Bonds
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Defeased Refundings 
The City defeased certain bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds 
in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on 
the old bonds. Accordingly, the trust accounts’ assets and liabilities for 
the defeased bonds are not included in the basic financial statements. 
At June 30, 2023, the City’s portion of bonds outstanding that are 
considered defeased approximates $3,450,000. 
 
Deferred Amount on Debt Refunding 
The City has issued bonds to advance refund and retire previously 
issued bonds. The advance refunding resulted in a difference between 
the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the old debt. This 
amount is reported in the accompanying statement of net position as a 
deferred outflow of resources and is being charged to activities through 
the year. 
 

Beginning Ending Due Within

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Deferred amount on refunding 229,601$     -$           154,911$   74,690$       74,690$     

 
No Commitment Debt 
The City has issued Variable Rate Demand Hospital Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds under state law, which authorizes municipalities 
under certain circumstances to acquire and lease industrial sites, 
buildings, and equipment and lease them to third parties. The revenue 
bonds issued are payable solely from the net revenue derived from the 
respective leases and are not a general obligation of the City. After 
these bonds are issued, all financial activity is taken over by the paying 
agent. The bonds and related lease contracts are not reflected in the 
City’s financial statements. Information regarding the status of each 
bond issue, including possible default, must be obtained from the 
paying agent or other knowledgeable source. As of June 30, 2023, 
there is approximately $8,795,000 of no commitment debt outstanding. 
 
Note 10 - Risk Management 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to property loss, 
torts, errors and omissions, and employee injuries (workers' 
compensation), as well as medical benefits provided to employees. The 

City participates in the Michigan Municipal League Workers' 
Compensation Fund for workers’ compensation claims and participates 
in the Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority risk pool for 
claims relating to general and auto liability, auto physical damage, and 
property loss claims.  
 
As of September 2005, the City has also assumed a significant amount 
of financial responsibility for its actual incurred medical claims cost, 
subject to certain insured limitations, including $120,000 per specific 
claim and a 120 percent stop loss with approximately $3 million in 
aggregate claims. Settled claims relating to the commercial insurance 
have not exceeded the amount of insurance coverage in any of the past 
three fiscal years. 
 
The Michigan Municipal League risk pool program operates as a 
common risk-sharing management program for local units of 
government in Michigan; member premiums are used to purchase 
commercial excess insurance coverage and to pay member claims in 
excess of deductible amounts.  
 
The Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority (“MMRMA") risk 
pool program operates as a claims servicing pool for amounts up to 
member retention limits and operates as a common risk-sharing 
management program for losses in excess of member retention 
amounts. Although premiums are paid annually to MMRMA that it uses 
to pay claims up to the retention limits, the ultimate liability for those 
claims remains with the City. Depending upon the type of claim, stop-
loss coverage for specific claims ranges from $15,000 to $200,000 and 
$5.0 million in aggregate. 
 
The City maintains insurance coverage through Blue Cross Blue Shield 
(“BCBS”) for medical and general claims and estimates the liability for 
medical and general claims that have been incurred through the end of 
the fiscal year, including claims that have been reported, as well as 
those that have not yet been reported, which includes estimates of both 
future payments of losses and related claim adjustments expense, both 
allocated and unallocated. The liability is based on individual claims 
and management’s evaluation of experience with respect to the 
probable number and nature of claims. Any adjustments resulting from 
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the settlement of losses will be reflected in earnings at the time the 
adjustments are determined. These estimates are recorded in the 
General Fund and within the governmental activities column in the 
statement of net position.  
 
Changes in the estimated liability for medical claims for the past two 
fiscal years were as follows: 
 

2023 2022

Estimated liability - beginning of year 228,000$          154,000$          

Estimated claims incurred, including

changes in estimates (4,849,112)        2,975,348         

Claim payments 4,804,112         (2,901,348)        

Estimated liability - end of year 183,000$          228,000$          

BCBS

 
 
Changes in the estimated liability for general claims for the past two 
fiscal years were as follows: 

2023 2022

Estimated liability - beginning of year 75,000$            130,000$          

Estimated claims incurred, including

changes in estimates 153,427            71,819              

Claim payments (66,427)             (126,819)           

Estimated liability - end of year 162,000$          75,000$            

MMRMA

 
Note 11 - Employee Retirement and Benefit Systems 

Defined benefit pension plan 
Plan description – The City of Farmington Hills Employees' Retirement 
System Pension Board administers the City of Farmington Hills 
Employees' Retirement System - a multiple-employer cost-sharing 
defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement, disability, and 

death benefits for all eligible general, court, police, and fire plan 
members and their beneficiaries. Benefit terms have been established 
by employer policy and contractual agreements authorized by city 
ordinance, which may be amended by City Council actions. 
 
Management of the plan is vested in the pension board, which consists 
of seven members - four elected by plan members, two appointed by 
City Council, and the city finance director/treasurer, who serves as an 
ex-officio member. 
 
Employees covered by benefit terms – At the June 30, 2022 valuation 
date, the following employees were covered by benefit terms: 
 
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 370                

Inactive employees entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits 12                  

Active employees 228                

610                

 
The general group consists of union employees from TPOAM, formerly 
AFSCME, and Teamsters, nonunion employees, court employees, 
executive employees, and dispatch employees. The general group 
does not include firefighters, police officers, and police command 
employees. 
 
Benefits provided – The pension plan provides retirement, disability, 
and death benefits to eligible plan members. Retirement benefits are 
calculated by multiplying the plan member's final average 
compensation (FAC) times the member's years of service times the 
multiplier applicable to the member's employee group. FAC is final 
average compensation consisting of the three highest consecutive 
years out of the last 10 years. FAC includes longevity on base pay for 
all employees plus lump-sum holiday pay for police, fire, and dispatch 
members. Benefits and refunds of the plan are recognized when due 
and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. Administrative 
costs are financed with plan net position. The multipliers per employee 
group are as follows: 
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General – TPOAM, formerly AFSCME, employees are eligible to retire 
if the sum of the plan member's age and years of service equals 80 
(minimum age 55) or at the age of 60 with eight years of service. The 
multiplier for this group is 2.8 percent up to 25 years of service and 1.0 
percent for each year over 25 years of service, with a maximum 
multiplier of 75 percent. 
 
General – Nonunion, court, and Teamsters employees are eligible to 
retire if the sum of the plan member's age and years of service equals 
80 (minimum age 55) or at the age of 60 with eight years of service. 
The multiplier for this group is 2.8 percent up to 25 years of service and 
1.0 percent for each year over 25 years of service, with a maximum 
multiplier of 80 percent. 
 
General – Executive employees are eligible to retire if the sum of the 
plan member's age and years of service equals 80 (minimum age 55) 
or at the age of 60 with eight years of service. The multiplier for this 
group is 3.0 percent up to 25 years of service and 1.0 percent for each 
year over 25 years of service, with a maximum multiplier of 80 percent. 
 
General – Dispatch employees are eligible to retire if the sum of the 
plan member's age and years of service equals 80 (minimum age 55) 
or at the age of 60 with eight years of service. The multiplier for this 
group is 2.8 percent up to 25 years of service (until age 67) and 1.0 
percent for each year over 25 years of service, with a maximum 
multiplier of 75 percent, or 2.375 percent up to 25 years of service (at 
age 67) and 1.0 percent for each year over 25 years of service, with a 
maximum multiplier of 70 percent. 
 
Firefighters are eligible to retire with 25 years of service, regardless of 
age. The multiplier for this group is 2.8 percent up to 25 years of service 
and 1.0 percent for each year over 25 years of service, with a maximum 
multiplier of 75 percent.  
 
Police command employees are eligible to retire at the age of 50 with 
25 years of service, or 30 years of service regardless of age with a 
minimum of 25 years as a sworn police officer. The multiplier for this 
group is 3.0 percent up to 25 years of service and 1.0 percent for each 
year over 25 years of service, with a maximum multiplier of 80 percent. 

Police officers are eligible to retire with 25 years of service, regardless 
of age. The multiplier for this group is 2.8 percent up to 25 years of 
service and 1.0 percent for each year over 25 years of service, with a 
maximum multiplier of 75 percent.  
 
Any officer classified as “Tier Two” POAM members are eligible to retire 
with 25 years of service, regardless of age. The multiplier for this group 
is 3.0 percent up to 25 years of service and 1.0 percent for each year 
over 25 years of service, with a maximum multiplier of 75 percent. 
 
An early retirement benefit is available and actuarially reduced from 
normal retirement age as follows: 
 

• General employee – Age 57 with eight years of service. 

• Patrol/Fire employee – Age 50 with 20 years of service. 

• Police command employee – Age 50 with 15 years of service or 
under age 50 with 25 years of service as a sworn police officer. 

 
Plan members are eligible for deferred (vested) retirement benefits if a 
general employee has eight or more years of service (benefit begins at 
age 60) or a police/fire employee has 15 or more years of service 
(benefits generally begin at age 55). 
 
In addition to the normal, early, and deferred retirement provisions, the 
system provides nonduty death benefits to qualifying members. A 
nonduty death benefit is computed as a regular retirement pension 
reduced in accordance with a 100 percent joint and survivor option and 
shall be paid for life to a surviving spouse of an employee provided the 
member attained age 57 and has eight years of service or the member 
has 10 or more years of credited service regardless of age and died 
while an employee of the City. The system also provides duty death 
benefits to qualifying members, which is computed as a duty disability 
retirement with no age or service requirements. A duty death pension 
shall be paid for life to a surviving spouse of an employee who dies in 
service. A duty disability benefit is also available in accordance with an 
established formula and has no age or service requirements. 
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Prior to retirement, but not thereafter, a member may elect to receive a 
retirement benefit by one of the following three methods: 
 
1) Straight-life Retirement Benefits 
 
This allowance is a benefit payable to the member throughout his or 
her life. This is a nonsurvivor benefit and terminates upon the death of 
the member. 
 
2) Survivor Allowance Options 
 
Under three available options, a retiree receives a reduced straight-life 
benefit, payable for life. Upon death, the reduced pension benefit will 
continue to be paid throughout the beneficiary's life at the percentage 
option selected. The reduction of straight-life benefit is actuarially 
determined based on the ages of the member and his or her beneficiary 
at the time of retirement and the percentage option of primary benefit 
chosen. A greater reduction of straight-life benefit will be made to 
provide 100 percent of the primary pension benefit rather than 75 
percent or 50 percent. 
 
The survivor allowance options are: 
 

• Option A - 100 percent of primary pension benefit. 

• Option B - 75 percent of primary pension benefit. 

• Option C - 50 percent of primary pension benefit. 
 
Should the named survivor beneficiary die before the retired member, 
the retired member's pension shall be recomputed (pop-up) to a 
straight-life benefit. 
 
3) Annuity Option 
 
In addition to the above survivor allowance options, all city and court 
employees may elect an annuity option. 
 
Contributions – Article 9, Section 24 of the State of Michigan 
constitution requires that financial benefits arising on account of 
employee service rendered in each year be funded during that year. 

Accordingly, the pension board retains an independent actuary to 
determine the annual contribution. The actuarially determined rate is 
the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned 
by plan members during the year, with an additional amount to finance 
any unfunded accrued liability. Contribution requirements of plan 
members are established and may be amended by the pension board 
in accordance with the city ordinance, union contracts, and plan 
provisions. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the average active 
member contribution rate was 4.50 percent of annual pay. The City's  
contribution was $3,266,116 for police members and $1,303,613 for fire 
members. For general and court members, the City's contribution was 
$2,178,120 and $247,138, respectively. 
 
Pension plan reserves – In accordance with city ordinance, the 
following reserves are required to be set aside within the pension plan: 
 
Retiree reserve – The retiree reserve is held in the retirement reserve 
fund and is to be computed annually by the actuary as the present value 
of estimated benefit payments for all current retirees. Actuarially 
computed unfunded liabilities are to be covered by a transfer from the 
employer reserve. The amounts reserved may be used solely to pay 
monthly retiree benefit payments. 
 
Employee reserve – The employee reserve is credited as employee 
contributions are received throughout the year; the plan maintains a 
record of the amount contributed by each employee and credits interest 
annually at a rate of 5 percent. For any employee who terminates 
before vesting in the pension plan, their balance is returned to them; for 
those who stay until retirement, the balance is transferred into the 
retiree reserve. 
 
Employer reserve – The employer reserve account is held in the 
pension reserve fund and is used to account for the residual net position 
balance in the pension plan after funding the retiree reserve. 
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The balances of the reserve accounts at June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

Required Reserve Amount Funded

Retiree reserve 135,540,764$             135,540,764$             

Employee reserve 19,032,590                 19,032,590                 

Employer reserve -                              19,546,296                  
 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of 
Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $63,709,201 for its 
proportionate share of the City of Farmington Hills Employees 
Retirement System’s net pension liability. The net pension liability was 
measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation rolled forward from June 30, 2022. The City’s proportion of 
the net pension liability was determined by dividing each employer’s 
actuarially determined pension contributions to the system during the 
measurement period by the percent of pension contributions required 
from all applicable employers during the measurement period. At June 
30, 2023, the City’s proportion was 96.46693 percent, which was a 
decrease of .0049789 percent compared to its proportion of 95.96904 
percent from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2023. For the year 
ending June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense 
of $14,468,212. 
 

At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred 

Outflows of

Resources Total

Differences in experience 5,903,783$     5,903,783$        

Change in proportionate share 269,828          269,828             

Net difference between projected and

actual earning on plan investments 3,869,719       3,869,719          

Total 10,043,330$   10,043,330$      

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension 
expense as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30,

2024 2,363,851$        

2025 445,521             

2026 7,194,567          

2027 39,391               

10,043,330$      

 
The net pension liability is generally liquidated by the General Fund. 
 
Actuarial assumptions – The total pension liability in the June 30, 2022 
annual actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions: 
 

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 4.00 - 23.00%, average, including inflation

Investment rate of return 7.00%, net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation  
 
Mortality rates used were based on the Pub-2010 Mortality Tables 
using scale MP-2018. 
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Discount rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension 
liability is 7.0%.  The projection of cash flows used to determine the 
discount rate assumes that employer and employee contributions will 
be made at the rates agreed upon for employees and the actuarially 
determined rates for employers.  Based on these assumptions, the 
pension plans fiduciary net position was projected to be available to pay 
all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive 
employees.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total pension liability. 
 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
determined using a model method in which the best-estimate ranges of 
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of investment 
and administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-
term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates 
of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding 
expected inflation.  The target allocation and best estimates or 
arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are 
summarized in the following tables: 
 

Asset Class Target Allocation

Domestic equity 41.00                   %

International equity 16.00                   

Domestic bonds 20.00                   

Real estate 10.00                   

Alternative assets 11.00                   

Cash or cash equivalents 2.00                     

100.00                 %

Long-term

Expected Real

Asset Class Rate of Return

Domestic equity 7.50                     %

International equity 8.50                     

Domestic bonds 2.50                     

Real estate 4.50                     

Alternative assets 6.05                     

 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the annual money-weighted rate of 
return on pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment 
expense, was 8.11 percent. 
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Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate – 
The following presents the net pension liability of the employer, 
calculated using the discount rate of 7.0%, as well as what the 
employer’s net pension liability would be using a discount rate that is 
1% point lower (6.0%) or 1% higher (8.0%) than the current rate. 
 

Current

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

Net pension liability 90,511,793$     63,709,201$    41,052,223$     

 
Refer to the separately issued City of Farmington Hills Employees’ 
Retirement System financial statements for additional information and 
disclosures. The City of Farmington Hills Employees’ Retirement 
System’s financial statements may be obtained at the City of 
Farmington Hills’ city hall. 
 
Note 12 - Defined Contribution Pension Plan 
 
Previously, the City used to provide retirement benefits through a 
Defined Contribution Pension Plan to all of its full-time employees in 
the AFSCME, executive, and general employee groups hired on or after 
July 1, 2006; in the dispatcher group hired on or after January 1, 2007; 
and in the Teamster group hired on or after January 1, 2008. Benefits 
depended solely on amounts contributed to the plan via Section 401(a) 
accounts, plus investment earnings.  
 
As a result of new Collective Bargaining Agreements (CBAs) adopted 
between the City and all of its bargaining units during Fiscal Year 2022-
23, the Defined Contribution Pension Plan has been dramatically 
altered.  All mandatory contributions to defined contribution plan 401(a) 
accounts were terminated, and all full-time employees began accruing 
service credits in the City’s defined benefit pension as of the following 
dates: 
 

• as of August 15, 2022, dispatcher group (FOPLC) members 
hired on or after January 1, 2007; 

• as of October 10, 2022, executive, and general employee group 
members hired on or after July 1, 2006, and Teamsters group 
members hired on or after January 1, 2008; 
 

• as of January 9, 2023, AFSCME group members hired on or 
after July 1, 2006.  NOTE: AFSCME members elected to 
become members of TPOAM prior to June 30, 2023 

 
The current year contribution was calculated based on covered payroll 
of $3,656,390, resulting in an employer contribution of $376,142 and 
employee contributions of $180,804. The City has recorded a payable 
to the defined contribution plan in the amount of $32,049 at June 30, 
2023. 
 
Note 13 - Other Postemployment Benefits – Defined Contribution 
Plan 
 
The City provides a Retirement Health Savings (RHS) account for 
eligible employees and their dependents. The plan covers AFSCME, 
executive, and general employees hired on or after July 1, 2006; 
dispatch employees hired on or after January 1, 2007; Teamster and 
POAM employees hired on or after January 1, 2008; and IAFF 
employees hired on or after July 1, 2008. This is a defined contribution 
plan administered by the City. The collective bargaining agreements 
and/or city ordinance require all employees to contribute 1.5 percent of 
their base salary or wage plus longevity pay. The City contributes $100 
per month for the dispatch employees, $208 per month for police 
employees, $225 per month for tier 2 police command, and $146 per 
month for all other participating employee groups. All contributions plus 
interest allocated to the employees' accounts are fully vested after 
seven years of service. Once plan members terminate employment, 
they are eligible to use all vested contributions for allowable medical 
related expenses. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2023, the City made contributions of 
$418,716, and the plan members contributed $270,677 to the plan. 
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Note 14 - Other Postemployment Benefits 
 
Defined benefit OPEB plan 
Plan description – The City of Farmington Hills Employees' Retirement 
System Pension Board administers the City of Farmington Hills Post-
Retirement Healthcare Finance Fund – a multiple-employer cost-
sharing defined benefit OPEB plan that is used to provide 
postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB) for all eligible 
general, court, police, and fire plan members and their beneficiaries. 
 
Management of the plan is vested in the pension board, which consists 
of seven members – four elected by plan members, two appointed by 
the City, and the City finance/treasurer, who serves as an ex-officio 
member. 
 
Benefits provided – The fund provides healthcare and prescription 
benefits for retirees and their dependents. Benefits are provided 
through a third-party insurer, and the full cost of benefits is covered by 
the plan. Benefits terms have been established by employer policy and 
contractual agreements authorized by city ordinance, which may be 
amended by City Council actions. 
 
Employees covered by benefit terms – At June 30, 2022, the plan 
membership consisted of the following: 
 
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 215                

Active employees 136                

351                

 
Contributions – Contribution requirements of plan members are 
established and may be amended by the pension board in accordance 
with city ordinance, union contracts, and plan provisions. The board 
establishes contribution rates based on an actuarially determined rate 
per a funding valuation. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City's 
contribution was $244,802. Plan members are required to contribute at 
1.50 percent of pay. 
 

OPEB plan reserves – In accordance with city ordinance, the following 
reserves are required to be set aside within the OPEB plan: 
 
Retiree reserve – The retiree reserve is held in the healthcare benefits 
reserve fund and is to be computed annually by the actuary as the 
present value of estimated healthcare benefit payments for all current 
retirees. Actuarially computed unfunded liabilities are to be covered by 
a transfer from the employer reserve. The amounts reserved may be 
used solely to pay retiree healthcare benefit payments. 
 
Employee reserve – The employee reserve is credited as employee 
contributions are received throughout the year; the plan maintains a 
record of the amount contributed by each employee and credits interest 
annually at a rate of 5 percent. For any employee who terminates 
before vesting in the OPEB plan, their balance is returned to them; for 
those who stay until retirement, the balance is transferred into the 
retiree reserve. 
 
Employer reserve – The employer reserve account is held in the 
healthcare reserve fund and is used to account for the residual net 
position balance in the OPEB plan after funding the retiree reserve. 
 
The balances of the reserve accounts at June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

Required Reserve Amount Funded

Retiree reserve 55,665,970$               55,665,970$               

Employee reserve 4,487,782                   4,487,782                   

Employer reserve -                              32,031,475                  
 

OPEB Liabilities or Assets, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows 
of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported an asset of $7,642,629 for its 
proportionate share of the City of Farmington Hills OPEB plan’s net 
OPEB asset. The net OPEB asset was measured as of June 30, 2023, 
and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB asset was 
determined by an actuarial valuation rolled forward from June 30, 
2022. The City’s proportion of the net OPEB asset was determined by 
dividing each employers’ actuarially determined OPEB contributions to 
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the plan during the measurement period by the percent of OPEB 
contributions required from all applicable employers during the 
measurement period. At June 30, 2023, the City’s proportion was 
85.86983 percent, which was an increase of .03850 percent compared 
to its proportion of 85.83131 percent from its proportion measured as 
of June 30, 2022. For the year ending June 30, 2023, the 
City recognized OPEB expense of $(1,284,084). 
 

At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following 
sources: 
 

Deferred Deferred

Outflows of Inflows of Total to 

Resources Resources Amortize

Differences in experience -$                (4,579,400)$     (4,579,400)$      

Differences in assumptions 2,279,443       (58,853)            2,220,590         

Change in proportionate share 108,346          (1,552)              106,794            

Net difference between projected and

actual earning on plan investments 1,725,600       -                   1,725,600         

Total 4,113,389$     (4,639,805)$     (526,416)$         

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB 
expense as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30,

2024 (1,698,375)$     

2025 (1,315,289)       

2026 2,710,500        

2027 (223,252)          

(526,416)$        

 
The net OPEB liability or asset is generally liquidated by the General 
Fund. 
 

Actuarial assumptions – The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2022 
annual actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions: 
 

Inflation 2.50%

Investment rate of return 7.00%, net of OPEB plan investment 

expense, including inflation

Healthcare cost trend rates 7.50%, graded down to 3.50%  
 

Mortality rates used were based on the Pub-2010 Mortality Tables 
using scale MP-2018. 
 
Discount rate – The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB 
liability is 7.0%.  The projection of cash flows used to determine the 
discount rate assumes that employer and employee contributions will 
be made at the rates agreed upon for employees and the actuarially 
determined rates for employers.  Based on these assumptions, the 
OPEB plans fiduciary net position was projected to be available to pay 
all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive 
employees.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on OPEB 
plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total OPEB liability. 
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The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was 
determined using a model method in which the best-estimate ranges of 
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of investment 
and administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-
term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates 
of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding 
expected inflation.  The target allocation and best estimates or 
arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are 
summarized in the following tables: 
 

Asset Class Target Allocation

Domestic equity 41.00                   %

International equity 16.00                   

Domestic bonds 20.00                   

Real estate 10.00                   

Alternative assets 11.00                   

Cash or cash equivalents 2.00                     

100.00                 %

Long-term

Expected Real

Asset Class Rate of Return

Domestic equity 7.50                     %

International equity 8.50                     

Domestic bonds 2.50                     

Real estate 4.50                     

Alternative assets 6.05                     

 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the annual money-weighted rate of 
return on OPEB plan investments, net of OPEB plan investment 
expense, was 8.26 percent. 
 
Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability (asset) to changes in the discount 
rate – The following presents the net OPEB liability (asset) of the 
employer, calculated using the discount rate of 7.0%, as well as what 

the employer’s net OPEB liability (asset) would be using a discount rate 
that is 1% point lower (6.0%) or 1% higher (8.0%) than the current rate. 
 

Current

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

Net OPEB liability (asset) 279,030$          (7,642,629)$               (14,356,957)$    

 
Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability (asset) to changes in the healthcare 
cost trend rate – The following presents the net OPEB liability (asset), 
calculated using the healthcare cost trend rate of 7.50%, as well as 
what the net OPEB liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using 
a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1% lower (6.50%, decreasing to 
2.5%) or 1% higher (8.50% decreasing to 4.5%). 
 

Healthcare

1% Decrease Cost Trend Rates 1% Increase

Net OPEB liability (asset) (15,404,205)$    (7,642,629)$               1,583,913$       

 
Refer to the separately issued City of Farmington Hills Post-Retirement 
Healthcare Finance Fund financial statements for additional information 
and disclosures. The City of Farmington Hills Post-Retirement 
Healthcare Finance Fund’s financial statements may be obtained at the 
City of Farmington Hills’ city hall. 
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Note 15 - Net Investment in Capital Assets 

The composition of net investment in capital assets as of June 30, 
2023, was as follows: 
 
Capital assets

Capital assets not being depreciated 79,044,034$        13,676,691$        

Capital assets - net of accumulated depreciation 162,732,958        97,985,514          

Deferred outflows or resources (capital related) 74,690                 -                      

   

Less:

Government obligation bonds (10,160,000)         -                      

Other bonds (26,790,000)         (31,611,692)         

Capital leases

Lease liability (136,974)              -                      

SBITA liability (454,042)              

Premiums (2,150,759)           (1,277,271)           

Add back:

Discounts

Unspent bond proceeds 402,745               -                      

Net investment in capital assets 202,562,652$      78,773,242$        

 
Note 16 - Change in Accounting Principle 

As indicated in Note 1, The City implemented Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 96, Subscription-
Based Information Technology Arrangements. The statement 
establishes a definition for SBITAs and provides uniform guidance for 
accounting and financial reporting for transactions that meet that 
definition. The statement enhances the relevance and reliability of a 
government’s financial statements by requiring a government to report 
a subscription right to use asset and subscription liability for a SBITA 
and to disclose essential information about the arrangement. There 
was no effect on beginning net position.  
 

 

 

 
 
 



Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

Property taxes 36,162,362$     36,181,817$     36,241,571$     59,754$            

Licenses and permits 1,698,720         1,627,306         2,151,403         524,097            

Federal grants 4,470,500         4,549,527         4,257,065         (292,462)           

State-shared revenue and grants 9,683,183         9,779,682         11,980,134       2,200,452         

Charges for services 14,710,445       14,964,685       16,504,638       1,539,953         

Fines and forfeitures 1,560,455         1,340,800         1,531,952         191,152            

Investment income (loss) 291,272            300,001            3,317,292         3,017,291         

Other revenue:

Local donations 43,921              87,194              58,274              (28,920)             

Equipment rental 1,352,559         1,352,559         1,623,959         271,400            

Other miscellaneous income 1,006,214         797,348            526,599            (270,749)           

Total revenues 70,979,631       70,980,919       78,192,887       7,211,968         

Expenditures

General government:

City Council 124,497            120,508            108,470            (12,038)             

Board and commissions 2,889,785         2,920,996         2,918,860         (2,136)               

City administration 860,619            920,358            859,826            (60,532)             

Public information 572,288            588,083            468,555            (119,528)           

Finance department 2,122,257         2,157,286         2,121,597         (35,689)             

Clerk 1,008,707         920,215            868,033            (52,182)             

Attorney 764,600            744,844            701,890            (42,954)             

Human resources/personnel 607,255            720,110            445,219            (274,891)           

Central services 1,229,117         1,214,155         1,271,352         57,197              

Support services 4,989,461         4,884,875         4,118,386         (766,489)           

Total general government 15,168,586       15,191,430       13,882,188       (1,309,242)        

Budgeted Amounts

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule

General Fund
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Budgeted Amounts

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule

General Fund

Public safety:

Police 17,220,462$     17,088,643$     16,710,308$     (378,335)$         

Fire 7,667,152         7,713,052         6,910,449         (802,603)           

Total public safety 24,887,614       24,801,695       23,620,757       (1,180,938)        

Public services:

Road maintenance 2,627,029         2,568,330         2,290,562         (277,768)           

Administration 519,639            551,442            473,338            (78,104)             

General refuse removal 4,428,197         3,920,762         3,919,188         (1,574)               

Building maintenance 498,373            517,596            473,125            (44,471)             

Maintenance facility 1,350,913         1,741,341         1,429,381         (311,960)           

Engineering 1,434,666         1,376,161         1,239,583         (136,578)           

Public service reimbursement from road fund (2,265,533)        (2,265,533)        (1,755,379)        510,154            

Total public services 8,593,284         8,410,099         8,069,798         (340,301)           

Community and economic development 1,984,575         1,948,237         1,699,740         (248,497)           

Recreation and culture 13,034,229       13,404,506       13,284,256       (120,250)           

Capital outlay -                    -                    331,250            331,250            

Debt service -                    -                    191,775            191,775            

Total expenditures 63,668,288       63,755,967       61,079,764       (2,676,203)        

Excess of revenues over expenditures 7,311,343         7,224,952         17,113,123       9,888,171         

 5 - 2 



Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Budgeted Amounts

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule

General Fund

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Sale of capital assets 82,309$            232,337$          176,682$          (55,655)$           

Issuance of debt -                    -                    331,250            331,250            

Transfers in 1,307,850         1,307,850         1,307,850         -                    

Transfers out (9,868,951)        (9,830,000)        (9,849,214)        (19,214)             

Total other financing sources (uses) (8,478,792)        (8,289,813)        (8,033,432)        256,381            

Net change in fund balance (1,167,449)        (1,064,861)        9,079,691         10,144,552       

Fund balance - beginning of year 47,214,161       47,214,161       47,214,161       -                    

Fund balance - end of year 46,046,712$     46,149,300$     56,293,852$     10,144,552$     
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

Property taxes 17,642,620$     17,642,620$     17,605,075$     (37,545)$           

State and other sources 205,714            205,714            556,917            351,203            

Investment income 20,000              20,000              384,114            364,114            

Total revenues 17,868,334       17,868,334       18,546,106       677,772            

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers out (16,751,503)      (16,751,503)      (16,751,503)      -                    

Net change in fund balance 1,116,831         1,116,831         1,794,603         677,772            

Fund balance - beginning of year 510,076            510,076            510,076            -                    

Fund balance - end of year 1,626,907$       1,626,907$       2,304,679$       677,772$          

Budgeted Amounts

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Municipal Street Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

State and other sources 7,486,038$       8,194,167$       8,696,516$       502,349$          

Local contributions 203,309            412,000            6,643                (405,357)           

Investment income 75,000              75,000              836,727            761,727            

Other revenue 190                   190                   290                   100                   

Total revenues 7,764,537         8,681,357         9,540,176         858,819            

Expenditures

Public works 16,734,648       16,666,195       11,903,137       (4,763,058)        

Deficiency of revenues over expenditures (8,970,111)        (7,984,838)        (2,362,961)        5,621,877         

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers in 4,969,577         4,969,577         4,969,577         -                    

Net change in fund balance (4,000,534)        (3,015,261)        2,606,616         5,621,877         

Fund balance - beginning of year 13,175,293       13,175,293       13,175,293       -                    

Fund balance - end of year 9,174,759$       10,160,032$     15,781,909$     5,621,877$       

Budgeted Amounts

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Major Roads Fund
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

State and other sources 2,936,790$    2,936,790$      2,894,156$    (42,634)$       

Investment income 10,000           81,668             510,463         428,795        

Total revenues 2,946,790      3,018,458        3,404,619      386,161        

Expenditures

Public works 15,333,592    14,297,387      14,431,586    134,199        

Debt service 888,000         888,000           887,088         (912)              

Total expenditures 16,221,592    15,185,387      15,318,674    133,287        

Deficiency of revenues over expenditures (13,274,802)   (12,166,929)     (11,914,055)   252,874        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers in 11,781,926    11,781,926      11,781,926    -                

Net change in fund balance (1,492,876)    (385,003)          (132,129)        252,874        

Fund balance - beginning of year 6,750,914      6,750,914        6,750,914      -                

Fund balance - end of year 5,258,038$    6,365,911$      6,618,785$    252,874$      

Budgeted Amounts

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Local Roads Fund
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

Taxes 11,382,653$     11,966,873$     11,955,725$     (11,148)$           

Other state grants 200,513            200,513            137,290            (63,223)             

Investment income 63,780              63,780              564,484            500,704            

Total revenues 11,646,946       12,231,166       12,657,499       426,333            

Expenditures

Public safety 12,086,407       12,086,407       11,924,585       (161,822)           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (439,461)           144,759            732,914            588,155            

Fund balance - beginning of year 2,660,308         2,660,308         2,660,308         -                    

Fund balance - end of year 2,220,847$       2,805,067$       3,393,222$       588,155$          

Budgeted Amounts

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Public Safety Millage Fund
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Fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017* 2016 2015 2014

City's proportion of the net pension liability (%) 96.47% 95.97% 95.78% 95.58% 95.43% 95.43% 95.26% 95.78% 95.92% 95.01%

City's proportionate share of the net pension liability 63,709,201$     56,839,126$     25,804,703$     60,395,617$     50,973,877$     39,249,558$     37,396,907$     38,326,411$     28,834,315$     18,781,050$     

City's covered payroll 20,528,927$     19,549,498$     19,720,476$     18,994,170$     19,118,157$     19,121,057$     19,032,521$     19,018,880$     19,388,355$     20,278,867$     

City's proportionate share of the net pension liability

as a percentage of its covered payroll 310.34% 290.75% 130.85% 317.97% 266.63% 205.27% 196.49% 201.52% 148.72% 92.61%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the

total pension liability 72.50% 73.72% 87.74% 70.71% 74.55% 79.10% 79.21% 77.51% 82.86% 88.48%

*The June 30, 2016 total pension liability was restated in the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation to include the retiree healthcare opt-out stipend payments

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Employees' Retirement System

Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

June 30, 2023
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Actual

Fiscal Annual Contribution Contribution

Year Determined Actual Deficiency Covered as a % of

Ended Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

2014 4,330,086$                   4,330,086$                   -$                              20,278,867$                 21.35%                         

2015 4,683,178                     4,683,178                     -                                19,388,355                   24.15%                         

2016 4,511,908                     4,511,908                     -                                19,018,880                   23.72%                         

2017 4,487,059                     4,487,059                     -                                19,032,521                   23.58%                         

2018 5,107,572                     5,490,506                     (382,934)                       19,121,057                   28.71%                         

2019 5,314,161                     5,499,052                     (184,891)                       19,118,157                   28.76%                         

2020 5,665,884                     5,665,884                     -                                18,994,170                   29.83%                         

2021 6,397,376                     6,397,376                     -                                19,720,476                   32.44%                         

2022 6,890,885                     6,890,885                     -                                19,549,498                   35.25%                         

2023 6,747,849                     6,747,860                     (11)                                20,528,927                   32.87%                         

Notes:  Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30 each year, which is

12 months prior to the beginning of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll (level dollar method for general and court divisions)

Remaining amortization period Police and fire employees: 22 years 

General and Court employees: 18 years

Asset valuation method 5-year smoothed fair value

Inflation 2.50 percent

Salary increases 4.00 to 7.00 percent (general and court), 4.00 to 23.00 percent (police), 4.00 to 20.00 percent (fire)

Investment rate of return 7.00 percent (net of investment expenses)

Retirement age Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the type of eligibility condition

Mortality General and Court: Pub-2010 amount-weighted tables

Police and Fire: Pub-2010 headcount-weighted tables

All tables include future mortality improvements projected to 2025 using scale MP-2018

June 30, 2023

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Employees' Retirement System of Michigan

Schedule of Employer Contributions
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Fiscal Year Annual 

Ended Return*

2014 16.50%

2015 (0.40)%

2016 (1.80)%

2017 12.30%

2018 7.26%

2019 3.64%

2020 1.36%

2021 32.20%

2022 (9.87)%

2023 8.11%

* Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of investment expenses

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Employees' Retirement System

June 30, 2023

Schedule of Investment Returns
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Fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

City's proportion of the net OPEB liability (%) 85.87% 85.83% 93.30% 93.05% 92.51% 92.51% 95.95%

City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) (7,642,629)$      (5,633,957)$      (20,484,443)$    3,815,708$       1,330,769$       (5,793,708)$      (4,878,157)$      

City's covered payroll N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability

as a percentage of its covered payroll N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 

total OPEB liability 110.69% 108.08% 127.75% 95.00% 98.21% 108.83% 107.47%

Note: GASB Statement No. 74 was implemented for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 and GASB Statement No. 75 was implemented

Note: OPEB contributions are not based on a measure of pay and, therefore, covered payroll information has been omitted in accordance

with GASB Statement No. 85.

Data will be added as information is available until 10 years of such data is available.

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Other Post Employment Benefits

Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset)

June 30, 2023

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 and does not require retroactive implementation.
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Actual

Actuarially Contribution Contribution

Fiscal Year Determined Actual Deficiency Covered as a % of

Ending Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

2017 1,722,056$                     1,722,056$                     -$                                N/A N/A

2018 718,608                          718,608                          -                                  N/A N/A

2019 710,062                          710,062                          -                                  N/A N/A

2020 520,481                          520,481                          -                                  N/A N/A

2021 504,451                          504,451                          -                                  N/A N/A

2022 264,242                          264,242                          -                                  N/A N/A

2023 244,802                          244,802                          -                                  N/A N/A

Notes to Schedule of Contributions

Valuation date: Actuarial valuations are performed as of June 30 of even numbered years.

Notes: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of June 30 each year, which is 12 months prior to

the start of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported.

Contributions are not based on a measure of payroll, therefore per GASB Statement No. 85, covered payroll

is not presented.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Amortization method Level dollar (closed)

Remaining amortization period 14 years

Asset valuation method 5-year smoothed fair value

Inflation 2.50 percent

Healthcare cost trend rates Initial trend of 7.50% gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 3.50% in year 12

Investment rate of return 7.00 percent (net of investment expenses)

Retirement age Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the type of eligibility condition

Mortality General and Court: Pub-2010 amount-weighted tables

Police and Fire: Pub-2010 amount-weighted tables

All tables include future mortality improvements projected to 2025 using scale MP-2018

Data will be added as information is available until 10 years of such data is available.

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Other Post Employment Benefits

Schedule of Employer Contributions

June 30, 2023

Note: GASB Statement No. 74 was implemented for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 and GASB Statement No. 75 was implemented for the fiscal year 

ended June 30, 2018 and does not require retroactive implementation.
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Fiscal Year Annual 

Ended Return*

2014 16.20%

2015 (0.50)%

2016 (1.70)%

2017 11.90%

2018 7.16%

2019 3.66%

2020 1.36%

2021 32.62%

2022 (10.16)%

2023 8.26%

* Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of investment expenses

City of Farmington Hills
Required Supplementary Information

Other Post Employment Benefits

June 30, 2023

Schedule of Investment Returns
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NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Special Revenue Funds
Community Development Block Grant Fund
This fund accounts for CDBG/HUD supported housing rehabilitation projects and other HUD/CDBG approved projects.

Nutrition Grant
This fund accounts for HUD supported nutrition programming through Special Services Department.

Forfeiture Fund
This fund accounts for criminal asset forfeiture revenue from cases in federal and state court, in support of police operations in accordance 
with federal and state forfeiture guidelines. 

Parks and Recreation Special Milage
This fund accounts for the Parks Millage Property Tax Revenue in support of Parks projects and equipment.

Michigan Indigent Defense Commission (MIDC) Fund
This fund records Grant revenue from the Michigan Indigent Defense Council (MIDC) to support the cost of providing indigent defense council 
at the 47th District Court.

Debt Service Fund
General Debt Service
This fund accounts for the payment of city issued general debt. 

Capital Projects Fund
Community Center Renovation
This fund accounts for the revenues and expenditures related to the acquisition, development, improvement, and/or maintenance of capital assets



Capital

Debt Service Projects

Fund

Total

Community Parks and Community Nonmajor

Development Nutrition Forfeiture Recreation MIDC General Center Governmental

Block Grant Grant Funds Special Millage Fund Debt Service Renovations Funds

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents -$                  461,004$          146,834$          1,160,549$       14,591$            -$                  52,591$            1,835,569$       

Investments -                    46,289              1,091,889         -                    -                    27,215              75,592              1,240,985         

Receivables 175                   -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    175                   

Due from other units of government 119,704            35,397              -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    155,101            

Due from other funds 26,356              2,172                25,626              -                    22,313              298,830            81,955              457,252            

Total assets 146,235$          544,862$          1,264,349$       1,160,549$       36,904$            326,045$          210,138$          3,689,082$       

Liabilities

Accounts payable 78,540$            9,449$              76,740$            344,886$          36,904$            2,000$              -$                  548,519$          

Due to other funds 67,695              535,413            -                    -                    -                    183,392            -                    786,500            

Total liabilities 146,235            544,862            76,740              344,886            36,904              185,392            -                    1,335,019         

Fund Balances

Restricted for:

Police and fire -                    -                    1,187,609         -                    -                    -                    -                    1,187,609         

Parks and recreation -                    -                    -                    815,663            -                    -                    -                    815,663            

Assigned:

Capital projects -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    210,138            210,138            

Debt service -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    140,653            -                    140,653            

Total fund balances -                    -                    1,187,609         815,663            -                    140,653            210,138            2,354,063         

Total liabilities and fund balances 146,235$          544,862$          1,264,349$       1,160,549$       36,904$            326,045$          210,138$          3,689,082$       

 Funds

City of Farmington Hills

June 30, 2023

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Balance Sheet

Other Supplementary Information

Special Revenue Funds
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Capital 

Debt Service Projects

Fund

Total

Community Parks and Community Nonmajor

Development Nutrition Forfeiture Recreation MIDC General Center Governmental

Block Grant Grant Funds Special Millage Fund Debt Service Renovations Funds

Revenues

Property taxes -$                 -$                 -$                 1,790,423$       -$                 -$                 -$                 1,790,423$       

Federal grants 1,051,148         235,965            392,276            -                   -                   -                   -                   1,679,389         

State and other sources -                   185,822            42,410              56,525              298,957            -                   -                   583,714            

Local contributions -                   -                   -                   -                   5,424                -                   -                   5,424                

Investment income 3                      5,380                17,310              88,614              1,998                4,418                31,108              148,831            

Other revenue -                   158,949            -                   -                   -                   51,506              -                   210,455            

Total revenues 1,051,151         586,116            451,996            1,935,562         306,379            55,924              31,108              4,418,236         

Expenditures

Current:

Public safety -                   -                   121,140            -                   -                   -                   -                   121,140            

Health and welfare -                   -                   -                   -                   360,687            -                   -                   360,687            

Community and economic development 1,051,151         -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   1,051,151         

Recreation and culture -                   635,330            -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   635,330            

Capital outlay -                   -                   -                   658,792            -                   -                   157,022            815,814            

Debt service -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   2,217,460         -                   2,217,460         

Total expenditures 1,051,151         635,330            121,140            658,792            360,687            2,217,460         157,022            5,201,582         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

over expenditures -                   (49,214)             330,856            1,276,770         (54,308)             (2,161,536)        (125,914)           (783,346)           

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers in -                   49,214              -                   -                   -                   2,200,000         -                   2,249,214         

Transfers out -                   -                   -                   (1,307,850)        -                   -                   -                   (1,307,850)        

Total other financing sources (uses) -                   49,214              -                   (1,307,850)        -                   2,200,000         -                   941,364            

Net change in fund balance -                   -                   330,856            (31,080)             (54,308)             38,464              (125,914)           158,018            

Fund balance - beginning of year -                   -                   856,753            846,743            54,308              102,189            336,052            2,196,045         

Fund balance - end of year -$                 -$                 1,187,609$       815,663$          -$                 140,653$          210,138$          2,354,063$       

FundsSpecial Revenue Funds

City of Farmington Hills

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Other Supplementary Information
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

Federal grants 450,067$          1,037,979$       1,051,148$       13,169$            

Investment income -                    -                    3                       3                       

Total revenues 450,067            1,037,979         1,051,151         13,172              

Expenditures

Community and economic development 450,067            1,037,979         1,051,151         13,172              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures -                    -                    -                    -                    

Fund balance - beginning of year -                    -                    -                    -                    

Fund balance - end of year -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

Budgeted Amounts

City of Farmington Hills
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Community Development Block Grant Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

Federal grants 360,000$          360,000$          235,965$          (124,035)$         

State and other sources -                    -                    185,822            185,822            

Investment income 32,358              36,905              5,380                (31,525)             

Other revenue 120,834            120,834            158,949            38,115              

Total revenues 513,192            517,739            586,116            68,377              

Expenditures

Recreation and culture 582,143            586,690            635,330            48,640              

Deficiency of revenues over expenditures (68,951)             (68,951)             (49,214)             19,737              

Other Financing Sources 

Transfers in 68,951              68,951              49,214              (19,737)             

Net change in fund balance -                    -                    -                    -                    

Fund balance - beginning of year -                    -                    -                    -                    

Fund balance - end of year -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

Budgeted Amounts

City of Farmington Hills
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nutrition Grant Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

Federal grants -$                  -$                  392,276$          392,276$          

State and other sources -                    2,586                42,410              39,824              

Investment income -                    18,231              17,310              (921)                  

Total revenues -                    20,817              451,996            431,179            

Expenditures

Public safety -                    129,538            121,140            (8,398)               

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures -                    (108,721)           330,856            439,577            

Fund balance - beginning of year 856,753            856,753            856,753            -                    

Fund balance - end of year 856,753$          748,032$          1,187,609$       439,577$          

Budgeted Amounts

City of Farmington Hills
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Forfeiture Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

Property taxes 1,738,872$       1,771,893$       1,790,423$       18,530$            

State and other sources 25,000              25,000              56,525              31,525              

Charges for services 60,000              60,000              -                    (60,000)             

Investment income 3,000                47,461              88,614              41,153              

Total revenues 1,826,872         1,904,354         1,935,562         31,208              

Expenditures

Capital outlay 892,300            1,166,541         658,792            (507,749)           

Excess of revenues over expenditures 934,572            737,813            1,276,770         538,957            

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers out (1,307,850)        (1,307,850)        (1,307,850)        -                    

Net change in fund balance (373,278)           (570,037)           (31,080)             538,957            

Fund balance - beginning of year 846,743            846,743            846,743            -                    

Fund balance - end of year 473,465$          276,706$          815,663$          538,957$          

Budgeted Amounts

City of Farmington Hills
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Parks and Recreation Special Millage Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

State and other sources 334,784$          334,784$          298,957$          (35,827)$           

Local contributions 21,697              21,697              5,424                (16,273)             

Investment income 100                   100                   1,998                1,898                

Total revenues 356,581            356,581            306,379            (50,202)             

Expenditures

Health and welfare 356,581            356,581            360,687            4,106                

Total expenditures 356,581            356,581            360,687            4,106                

Deficiency of revenues over expenditures -                    -                    (54,308)             (54,308)             

Fund balance - beginning of year 54,308              54,308              54,308              -                    

Fund balance - end of year 54,308$            54,308$            -$                  (54,308)$           

Budgeted Amounts

City of Farmington Hills
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

MIDC Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

Investment income 200$                 200$                 4,418$              4,218$              

Other revenue 50,000              50,000              51,506              1,506                

Total revenues 50,200              50,200              55,924              5,724                

Expenditures

Debt service 2,217,460         2,217,460         2,217,460         -                    

Deficiency of revenues over expenditures (2,167,260)        (2,167,260)        (2,161,536)        5,724                

Other Financing Sources 

Transfers in 2,200,000         2,200,000         2,200,000         -                    

Net change in fund balance 32,740              32,740              38,464              5,724                

Fund balance - beginning of year 102,189            102,189            102,189            -                    

Fund balance - end of year 134,929$          134,929$          140,653$          5,724$              

Budgeted Amounts

City of Farmington Hills
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

General Debt Service Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

Special assessments -$                  -$                  14,208$            14,208$            

State and other sources -                    68,000              40,599              (27,401)             

Investment income 20,000              431,234            576,590            145,356            

Other revenue -                    -                    6,426                6,426                

Total revenues 20,000              499,234            637,823            138,589            

Expenditures

Capital outlay 13,964,250       18,122,552       6,597,712         (11,524,840)      

Debt service 452,543            452,543            -                    (452,543)           

Total expenditures 14,416,793       18,575,095       6,597,712         (11,977,383)      

Deficiency of revenues over expenditures (14,396,793)      (18,075,861)      (5,959,889)        12,115,972       

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers in 7,600,000         7,600,000         7,600,000         -                    

Issuance of debt 5,420,000         7,000,000         7,000,457         457                   

Total other financing sources (uses) 13,020,000       14,600,000       14,600,457       457                   

Net change in fund balance (1,376,793)        (3,475,861)        8,640,568         12,116,429       

Fund balance - beginning of year 7,372,950         7,372,950         7,372,950         -                    

Fund balance - end of year 5,996,157$       3,897,089$       16,013,518$     12,116,429$     

Budgeted Amounts

City of Farmington Hills
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Capital Improvement Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Actual

Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues

Investment income 30,000$            67,002$            31,108$            (35,894)$           

Expenditures

Capital outlay 130,300            162,774            157,022            (5,752)               

Deficiency of revenues over expenditures (100,300)           (95,772)             (125,914)           (30,142)             

Fund balance - beginning of year 336,052            336,052            336,052            -                    

Fund balance - end of year 235,752$          240,280$          210,138$          (30,142)$           

Budgeted Amounts

City of Farmington Hills
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Community Center Renovations Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Financial Trends:

These schedules contain certain trend information to help the reader understand how the City’s financial position and performance have changed over time.

Revenue Capacity:

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the factors affecting the City’s ability to generate its main income source - property taxes.

Debt Capacity:

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City’s current level of outstanding debt and the ability to issue

additional debt in the future.

Demographic Information:

These schedules present various demographic and economic indicators for the reader to understand the environment within the City that affects the City’s

financial statements.

Operating Information:

These schedules contain information about the City’s operations and resources to help the reader understand how the City’s financial information relates to

the services the City provides and the activities it performs.

This part of the City of Farmington Hills’ comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a context for understanding what the information

in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplemental information says about the City’s overall financial health. Many of the schedules present

data for the past fiscal years that will allow the reader to discern trends that cannot be seen in a single year’s financial statements.

Contents

Sources

Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the comprehensive annual financial reports for the relevant year.

City of Farmington Hills

Description of Statistical Section



2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Governmental Activities:

Net investment in capital assets 133,625,640$       132,814,511$       136,304,301$       140,687,061$       142,784,702$       152,362,081$       172,734,509$       189,055,502$       198,014,183$       202,562,652$       

Restricted 16,177,067           14,835,556           17,383,179           25,378,243           27,368,668           14,735,839           9,572,011             15,291,028           26,870,546           38,125,414           

Unrestricted 23,858,724           6,399,143             5,341,244             (914,254)               5,817,769             (2,327,893)            (4,906,858)            6,839,971             6,714,540             11,972,365           

Total net position 173,661,431$       154,049,210$       159,028,724$       165,151,050$       175,971,139$       164,770,027$       177,399,662$       211,186,501$       231,599,269$       252,660,431$       

Business-type Activities:

Net investment in capital assets 73,322,194$         65,547,709$         72,467,388$         66,261,936$         66,690,516$         66,301,953$         68,910,061$         70,436,527$         72,709,369$         78,773,242$         

Unrestricted 64,951,514           72,052,142           67,206,707           75,685,405           77,017,904           78,451,561           76,963,942           74,991,278           71,512,451           65,525,528           

Total net position 138,273,708$       137,599,851$       139,674,095$       141,947,341$       143,708,420$       144,753,514$       145,874,003$       145,427,805$       144,221,820$       144,298,770$       

Primary Government in Total:

Net investment in capital assets 206,947,834$       198,362,220$       208,771,689$       206,948,997$       209,475,218$       218,664,034$       241,644,570$       259,492,029$       270,723,552$       281,335,894$       

Restricted 16,177,067           14,835,556           17,383,179           25,378,243           27,368,668           14,735,839           9,572,011             15,291,028           26,870,546           38,125,414           

Unrestricted 88,810,238           78,451,285           72,547,951           74,771,151           82,835,673           76,123,668           72,057,084           81,831,249           78,226,991           77,497,893           

Total net position 311,935,139$       291,649,061$       298,702,819$       307,098,391$       319,679,559$       309,523,541$       323,273,665$       356,614,306$       375,821,089$       396,959,201$       

City of Farmington Hills
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Expenses:

General government 14,315,814$        13,799,558$        16,208,153$        12,966,197$        15,467,484$        17,593,114$        16,985,367$        10,616,854$        17,807,296$        17,441,760$        

Public safety 26,778,223          30,663,569          31,598,884          32,569,828          33,101,621          38,570,736          37,350,515          30,488,230          35,374,948          41,650,599          

Public services 18,265,922          17,710,227          19,333,197          20,560,119          20,309,790          27,456,946          21,949,505          21,792,879          21,642,494          27,687,683          

Health and Welfare -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       199,574               359,628               

Community and economic development 1,383,537            1,582,677            2,175,213            1,938,615            1,995,922            1,925,343            1,970,504            2,550,617            2,182,133            2,754,805            

Recreation and culture 8,470,535            8,774,076            9,000,976            8,990,365            9,769,002            8,664,042            9,436,459            9,703,991            14,302,545          15,919,670          

Interest on long-term debt 704,688               734,698               499,969               571,203               521,785               470,284               1,191,147            918,731               785,557               687,530               

Total expenses 69,918,719          73,264,805          78,816,392          77,596,327          81,165,604          94,680,465          88,883,497          76,071,302          92,294,547          106,501,675        

Program revenues:

Charges for services

General government 4,952,419            4,982,503            5,623,842            5,825,246            5,248,109            7,827,566            7,273,250            6,989,875            7,213,066            7,114,125            

Public safety 1,858,740            2,115,647            2,098,423            2,170,085            2,070,345            2,332,747            2,645,120            2,181,621            2,570,605            3,007,330            

Public services 2,162,983            1,929,655            2,135,470            2,046,939            2,174,599            3,809,043            3,285,783            2,796,015            2,475,015            4,038,117            

Community & economic development 226,124               352,890               561,734               368,733               80,679                 -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

Recreation and culture 4,403,579            4,450,090            4,638,028            4,744,048            4,858,219            4,840,888            3,643,577            3,781,843            6,736,483            7,936,003            

Total charges for services 13,603,845          13,830,785          15,057,497          15,155,051          14,431,951          18,810,244          16,847,730          15,749,354          18,995,169          22,095,575          

Operating grants and contributions 7,938,020            8,858,842            11,345,832          16,625,862          11,125,360          12,322,939          11,806,082          20,024,920          17,479,719          20,049,311          

Capital grants and contributions 209,289               331,999               148,957               175,637               851,238               -                       -                       -                       7,635                   -                       

Total program revenue 21,751,154          23,021,626          26,552,286          31,956,550          26,408,549          31,133,183          28,653,812          35,774,274          36,482,523          42,144,886          

Excess of Expenses Over Program Revenue (48,167,565)         (50,243,179)         (52,264,106)         (45,639,777)         (54,757,055)         (63,547,282)         (60,229,685)         (40,297,028)         (55,812,024)         (64,356,789)         

General revenues:

Property taxes 38,910,074          39,015,386          46,644,560          46,432,310          48,612,050          50,044,486          61,198,407          62,969,729          64,470,701          67,592,794          

State-shared revenues 6,359,066            6,477,230            6,773,437            7,824,407            8,112,310            8,589,005            8,542,647            9,759,804            10,996,874          11,056,305          

Investment earnings 414,038               396,972               718,517               518,714               879,918               1,872,340            2,206,577            600,963               -                       6,333,121            

Gain (loss) on disposal -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       144,963               157,129               160,606               -                       140,958               

Special Items -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       (8,982,681)           -                       -                       -                       -                       

Miscellaneous 2,083,279            3,401,950            3,107,106            2,625,365            3,113,354            680,257               754,560               438,153               780,305               294,773               

Total general revenues 47,766,457          49,291,538          57,243,620          57,400,796          60,717,632          52,348,370          72,859,320          73,929,255          76,247,880          85,417,951          

Transfers (51,752)                (59,369)                -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

Change in net position (452,860)$            (1,011,010)$         4,979,514$          11,761,019$        5,960,577$          (11,198,912)$       12,629,635$        33,632,227$        20,435,856$        21,061,162$        

Source:  Annual financial statements

City of Farmington Hills
Changes in Governmental Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Program Revenue

Water and sewer 24,749,466$          25,401,057$          26,460,743$          27,747,324$          27,029,571$          29,546,893$          27,163,569$          30,238,018$          31,011,125$          34,313,232$          

Capital grants and contributions 281,559                 352,150                 265,413                 847,316                 2,204,688              713,391                 1,182,295              2,083,715              1,227,275              1,467,055              

Total program revenue 25,031,025            25,753,207            26,726,156            28,594,640            29,234,259            30,260,284            28,345,864            32,321,733            32,238,400            35,780,287            

Operating Expenses

Water and sewer 26,344,508            26,769,838            24,962,971            26,340,919            27,618,360            30,060,159            28,168,384            32,567,104            33,444,385            38,031,569            

Interest expense 166,488                 322,305                 426,514                 556,588                 781,888                 980,526                 747,083                 730,656                 639,980                 381,016                 

Total operating expenses 26,551,741            27,092,143            25,389,485            26,897,507            28,400,248            31,040,685            28,915,467            33,297,760            34,084,365            38,412,585            

Net (Expenses) Revenue (1,520,716)             (1,338,936)             1,336,671              1,697,133              834,011                 (780,401)                (569,603)                (976,027)                (1,845,965)             (2,632,298)             

General Revenue - Investment earnings and other 920,925                 605,710                 737,573                 576,113                 927,068                 1,825,495              1,690,092              529,829                 (1,038,294)             2,709,248              

Transfers 51,752                   59,369                   -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total Change in Net Position (548,039)$              (673,857)$              2,074,244$            2,273,246$            1,761,079$            1,045,094$            1,120,489$            (446,198)$              (2,884,259)$           76,950$                 

Change in Net Position - Primary Government (1,000,899)$           (1,684,867)$           7,053,758$            14,034,265$          7,721,656$            (10,153,818)$         13,750,124$          33,186,029$          17,551,597$          21,138,112$          

City of Farmington Hills
Changes in Business-type Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

General Fund:

Nonspendable 996,654$               839,501$               1,032,308$            983,364$               838,111$               867,649$               858,835$               304,826$               587,647$               240,863$               

Restricted -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        618,051                 

Committed 22,408                   22,408                   22,409                   22,409                   22,409                   -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

Assigned 12,178,626            12,888,638            16,409,880            17,599,194            19,224,548            20,714,136            18,207,555            19,711,996            35,554,064            4,490,061              

Unassigned 11,599,339            13,987,360            13,418,341            14,558,909            14,941,090            15,684,325            20,905,683            25,512,066            11,072,450            50,944,877            

Total general fund 24,797,027$          27,737,907$          30,882,938$          33,163,876$          35,026,158$          37,266,110$          39,972,073$          45,528,888$          47,214,161$          56,293,852$          

All other governmental funds:

Unassigned reported in:

Debt service funds (279,629)$             -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      102,189$               -$                      

Nonspendable

Special revenue funds -                        32                          -                        199,698                 -                        -                        612                        -                        -                        -                        

Capital project funds -                        2,405                     -                        -                        78,500                   -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

Restricted

Special revenue funds 8,532,419              8,217,395              9,301,626              10,213,655            16,215,802            18,117,308            13,089,014            15,745,839            24,854,395            30,101,867            

Capital project funds 796,306                 -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        15,953,360            1,334,343              7,709,002              402,745                 

Debt service funds 2,177,737              2,097,263              2,113,034              2,094,668              1,994,366              -                        -                        -                        102,189                 -                        

Committed

Special revenue funds 52,534                   52,536                   52,986                   52,997                   53,159                   -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

Capital project funds 643,726                 241,695                 874,876                 1,670,443              2,445,103              -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

Assigned

Special revenue funds -                        150,000                 -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

Capital project funds 2,386,920              2,126,379              2,902,057              1,778,128              3,771,142              3,768,298              5,485,305              7,323,118              7,709,002              15,820,911            

Debt service funds 164,698                 162,297                 162,344                 144,293                 137,484                 146,786                 273,594                 89,047                   102,189                 140,653                 

Total other governmental funds 14,474,711$          13,050,002$          15,406,923$          16,153,882$          24,695,556$          22,032,392$          34,801,885$          24,492,347$          40,578,966$          46,466,176$          

Source: Annual Financial Statements

City of Farmington Hills
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Revenue

Property taxes 38,909,350$         39,244,016$         46,644,560$         46,432,310$         48,612,050$         50,218,109$         61,198,407$         62,969,729$         64,516,770$         67,607,002$         

Special assessments 1,103,197             954,676                1,267,377             2,102,178             2,284,000             1,402,272             -                        -                        -                        -                        

Licenses and permits 1,357,184             1,224,287             1,558,094             1,913,682             1,417,161             1,783,163             1,890,690             1,620,709             1,685,309             2,151,403             

Federal grants 1,250,376             1,187,938             1,321,952             1,528,952             1,345,653             963,179                1,296,311             6,734,127             5,332,309             5,936,454             

State-shared revenue and grants 12,822,738           13,441,669           14,284,441           15,546,926           17,428,020           19,179,709           18,857,483           20,925,527           22,913,998           24,889,326           

Other grants and contributions 255,452                280,500                254,787                259,606                273,269                174,372                175,836                2,024,962             349,362                12,067                  

Charges for services 9,598,537             10,228,020           11,020,824           10,939,531           11,062,483           11,407,257           11,626,315           10,736,549           13,692,720           16,504,638           

Fines and forfeitures 2,141,689             2,179,726             2,145,354             2,006,801             2,085,541             2,197,948             1,751,346             1,647,759             1,548,589             1,531,952             

Investment income 414,038                396,972                718,517                518,714                879,918                1,926,079             2,207,078             600,996                (2,495,624)            6,338,501             

Other and equipment rental 2,239,825             3,192,688             2,686,204             2,883,400             3,691,309             3,067,183             2,543,594             2,085,684             2,693,431             2,426,003             

Total revenue 70,092,386           72,330,492           81,902,110           84,132,100           89,079,404           92,319,271           101,547,060         109,346,042         110,236,864         127,397,346         

Expenditures

Current:

General government 13,584,599           12,087,690           11,924,336           12,354,442           12,700,889           12,896,343           13,221,497           13,189,248           14,092,538           13,882,188           

Public safety 26,920,590           28,781,433           28,583,053           29,916,423           30,556,875           30,825,852           31,940,936           32,563,982           34,375,131           35,666,482           

Public services 12,863,648           12,388,557           14,299,423           15,523,489           14,115,430           19,879,270           36,699,154           30,821,569           26,200,373           34,404,521           

Health and Welfare -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        199,480                360,687                

Community and economic development 1,542,280             1,559,679             2,141,207             2,024,943             1,984,459             1,924,657             1,969,161             2,556,330             2,239,964             2,750,891             

Recreation and culture 7,102,151             7,521,804             7,789,813             7,862,950             8,488,297             8,642,314             8,249,851             8,535,568             12,394,600           13,919,586           

Capital outlay 5,980,088             5,695,657             9,723,407             21,574,339           8,069,908             15,913,541           15,541,788           22,632,176           7,847,129             7,744,776             

Debt service 2,827,739             2,867,814             2,031,223             2,211,018             2,943,763             2,845,901             4,020,961             4,641,397             3,151,843             3,296,323             

Total expenditures 70,821,095           70,902,634           76,492,462           91,467,604           78,859,621           92,927,878           111,643,348         114,940,270         100,501,058         112,025,454         

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures (728,709)               1,427,858             5,409,648             (7,335,504)            10,219,783           (608,607)               (10,096,288)          (5,594,228)            9,735,806             15,371,892           

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Debt issuance -                        -                        -                        14,015,246           -                        -                        25,297,018           4,125,000             -                        7,331,707             

Transfers in 10,402,521           10,291,938           14,270,227           17,870,989           16,749,125           22,750,816           29,593,899           28,725,383           29,403,087           27,908,567           

Transfers out (10,454,273)          (10,351,307)          (14,270,227)          (17,870,989)          (16,749,125)          (22,750,816)          (29,593,899)          (28,725,383)          (29,403,087)          (27,908,567)          

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 61,001                  147,682                92,304                  112,115                184,173                185,395                274,726                162,171                122,706                176,682                

Debt defeasance -                        -                        -                        (3,763,960)            -                        -                        -              (3,600,278)  -              -              

Total other financing sources (uses) 9,249                    88,313                  92,304                  10,363,401           184,173                185,395                25,571,744           686,893                122,706                7,508,389             

Net change in fund balances (719,460)               1,516,171             5,501,952             3,027,897             10,403,956           (423,212)               15,475,456           (4,907,335)            9,858,512             22,880,281           

Fund Balances - Beginning of year 39,991,198           39,271,738           40,787,909           46,289,861           49,317,758           59,721,714           59,298,502           74,773,958           70,021,235           79,879,747           

Prior Period Adjustment -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        154,612                -                        -                        

Fund Balances - End of year 39,271,738$         40,787,909$         46,289,861$         49,317,758$         59,721,714$         59,298,502$         74,773,958$         70,021,235$         79,879,747$         102,760,028$       

City of Farmington Hills
Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)
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Tax Year Residential Commercial Industrial Personal Property IFT Total Value Tax Rate (mills)

Estimated Actual

Value

Taxable Value as a

% of Actual

2014 2,071,108,470$          654,855,950$             92,381,530$               235,714,160$             2,101,850$                 3,056,161,960$          12.3806                      3,260,293,240$          93.74%

2015 2,140,673,280            647,245,830               94,923,440                 245,515,980               1,515,030                   3,129,873,560            14.3908                      3,555,094,530            88.04%

2016 2,181,346,960            649,105,680               93,312,600                 203,299,780               1,036,930                   3,128,101,950            14.3273                      3,752,944,510            83.35%

2017 2,244,198,190            666,176,630               94,984,180                 202,500,580               929,350                      3,208,788,930            14.6569                      3,975,835,450            80.71%

2018 2,328,645,800            686,193,840               105,437,480               195,872,700               846,360                      3,316,996,180            14.5794                      4,151,773,160            79.89%

2019 2,424,630,660            715,406,880               111,975,400               207,556,420               667,030                      3,460,236,390            17.1905                      4,407,606,380            78.51%

2020 2,517,986,910            746,753,390               120,726,760               211,527,870               603,160                      3,597,598,090            17.0117                      4,652,525,100            77.33%

2021 2,595,436,420            782,346,140               125,654,300               226,793,400               221,760                      3,730,452,020            16.8566                      4,908,706,890            76.00%

2022 2,750,297,650            858,650,680               137,060,770               231,069,790               3,369,780                   3,980,448,670            16.5693                      5,237,966,510            75.99%

2023 2,938,629,300            923,405,640               145,725,250               230,364,150               3,512,890                   4,241,637,230            16.5195                      5,722,759,540            74.12%

Note: Under Michigan law, the revenue base is taxable value. Taxes levied in a particular "tax year" become revenue of the subsequent fiscal year

Source: City Assessing Department records

City of Farmington Hills
Assessed Value and Actual Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Years

(Unaudited)
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Tax Year

General 

Operating Debt

Voted 

Special 

Purpose

Total Direct 

Taxes County OCPTA Library

Oakland 

Community 

College

Schoolcraft 

Community 

College 

Intermediate 

School 

District

State 

Education

School: 

Homestead 

Farmington

School: 

Homestead 

Clarenceville

School: 

Homestead 

Walled Lake

School: Non-

Homestead 

Farmington

School: Non-

Homestead 

Clarenceville

School: Non-

Homestead 

Walled Lake

Zoo 

Authority Art Institute

2013 8.0579    0.6313         3.6646         12.3538       4.6461         0.5900         1.5856         1.5844         1.7967         3.3690         6.0000         13.0140       4.5000         7.4730         20.5600       22.5000       23.1445       0.1000      0.2000      

2014 8.0792    0.6368         3.6646         12.3806       4.6461         1.0000         1.5856         1.5844         1.7967         3.3690         6.0000         11.7472       4.5000         7.6843         20.2600       22.5000       23.4872       0.1000      0.2000      

2015 8.2774    0.4488         5.6646         14.3908       4.5456         0.9998         1.5856         1.5819         1.7967         3.3633         6.0000         12.4418       4.5000         7.2841         21.4400       22.5000       23.1180       0.0998      0.1996      

2016 8.2218    0.4671         5.6384         14.3273       4.4938         0.9941         1.5781         1.5707         1.7880         3.3398         6.0000         12.1482       4.5000         7.0150         21.4400       22.5000       22.9279       0.0990      0.1981      

2017 8.6232    0.4434         5.5903         14.6569       4.4908         0.9863         1.5644         1.5555         1.7766         3.3079         6.0000         11.4268       4.5000         6.9458         21.3000       22.5000       20.4179       0.0980      0.1961      

2018 8.6410    0.3892         5.5492         14.5794       4.4878         1.0000         1.5517         1.5431         1.7662         3.2813         6.0000         11.3026       4.4626         6.7968         21.3000       22.4626       22.5643       0.0982      0.1945      

2019 8.4314    0.5216         8.2375         17.1905       4.4846         0.9927         1.5393         1.5303         2.2516         3.2539         6.0000         10.8634       4.3831         6.2300         21.3000       22.3831       21.9531       0.0973      0.1929      

2020 8.1883    0.6017         8.0666         16.8566       4.5691         0.9765         1.5062         1.5057         2.2700         3.2012         6.0000         9.4482         4.2940         6.0742         21.2000       22.2940       21.5648       0.0956      0.1897      

2021 8.0081    0.5887         7.9725         16.5693       4.5187         0.9765         1.4860         1.4891         2.2700         3.1658         6.0000         8.4667         4.2257         4.5969         20.4523       22.2257       21.3430       0.0945      0.1945      

2022 7.9583    0.5887         7.9725         16.5195       4.5187         0.9500         1.4742         1.4891         2.2700         3.1658         6.0000         8.7764         4.2257         4.6300         21.2000       22.2257       21.3761       0.0945      0.1945      

Note: Includes Capital, Refuse Removal and Economic Development Millages

Source: City Assessing Department records

Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates

City of Farmington Hills

Overlapping Taxes

(Unaudited)

Last Ten Years
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Taxpayer  2023 Taxable Value  Percentage of Total  2014 Taxable Value  Percentage of Total 2014 Rank

1 Oakland Management Co. 75,689,220$               1.79 63,277,950$               2.07 1

2 Detroit Edison 41,874,060                 0.99 33,049,350                 1.08 2

3 Consumers Energy 37,904,160                 0.89 8,510,170                   N/A N/A

4 Meadows at Hunters Ridge LLC 34,982,870                 0.83 12,472,910                 0.41 9

5 Independence Green Apts 28,150,040                 0.66 12,583,400                 0.41 8

6 FH Corporate Investors (Kojaian) 26,868,250                 0.63 22,274,220                 0.73 5

7 Green Hill Apts 20,708,050                 0.49 17,200,840                 0.56 6

8 Nissan Corp 19,376,020                 0.46 27,629,060                 0.90 4

9 FREG Farmington Hills 16,891,110                 0.40 9,951,850                   0.33 N/A

10 LREH 16,489,040                 0.39 N/A N/A

Source:  City Assessing Department Records

(Unaudited)

Last Ten Years

Principal Property Taxpayers

City of Farmington Hills
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Fiscal Year  Total Levy (1)  Collections  Percent Collected 

 Delinquent Collections 

(Real)  Total Tax Collections 

 Percent of Levy 

Collected 

2014 37,629,773$                36,922,255$                98.12% 650,236$                     37,572,491$                99.85%

2015 37,756,272                  37,247,698                  98.65% 464,793                       37,712,491                  99.88%

2016 44,773,169                  44,164,096                  98.64% 563,701                       44,727,797                  99.90%

2017 44,753,190                  44,190,157                  98.74% 525,565                       44,715,722                  99.92%

2018 46,939,639                  46,311,617                  98.66% 585,082                       46,896,699                  99.91%

2019 48,336,062                  47,730,339                  98.75% 556,469                       48,286,808                  99.90%

2020 59,410,292                  58,585,869                  98.61% 731,998                       59,317,867                  99.84%

2021 61,140,114                  60,420,160                  98.82% 644,250                       61,064,410                  99.88%

2022 62,882,476                  62,230,047                  98.96% 554,277                       62,784,324                  99.84%

2023 65,955,776                  65,199,295                  98.85% 648,934                       65,848,229                  99.84%

(1) Does not include penalty and interest on late payment of taxes.

Source: City Treasurer's Office records

City of Farmington Hills
Property Tax Levies and Collections

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Governmental Activities:

General obligation bonds 15,237,784$              13,375,000$              12,240,000$              10,870,000$              9,380,000$                31,940,000$              30,775,000$              28,370,000$              25,995,000$              32,280,000$              

Special assessment bonds 2,135,000                  1,860,000                  11,290,000                11,020,000                10,100,000                9,110,000                  7,585,000                  6,845,000                  6,050,000                  6,950,000                  

Total governmental activities 17,372,784                15,235,000                23,530,000                21,890,000                19,480,000                41,050,000                38,360,000                35,215,000                32,045,000                39,230,000                

Business-type Activities:

County contractual obligations 16,982,242                19,524,676                30,610,124                34,018,350                31,558,439                30,079,769                28,552,514                25,524,019                26,529,960                32,888,963                

Total Debt of the Government 34,355,026$              34,759,676$              54,140,124$              55,908,350$              51,038,439$              71,129,769$              66,912,514$              60,739,019$              58,574,960$              72,118,963$              

Total Taxable Value 3,045,845,690$         3,056,161,960$         3,129,873,560$         3,128,101,950$         3,208,788,930$         3,316,996,180$         3,460,236,390$         3,597,598,090$         3,730,452,020$         3,980,448,670$         

Ratio of Total Debt to Taxable Value 1.13% 1.14% 1.73% 1.79% 1.59% 2.14% 1.93% 1.69% 1.57% 1.81%

Total Population 81,798                       81,910                       81,412                       81,803                       81,129                       81,093                       80,612                       83,986                       83,292                       82,737                       

Total Debt per Capita 420$                          424$                          665$                          683$                          629$                          877$                          830$                          723$                          703$                          872$                          

Personal Income 2,356,493,265$         2,382,461,814$         2,370,596,289$         2,367,002,730$         2,317,845,555$         2,349,102,738$         2,757,410,271$         2,828,780,496$         2,963,545,056$         3,328,866,552$         

Ratio of Debt to Personal Income 1.46% 1.46% 2.28% 2.36% 2.20% 3.03% 2.43% 2.15% 1.98% 2.17%

Source: City Annual Financial Statements: Population data reported from demographics data.

(Unaudited)

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Ratios of Outstanding Debt

City of Farmington Hills

  7 - 10



Fiscal Year

Ended June 30

Advalorem + IFT 

Assessed

Value (SEV)

Estimated

Population

General

Bonded Debt

Outstanding

Obligation Debt to 

Assessed Value 

(Percent)

General Obligation Debt 

per Capita

2014 3,260,293,240$               81,798 15,521,374$                    0.50%                             189.75                             

2015 3,555,094,530                 81,910 13,772,393                      0.42%                             168.14                             

2016 3,752,944,510                 81,412 12,492,161                      0.35%                             153.44                             

2017 3,975,835,450                 81,803 11,216,930                      0.30%                             137.12                             

2018 4,151,773,160                 81,129 9,701,699                        0.24%                             119.58                             

2019 4,407,606,380                 81,093 8,015,000                        0.19%                             98.84                               

2020 4,652,525,100                 80,612 30,500,000                      0.69%                             378.36                             

2021 4,908,706,890                 83,986 27,095,000                      0.55%                             322.61                             

2022 5,237,966,510                 83,292 25,995,000                      0.50%                             312.09                             

2023 5,722,759,540                 82,737 32,280,000                      0.56%                             390.15                             

Note:  General bonded debt - Includes General Obligation and Building Authority Bonds.

Note: As of 2011, General Bonded Debt includes General Obligation Bonds for the Ice Arena.

The debt service requirements of all remaining debt are currently funded through revenue sources other than property taxes.

(Unaudited)

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding

City of Farmington Hills
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Jurisdiction

Net General

Bonded Debt

Outstanding

Percent Applicable

to Farmington

Hills Taxpayers

Amount Applicable

to Farmington

Hills Taxpayers

Direct Debt - City of Farmington Hills 25,995,000$                       100.00%                             25,995,000$                       

Overlapping debt:

Farmington School District 173,975,000                       86.69%                               150,818,928                       

Walled Lake School District 313,745,000                       2.96%                                 9,286,852                           

Oakland County at Large 181,894,707                       5.78%                                 10,513,514                         

Oakland County Intermediate School District 39,675,000                         5.81%                                 2,305,118                           

Oakland Community College -                                      - %                                 -                                      

Schoolcraft Community College 50,820,000                         0.64%                                 325,248                              

Total overlapping debt 760,109,707                       173,249,660                       

Total direct and overlapping debt 786,104,707$                     199,244,660$                     

Note: Direct debt - For the purpose of this schedule, direct debt is defined as all 

Governmental Activities bonded debt less deferred amounts.

Source:  City Records and the Municipal Advisory Council of Michigan

City of Farmington Hills
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

June 30, 2023

(Unaudited)
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Debt Limit (Fiscal Year Ended) (1)

State equalized valuation (previous year) 3,087,553,500$  3,260,293,240$  3,555,094,530$  3,752,944,510$  3,975,835,450$  4,151,733,160$  4,652,525,100$  4,908,706,890$  5,237,966,510$  5,722,759,540$  

Debt limit (10 percent of SEV) (2) 308,755,350       326,029,324       355,509,453       375,294,451       397,583,545       415,173,316       465,252,510       490,870,689       523,796,651       572,275,954       

Debt Applicable to Debt Limit

Total bonded debt 34,355,026         34,759,676         54,140,124         55,908,350         51,038,439         71,129,769         66,912,514         60,739,019         58,574,960         72,118,963         

Less deductions allowed by law:

Special Assessment Bonds 2,135,000           1,860,000           11,290,000         11,020,000         10,100,000         9,110,000           7,585,000           6,845,000           6,050,000           6,950,000           

Total amount of debt applicable to debt limit 32,220,026         32,899,676         42,850,124         44,888,350         40,938,439         62,019,769         59,327,514         53,894,019         52,524,960         65,168,963         

Legal Debt Margin 276,535,324$     293,129,648$     312,659,329$     330,406,101$     356,645,106$     353,153,547$     405,924,996$     436,976,670$     471,271,691$     507,106,991$     

Net Debt Subject to Limit as Percentage of Debt Limit 10.44% 10.09% 12.05% 11.96% 10.30% 14.94% 12.75% 10.98% 10.03% 11.39%

(1) The legal debt limit continues to be derived from State Equalized Value (SEV), not Taxable Value (TV).

(2) Debt limit set forth in Section 4a, Act 279 of 1909 and Act 202, P.A. 1943 as amended by Act 42 P.A. 1960

Source: City budget and financial statements

City of Farmington Hills
Legal Debt Margins

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)
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Fiscal year Population

Median Personal 

Income Per 

Household

Median Per Capita 

Personal Income Unemployment Rate

Number of Occupied 

Households

Total Personal 

Income

2014 81,798                     (1) 67,803$                   28,809$                   7.6%                        34,755                     2,356,493,265$       

2015 81,910                     (1) 67,803                     29,086                     5.6%                        35,138                     2,382,461,814         

2016 81,412                     (1) 67,803                     29,119                     5.1%                        34,963                     2,370,596,289         

2017 81,803                     (1) 67,803                     28,935                     3.6%                        34,910                     2,367,002,730         

2018 81,129                     (1) 67,803                     28,570                     3.9%                        34,185                     2,317,845,555         

2019 81,093                     (1) 67,803                     28,968                     4.0%                        34,646                     2,349,102,738         

2020 80,612                     (1) 81,203                     44,789                     16.3%                      33,957                     2,757,410,271         

2021 83,986                     (2) 83,268                     45,494                     2.3%                        33,972                     2,828,780,496         

2022 83,292                     (2) 85,152                     50,082                     2.9%                        34,803                     2,963,545,056         

2023 82,737                     (2) 93,434                     50,287                     2.2%                        35,628                     3,328,866,552         

(2) https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/farmingtonhillscitymichigan

Note: Personal income is equal to the median household income and only available per the decennial census data/American Factfinder/ SEMCOG

(1) U.S. Department of Commerce/Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics/SEMCOG

City of Farmington Hills
Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)
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Employer 2023 Employees Percentage of Total 2014 Employees Percentage of Total 2014 Rank

1 Mercedes-Benz 1,460                       2.18% 600                          1.49% 7                              

2 Beaumont Hospital - Farmington Hills (1) 1,336                       2.00% 2,746                       6.80% 1                              

3 Farmington Public Schools 1,200                       1.80% 1,418                       3.51% 3                              

4 Trinity Health 1,200                       1.80% N/A N/A N/A

5 TD Auto Finance 1,188                       1.78% N/A N/A N/A

6 ZF TRW 829                          1.24% N/A N/A N/A

7 Robert Bosch Corporation 650                          0.97% 1,600                       3.96% 2                              

8 Nissan Technical Center 800                          1.20% 500                          1.24% 10                            

9 Panasonic 608                          0.91% N/A N/A N/A

10 Judson Center 529                          0.79% N/A N/A N/A

Source: City Records, Individual Employers and United States Census Bureau

(1) In 2013, was Botsford Hospital

City of Farmington Hills
Principal Employers

June 30, 2023

(Unaudited)
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Function/Program 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

General Government

City administration 5.50                6.00                6.00                6.00                5.10                4.79                4.65                5.65                5.65                5.70                

Finance 19.00              20.00              20.00              20.00              20.09              20.09              20.00              20.00              20.50              20.50              

City clerk 6.65                6.31                6.34                6.35                6.20                6.28                6.78                6.38                6.81                6.87                

Human resources 4.00                4.00                4.00                4.14                4.14                4.14                4.14                5.40                6.40                6.40                

Central services 9.40                9.40                9.40                9.40                9.90                9.90                9.97                10.88              10.88              10.88              

Public Safety

Police 152.88            153.88            154.14            153.79            153.74            152.79            153.47            154.22            160.22            163.22            

Fire and EMS 93.63              93.63              93.63              91.70              93.92              91.69              92.81              93.99              95.99              103.99            

Public Services

Administration 4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                

Road maintenance 22.46              23.46              26.92              26.92              27.92              26.46              26.49              27.49              26.81              26.81              

Building maintenance 4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                

Engineering 15.31              15.31              15.31              15.39              15.32              15.32              15.99              17.47              17.28              17.28              

D.P.W. garage 11.00              12.00              13.00              13.00              12.00              11.60              10.60              10.60              10.60              10.75              

Waste collection/recycling 1.00                1.00                1.00                1.00                1.00                1.00                1.00                1.00                1.00                1.00                

Planning and Community 

     Development 18.60              18.00              19.00              19.04              19.37              19.50              19.50              20.00              20.00              20.00              

Special Services

Administration 20.95              20.98              21.15              20.55              22.25              22.00              23.00              39.10              42.64              40.49              

Public information 4.00                4.00                4.00                6.10                6.10                6.10                5.50                5.50                6.00                8.50                

Youth and families 8.00                8.00                9.56                9.73                9.73                9.73                9.73                7.88                9.73                -                 

Senior adults 27.53              27.53              26.13              26.13              26.16              26.25              27.01              27.96              27.08              27.08              

Parks division 24.87              24.87              25.83              25.70              25.59              24.92              26.92              26.55              26.17              26.17              

Cultural arts 2.75                3.40                3.47                3.47                3.47                3.47                3.47                6.41                7.04                16.77              

Golf course division 13.17              13.01              13.57              13.46              13.41              13.43              13.43              12.88              12.88              12.88              

Recreation -                 10.32              11.81              11.69              12.05              12.92              13.15              33.36              48.30              48.30              

Ice arena 14.13              14.13              12.66              13.16              13.41              13.16              13.66              13.66              13.66              16.66              

Total 482.83            497.23            504.92            504.72            508.87            503.54            509.27            554.38            583.64            598.25            

Source:  City personnel/budget records

City of Farmington Hills
Full-time Equivalent Government Employees

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)

 7 - 16



Function/Program 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Police:

Physical Arrests 3,002            3,016            2,486            2,805            2,830            2,692            1,579            1,750            1,819            2,899            

Traffic violations 10,441          9,305            7,606            8,861            9,000            9,593            6,833            5,696            8,342            12,123          

Fire:

Total incidents 8,539            8,763            9,027            9,208            9,524            9,500            10,383          10,920          11,354          12,250          

Public education programs 98                 104               112               112               140               140               128               130               55                 95                 

Fire loss 3,901,800$   4,200,900$   2,719,603$   2,830,913$   8,577,000$   3,888,500$   $3,229,451 $3,753,450 $2,298,561 $7,500,000

Public works:

Dwelling units receiving refuse service 23,227          23,320          23,329          23,343          23,356          23,372          23,393          23,452          23,467          23,493          

Percentage of waste stream recycled 44.20            43.40            44.00            39.40            42.00            42.00            40.00            40.00            36.80            36.00            

Parks and recreation:

Recreation programs 2,630            2,640            2,660            2,670            2,690            2,714            2,735            2,850            2,860            2,905            

Water:

Water customers 22,768       22,838       22,910       22,982       22,966       23,094       23,101       23,151       23,185       23,205       

Water main breaks 81              52              40              53              47              39              49              68              74              71              

Total consumption (mcf) 400,658     351,872     370,493     391,749     371,701     340,512     339,627     365,736     364,353     347,516     

Average consumption per user (mcf/year) 17.60         15.41         16.17         17.05         16.18         14.75         14.70         15.80         15.72         14.98         

Sewer:

Average consumption per user (mcf/year) 15.69         17.01         17.06         18.36         18.12         18.75         18.76         17.60         18.33         15.53         

Metered Volume (mcf) 352,562     383,701     385,851     416,257     410,961     426,641     427,282     401,646     418,967     355,362     

Sewer customers 22,473       22,553       22,618       22,667       22,684       22,756       22,771       22,820       22,858       22,878       

Source:  City records, Department annual reports, and Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner's Office 

City of Farmington Hills
Operating Indicators

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)
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Function/ program 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Police:

Stations 1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                

Fleet vehicles 67              67              68              69              69              69              72              66              74              73              

Fire:

Stations 5                5                5                5                5                5                5                5                5                5                

Trucks (4) 17              18              18              17              16              16              16              16              17              17              

Public Works - Streets (miles)

Major 58.36         58.36         58.36         58.36         58.36         58.36         58.36         58.36         58.36         58              

Local 246.38       246.38       246.38       246.38       246.38       246.87       246.87       246.87       246.87       247            

Parks and recreation:

Acreage 636            636            636            636            636            636            669            669            669            669            

Playgrounds 4                4                4                6                6                6                6                6                6                6                

Football/Soccer fields (2) 19              19              19              19              19              19              19              19              19              19              

Baseball/Softball diamonds (3) 12              12              12              12              12              12              13              13              13              13              

Pools/Splash pads 2                2                2                2                2                2                3                4                4                4                

Ice arena 1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                

Community center 0 0 0 0 0 1                2                2                2                2                

Senior center 1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                

Golf course 1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                

Water:

Mains (miles) 449            456            456            457            459            459            459            470            471            475            

Fire hydrants 5,103         5,115         5,126         5,156         5,169         5,169         5,169         5,230         5,250         5,305         

Storage capacity (gallons) 3,000,000  3,000,000  3,000,000  3,000,000  3,000,000  3,000,000  3,000,000  3,000,000  3,000,000  3,000,000  

Sewer:

Miles of sanitary sewers 328            328            329            329            329            329            330            330            330            330            

Treatment capacity (1)               (1)               (1)               (1)               (1)               (1)               (1)               (1)               (1)               (1)               

Source:  City records, department annual reports, and Oakland County Drain Commission 

(1) Information not available

(2) Plus the City maintains 31 football/soccer fields for other entities.

(3) Plus the City maintains 30 baseball/softball diamonds for other entities.

(4) Plus 18 other vehicles and equipment. 

City of Farmington Hills
Capital Asset Statistics

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Unaudited)
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December 4, 2023 
 
 
City Council and Management 
City of Farmington Hills 
Farmington Hills, MI 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of City of Farmington Hills (the City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023.  Professional standards require 
that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, 
Government Auditing Standards and the Uniform Guidance, as well as certain information related to the planned 
scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such information in our engagement letter to you dated 
June 1, 2023. Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related 
to our audit. 
 
We discussed these matters with various personnel in the City during the audit including management. We would 
also be pleased to meet with you to discuss these matters at your convenience.   

Significant Audit Matters  
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the City are described in the footnotes of the financial statements. The City has 
adopted the following Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements effective July 1, 2022: 

• Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements is based on the standards 
established in Statement No. 87 Leases. This statement (1) defines a SBITA as a contract that conveys 
control of the right to use a SBITA vendor’s IT software, alone or in combination with tangible capital 
assets, as specified in the contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like transaction (2) 
requires governments with SBITAs to recognize a right-to-use subscription asset, an intangible asset, 
and a corresponding subscription liability, and (3) provides guidance related to outlays other than 
subscription payments, including implementation costs, and requirements for note disclosures related to 
a SBITA. 

 
We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is lack of authoritative guidance 
or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period.    
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based 
on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future 
events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the City’s financial statements were:   
 

• The useful lives of its capital assets. Useful lives are estimated based on the expected length of time 
during which the asset is able to deliver a given level of service.  
 

• Net pension liability, and related deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources. The 
estimate is based on an actuarial report.   
 



 

 2  

• Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) asset, and related deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources. The estimate is based on an actuarial report.  
 

• Allowance for doubtful accounts.  Management’s estimate is based on the judgement of collectability and 
aging of the accounts receivable balances. 
 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates in determining that they are 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent and clear.   

A significant risk is an identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditors’ professional 
judgment, requires special audit consideration. Within our audit, we focused on the following areas: 

• Management override of controls 

• Improper revenue recognition 

• Implementation of new accounting standard 
 
Accounting Standards and Regulatory Updates 
 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has released additional Statements. Details regarding these 
Statements are described in the footnotes of the financial statements.  
 
Implementation Guide No 2021-1, Implementation Guidance Update-2021 has an amended response related to 
the capitalization of assets purchased as a group. Under the amended guidance, governments should capitalize 
individual items when the purchase in the aggregate is considered significant, even if the individual items are 
less than the capitalization threshold of the government. The effective date for implementation is for reporting 
periods beginning after June 15, 2023 (effectively, for the first year ended June 30, 2024 or later) and requires 
retroactive implementation.  
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit.  

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements  

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, 
other than those that are clearly trivial and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. 
Management has corrected all such misstatements. 
 
The following material misstatements were detected as a result of our audit procedures and corrected by 
management: 
 

• The City’s Major Roads and Local Roads funds required an adjustment of $696,296 and $242,149, 
respectively, to account for Act 51 revenue accruals. 

 
There were no known uncorrected misstatements that were more than trivial. 
 
Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the 
auditors’ report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit.  
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Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated as of the date of the audit report. 
 
Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of an 
accounting principle to the City’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that may 
be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with 
us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations 
with other accountants.   
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City’s auditors. However, these discussions 
occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our 
retention. 

Emphasis of Matters in Independent Auditors’ Report  

Our report will include the following emphasis of matter paragraph: 

Adoption of New Accounting Standard 

As discussed in Note 16 to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 2023 the City 
adopted new accounting guidance, GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information 
Technology Arrangements. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Reports 

Other information that is required to be reported to you is included in the:  Independent Auditors’ Report on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial 
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards; Independent Auditors’ Report on 
Compliance For Each Major Federal Program; Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over 
Compliance;  Independent Auditors’ Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the 
Uniform Grant Guidance; and the Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs. Please read all information 
included in those reports to ensure you are aware of relevant information.  

Report on Required Supplementary Information 

We applied certain limited procedures to management’s discussion and analysis and the remaining required 
supplementary information (RSI) as described in the table of contents of the financial statements that 
supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of 
the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance 
on the RSI. 

Report on Other Supplementary Information 

We were engaged to report on other supplementary information as described in the table of contents of the 
financial statements, which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this 
supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and 
methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles 
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generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior 
period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We 
compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare 
the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.  

Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
 

The City’s audited financial statements are included in their annual comprehensive financial report.  Our 
responsibility for the other information contained in the annual comprehensive financial report does not extend 
beyond the financial information identified in our audit report.  We do not have an obligation to perform any 
procedures to corroborate the other information contained in the introductory section and statistical section.  
However, we read the other information and considered whether such information, or the manner of its 
presentation, was materially inconsistent with information, or the manner of its presentation, appearing in the 
financial statements.  Nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that such information, or its manner 
of presentation, was materially inconsistent with the information, or manner of its presentation, appearing in the 
financial statements. 

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council and management of the City 
and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 

 
 
Auburn Hills, Michigan 



City of Farmington Hills 

Single Audit 

June 30, 2023 
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an 

Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

Management and the City Council 
City of Farmington Hills
Farmington Hills, Michigan  
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Farmington Hills, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the City of Farmington Hills’ basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 4, 2023. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Farmington Hills' (the “City”) internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our 
opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Farmington Hills’ internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Farmington Hills’ internal control.  
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of 
performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We identified a certain deficiency in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings 
and questioned costs as item 2023-001 that we consider to be a material weakness.  
 



 

2 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of 
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required 
to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.  
 
City of Farmington Hills’ Response to Findings and Corrective Action Plan 
 
Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the City’s response to the finding identified in our audit and 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The City’s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 
 
The City is responsible for preparing a corrective action plan to address each audit finding included in our auditors’ report. The City’s corrective 
action plan was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
Auburn Hills, Michigan 
December 4, 2023 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

3 

 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program; Report on Internal Control Over Compliance; and 
Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report 

 
Management and the City Council 
City of Farmington Hills
Farmington Hills, Michigan 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited the City of Farmington Hills’ (the “City”) compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the 
OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 
2023. The City’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs. 
 
In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material 
effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS); the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the 
audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in 
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 
 
We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating 
to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for 
each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to 
above.  
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective 
internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or agreements applicable to 
the City’s federal programs. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above 
occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the City’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance 
resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the 
City’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the City’s compliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of the City’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
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program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such 
opinion is expressed. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over compliance and 
the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component 
units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes 
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated December 4, 2023, 
which contained unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial 
statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is 
the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 

 
Auburn Hills, Michigan 
December 4, 2023 
 



Current Year

Federal Grantor Assistance Federal or Cash

Pass-Through Grantor Listing Pass-Through Federal Transferred To

Program or Cluster Title Number Grant Number Expenditures Subrecipients

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

CDBG Entitlement Grants Cluster

Community Development Block Grant Entitlement 2018 14.218 B-18-MC-26-0032 125,748$           -$                   

Community Development Block Grant Entitlement 2019 14.218 B-19-MC-26-0032 62,175               -                     

Community Development Block Grant Entitlement 2020 14.218 B-20-MC-26-0032 201,432             -                     

Community Development Block Grant Entitlement 2021 14.218 B-21-MC-26-0032 197,915             -                     

Community Development Block Grant Entitlement 2022 14.218 B-22-MC-26-0032 210,418             42,500               

COVID-19 - Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 14.218 B-20-MC-26-0032 10,949               -                     

Program Income - program Year 2021 carry over 14.218 N/A 89,132               -                     

Program Income - program Year 2022 14.218 N/A 153,377             -                     

Total CDBG Entitlement Grants Cluster 1,051,146          42,500               

U.S. Department of Justice

Federal Equitable Sharing Program 16.922 N/A 120,820             -                     

U.S. Department of Treasury 

Coronavirus Relief Funds

Direct Programs

   COVID-19 - Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027 1505-0271 4,052,390          -                     

National Endowment for the Arts

Passed through Michigan Council for Arts and Cultural Affairs

Promotion of the Arts Partnership Agreement 45.025 22PS4632 2,250                 -                     

U.S Election Assistance Commission

Passed through Michigan Department of State

Help America Vote (HABA) Election Security Grant 90.404 N/A 16,918               -                     

City of Farmington Hills
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

See Accompanying Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
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Current Year

Federal Grantor Assistance Federal or Cash

Pass-Through Grantor Listing Pass-Through Federal Transferred To

Program or Cluster Title Number Grant Number Expenditures Subrecipients

City of Farmington Hills
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Passed through Area Agency on Aging

Aging Cluster

Special Programs for the Aging - Title III Part C - Nutrition Services 93.045 21-9018-CH 31,830$             -$                   

Special Programs for the Aging - Title III Part C - Nutrition Services 93.045 22-9018-CH 121,611             -                     

Total Special Programs for the Aging - Title III Part C - Nutrition Services 153,441             -                     

Nutrition Services Incentive Program 93.053 21-9018-CH 29,921               -                     

Nutrition Services Incentive Program 93.053 22-9018-CH 52,604               -                     

Total Nutrition Services Incentive Program 82,525               -                     

Total Aging Cluster 235,966             -                     

U.S. Office of National Drug Control Policy

Passed through Oakland County

High Intensity Drug Trafficking Area 95.001 2023 6,100                 -                     

U.S. Department of Homeland Security

Direct Program

COVID-19 - Farmington Hills COVID Activities 97.036 PA-05-MI-4494-PW-00189 83,151               -                     

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 5,568,741$        42,500$             

See Accompanying Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
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Note 1 - Basis of Presentation 
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award activity of the City under programs of the 
federal government for the year ended June 30, 2023. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards 
(Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City, it is not intended to and does not present 
the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the City. 
 
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Expenditures 
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual or modified accrual basis of accounting.  Such expenditures are recognized 
following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance where certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement.   
 
Indirect Cost Rate 
The City of Farmington Hills has elected to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance. 
 
Note 3 - Reconciliation to the Financial Statements  
 

Federal revenue per the governmental funds 5,936,454$       

Non-federal grants included with federal grants (96,256)             

Forfeiture expenditures not included in revenue (271,456)           

Rounding (1)                      

Total expenditures of federal awards 5,568,741$       

 
Note 4 - Subrecipients  
Of the federal expenditures presented in the Schedule, the City provided federal awards to subrecipients as follows: 
 

Assistance

Listing Number Amount

14.218 42,500$       
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Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

June 30, 2023 
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Section I – Summary of Auditors’ Results  
 
Financial Statements 
 
Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements were prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles:  
Unmodified 
 
Internal control over financial reporting: 
 

• Material weakness(es) identified?            X  yes        no 
 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified                yes      X  none reported 
 
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?              yes      X   no 
 
Federal Awards 
 
Internal control over major federal programs: 
 

• Material weakness(es) identified?              yes      X  no 
 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified                yes      X  none reported 
 
Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major federal programs:    Unmodified 
 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance 
with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?               yes      X  no 
 
Identification of major federal programs: 
Assistance Listing Number(s)     Name of Federal Program or Cluster 
 
21.027     Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 
14.218     CDBG Entitlement Cluster 
 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs:   $ 750,000 
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?            X      yes         no 



 
 

City of Farmington Hills 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

June 30, 2023 
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Section II – Government Auditing Standards Findings  
 
Finding 2023-001 – Material Weakness – Audit Adjustments  
 

Criteria: Management is responsible for reporting reliable financial data in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP).  

 
Condition:  Material adjustments were identified by the auditors and calculated and posted by the City to increase the Act 

51 accounts receivable and revenue in the Major Roads Fund and Local Roads Fund ($696,296 and $242,149, 
respectively) for money received after year-end that related back to fiscal year 2023.  

 
Cause and Effect:  The Controller’s office had staff turnover throughout the year. With the added complexities each year brings with 

new GASB pronouncements and new grant requirements, the City of Farmington Hills did not have adequate 
time to finish a final review of all funds prior to providing the trial balance to the auditors.  This resulted in the 
auditors identifying the aforementioned two material journal entries during the year-end closing process that 
were not originally detected by the City of Farmington Hills.  To put this in context, the City records over 100 
journal entries each year to close the books. 

 
Recommendation:  We recommend that the City of Farmington Hills implement a process where a second review is performed over 

all year-end adjustments in order to ensure all material journal entries are identified and recorded.  Further, we 
recommend that the City of Farmington Hills does a more thorough review of the trial balances at year-end for 
reasonableness prior to the start of the audit. 

 
Views of Responsible  
Officials: Management agrees with the finding. 
 
Corrective Action Plan: See attached corrective action plan. 

 
Section III – Federal Award Findings 
 
There were no findings or questioned costs for Federal Awards for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
 

 



 
 

City of Farmington Hills 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

June 30, 2023 
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Section IV – Prior Audit Findings 
 
Government Auditing Standards Findings 
 
There were no Government Auditing Standards findings for the year ended June 30, 2022. 
 
Federal Award Findings 
 
There were no findings or questioned costs for Federal Awards for the year ended June 30, 2022. 
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December 6, 2023 

 

Condition: Material adjustments were identified by the auditors and calculated and posted by the City to increase the Act 51 accounts 

receivable and revenue in the Major Roads Fund and Local Roads Fund ($696,296 and $242,149, respectively) for money received 

after year-end that related back to fiscal year 2023. 

 

Planned Corrective Action: Accruing Act 51 revenues were included on a year-end audit checklist.  This audit checklist was reviewed 

by the Finance Director, however, this particular item was missed.  In the future, the audit checklist will be certified by a second 

person to ensure completeness. 

 

Contact person responsible for corrective action: Thomas C. Skrobola, Finance Director/Treasurer 

 

Anticipated Completion Date: 12/6/2024 

 

 

 
 

 



Inter-Office Correspondence 

DATE: December 11, 2023 

TO: Gary Mekjian, City Manager  

FROM: Charmaine Kettler-Schmult, Director of Planning and Community Development 

SUBJECT: Site Plan 52-4-2023 – Certificate of Need - Construction of Cellular Tower 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

Applicant: Atlas Tower Group, Bill Williams, Territory Manager 

Owner: Motel Rainbow 

Sidwell: 22-23-35-105-017

Zoning:   B-3, General Business District

Master Plan: 

Location:    

Non-Center Type Business  

30691 Grand River Avenue

Description: 

The applicant has submitted for City Council consideration proposed Site Plan 52-4-2023 and Project Narrative 
which seeks to permit the construction of a one-hundred-and-twenty (120)-foot-tall cellular tower and associated 
fenced, 50’ x 50’ equipment enclosure on the site of an existing motel.  

Cellular towers are a principal permitted use within the B-3 District, subject to the standards of Section 34-4.24 of 
the Zoning Ordinance. Although cellular towers are a principal permitted use, Section 34-4.24 requires public 
hearings at both the Planning Commission and City Council.  

Per Section 34-4.24.1 of the Zoning Ordinance, the maximum height of a cellular tower shall not exceed one-hundred 
(100) feet measured from grade at the base of the tower when occupied by one (1) telecommunications provider.
However, in the event that the tower provides antennae for more than one (1) provider, as is proposed in the subject
application, the maximum height may be increased to one-hundred-and-twenty (120) feet measured from grade at the
base of the tower.

Please see Giffels Webster’s review attached for a detailed review of the plans. The application does not request any 
exceptions from the applicable standards of the Zoning Ordinance.  

Procedural Background: 

• September 21, 2023 –  Planning Commission unanimously passes motion (6-0) setting application for
public hearing (minutes) 

• October 26, 2023 – Following public hearing, Planning Commission unanimously passes motion (9-0) 
recommending approval of application to City Council (minutes) 



Inter-Office Correspondence 

Standard of Review: 

Following tonight’s public hearing, Section 34-4.24.8.A.i.-v. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that City Council 
determine whether the applicant has demonstrated that the following standards are met;  

• The proposed facility is needed because of proximity to an interstate highway or major highway or major
thoroughfare, or its proximity to areas of population concentration, or concentrations of commercial,
industrial and/or business centers; or

• The proposed facility is needed because there are areas where signal interference has occurred due to tall
buildings, masses of trees or other obstructions; and

• The proposed facility is needed because the telecommunications provider is unable to co-locate its proposed
facility with another provider; and

• The proposed facility is needed to complete its grid as it relates to the needs of Farmington Hills and its
surrounding communities and that there are no suitable sites in any of said surrounding communities.

• The proposed facility is designed to operate within the requirements for radio frequency emissions of the
Federal Communications Commission and applicant has operated similar facilities within these requirements
consistently.

If such standards are met, Council shall issue a certificate of need for the application. 

Possible Council Actions: 

Suggested Motion for APPROVAL: 

If City Council elects to approve Site Plan 52-4-2023, the following motion is suggested: 

Resolve to issue a certificate of need approving Site Plan 52-4-2023, because the applicable standards of Section 34-
4.24 of the Zoning Ordinance are met, subject to the following conditions: 

(1) The applicant shall make adequate provision for removal of all or part of the facility by users and owners
when the facility has not been used for one-hundred-and-eighty (180) days or more; for purposes of this
condition, the removal of antennas or other equipment from the facility, or the cessation of operations
(transmission and/or reception of radio signals) shall be considered as the beginning of a period of nonuse;
and

(2) The applicant shall deposit with the City a performance guarantee of $5,000 as security for the removal of
the tower if abandoned for use of cellular facilities.

Suggested Motion for POSTPONEMENT: 

Resolve to postpone Site Plan 52-4-2023 to allow for the applicant to provide additional information [please specify] 
necessary to demonstrate that the applicable standards of Section 34-4.24 of the Zoning Ordinance are met.  

Department Authorization by: Charmaine Kettler-Schmult, Director of Planning and Community 
Development 

Prepared by:  Erik Perdonik, City Planner 

Attachments: 

• Site Plan 52-4-2023
• Site Plan 52-4-2023 Project Narrative
• Giffels Webster’s review, dated June 27, 2023
• Engineering Division review, dated August 7, 2023



Inter-Office Correspondence 

• Fire Department review, dated August 16, 2023
• September 21, 2023, Planning Commission meeting minutes
• October 26, 2023, Planning Commission meeting minutes
• Public Notice
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 28 W. Adams, Suite 1200  |  Detroit, Michigan  48226  |  (313) 962-4442   
www.GiffelsWebster.com 

June 27, 2023 
 
Farmington Hills Planning Commission 
31555 W 11 Mile Rd 
Farmington Hills, MI 48336 
 

Site Plan Review 
 
Case:   52-4-2023  
Site:    30691 Grand River Ave (Parcel 22-23-35-105-017) 
Applicant:  Bill Williams, Atlas Tower Group 
Plan Date:  6/8/23 
Zoning:   B-3 General Commercial 
 
We have completed a review of the application for site plan approval referenced above and a summary 
of our findings is below. Items in bold require specific action by the Applicant.  Items in italics can be 
addressed administratively.   
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SUMMARY OF FINDINGS  
 
Summary of Proposal 
 
The applicant is proposing a new, 120-foot cellular tower on the site of an existing motel. The 
installation will include a fenced, 50’ x 50’ equipment enclosure. Cellular towers are a permitted use in 
the B-3 district, subject to the standards of Section 34-4.24. Though they are a permitted use, Section 
34-4.24 requires public hearings at both the planning commission and city council.  
 
Existing Conditions 
 
1. Zoning. The site is zoned B-3 General Commercial.  

2. Existing site.  The site is developed with a motel. The southern third of the site is largely open, apart 
from a detention pond. The site has frontage on both Grand River Avenue and Freedom Road.   

3. Adjacent properties.  

Direction Zoning Land Use 
North (across GR) B-3 Commercial 
East  B-3 Place of worship 
South M-5 (RA-3 beyond) M-5 (single family beyond) 
West B-3 U-Haul 

4. Access and circulation. The site is accessed from Grand River, but has an unimproved drive onto 
Freedom Road as well.  

Site Plan and Landscape Plan  
 
1. Dimensional Standards (B-3 district and Cell Tower Standards of 4.24). Cellular towers have distinct 

standards; many of the underlying district standards are modified for this use. This table considers the 
district setbacks, and other dimensional standards contained in 34-4.24 below (see item 6 below for 
more). Setbacks must be provided to review compliance.  

Item Required (B-3) Required (4.24) Proposed/Comments 
Min. lot size --  -- 
Min. lot width --  -- 
Front Setback (north) 25 ft 50 ft 285 ft, 3 in 
Rear Setback (south) 25 ft 50 ft 165 ft, 7 in 
Side Setback (east) 10 ft  30 ft 20 ft 
Side Setback (west) 10 ft 30 ft 142 ft, 2 in 
Setback to RA, RC, 
MH, RP & SP-1 -- 500 ft 529 ft, 11 in to RA-3 district 

Height -- 

100 ft/120 if 
multiple 
colocations 
accommodated 

120 feet with up to 4 colocation 
opportunities (124 ft to top of 
lightning rod) 

2. Mechanical Equipment (34-5.1.4.D). The mechanical equipment associated with this tower is 
proposed to be located within a fenced enclosure at the base of the tower.  
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3. Fences (34-5.12.2.) and Walls (34-5.15.) The applicant proposes to surround the equipment enclosure 
with a fence. The fence is no longer proposed to be topped with barbed wire.   

4. Minimum parking (34-5.2.11). Parking is not required for the tower; the enclosure and area around 
it provide an area for the service technician to park.  

5. Lighting (Section 34-5.16).  

6. Cellular Tower Standards (Section 34-4.24). Section 34-4.24 sets forth standards for cellular towers. 
Some of these are addressed above. The remainder are addressed below: 

a. Location. When located on a property with another permitted use, towers shall not be located in 
a front yard or in a side yard abutting a street. This lot is a through lot; the tower is in the side 
yard, which does not abut a street. 

b. The applicant must demonstrate the need for the tower, based on the following five criteria: 

i. The proposed facility is needed because of proximity to an interstate highway or major 
thoroughfare, or its proximity to areas of population concentration, or concentrations of 
commercial, industrial and/or business centers; or 

ii. The proposed facility is needed because there are areas where signal interference has 
occurred due to tall buildings, masses of trees or other obstructions; and  

iii. The proposed facility is needed because the telecommunications provider is unable to co-
locate its proposed facility with another provider; and 

iv. The proposed facility is needed to complete its grid as it relates to the needs of Farmington 
Hills and its surrounding communities and that there are no suitable sites in any of said 
surrounding communities. 

v. The proposed facility is designed to operate within the requirements for radio frequency 
emissions of the Federal Communications Commission and applicant has operated similar 
facilities within these requirements consistently. 

c. Equipment buildings are required to match principal buildings on the site; no equipment 
building appears to be proposed at this point; such shelters would be constructed by others at 
the time of location on the tower. 

d. The tower is a monopole design, as required. 
e. The tower is set among existing vegetation screening two sides of the enclosure, and arborvitae 

are proposed along the other two sides.  
f. A decommissioning agreement has been provided, per the applicant’s letter dated June 12, 

2023.  
g. If any exceptions to these standards are required, they must be granted by City Council.  

 
 
 
 
 
We are available to answer questions.  
 
Respectfully, 
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Giffels Webster  

    
 
Joe Tangari, AICP 
Principal Planner 
 
 

 
 
Current zoning 
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MINUTES 
CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
31555 W ELEVEN MILE ROAD 

FARMINGTON HILLS, MICHIGAN 
September 21, 2023, 7:30 P.M. 

 
CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
The Planning Commission Regular Meeting was called to order by Chair Countegan at 7:30 p.m. 

 
ROLL CALL 

 

Commissioners present: Countegan, Grant, Trafelet, Stimson, Varga, Ware 

Commissioners Absent: Aspinall, Brickner, Mantey, 

Others Present: City Planner Perdonik, City Attorney Schultz, Planning Consultant 
Tangari 

 
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

 

As there were members of the public who were waiting to offer comment from the 6:30 Study Session, 
and as the first agenda item had been postponed at the request of the applicant, the following motion was 
offered: 

 
MOTION by Trafelet, support by Varga, to amend and approve the agenda as follows: 
• Add Public Comment following Approval of Agenda, in order to allow public comment from 

the 6:30pm Study Session to continue, and 
• Delete 4.A. Site Plan 65-8-2023 (Planned Unit Development 3, 2021) 

Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 
A. SITE PLAN 52-4-2023 

LOCATION: 30691 Grand River Avenue 
PARCEL I.D.: 22-23-35-105-017 
PROPOSAL: Construction of cellular tower in B-3, General Business zoning 

districts 
ACTION REQUESTED: Set for public hearing 
APPLICANT: Atlas Tower Group, Bill Williams, Territory Manager 
OWNER: Motel Rainbow 

 
Planning Consultant Tangari explained that tonight’s action was to set this item for public hearing. A 
full review, based on his June 27, 2023 written memorandum, would be made at the time of the public 
hearing. The applicant had addressed all issues at a pre-application meeting. 

 
Planning Consultant Tangari provided the following information: 
• The applicant is proposing a new, 120’ cellular tower at 30691 Grand River Avenue. 
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• Cellular towers are a permitted use in the B-3 district, subject to the standards of 34-4.24, which 
requires public hearings at both the Planning Commission and City Council. 

 
Applicant Bill Williams, Atlas Tower Group, was present on behalf of this application. Amy 
Burroughs and Lydia Brent were also present from Atlas Tower Group. 

 

Mr. Williams explained that the proposed cellular tower will replace the tower at the Farmington 
Junction building – located about a half mile away – that is being sold. The new tower will be an 
upgrade and will have full potential to serve the telecommunications need in the area for the 
foreseeable future. 

 
Atlas Tower Group will develop the site and own the tower. T-Mobile is the anchor tenant, with other 
providers also co-locating on the tower. 

 
In response to questions, the applicants explained that the tower will not be camouflaged to look like 
something else, such as a tree. The tower will be constructed above the 100-year floodplain. The site 
had a slight difference in slope (perhaps one or two feet) from Grand River to Freedom Road. 

 
In response to questions from the Commission, Chair Countegan explained that City Ordinance 
regulated cellular towers in the City. 

 
City Attorney Schultz added that federal and state statutes limited how cellular towers can be 
regulated. 

 
Commissioner Ware noted that the recent surveys regarding the Master Plan addressed functionality 
of internet service in the area. 

 
Chair Countegan said the public hearing would be an opportunity to communicate with residents how 
cellular towers are regulated, and address questions regarding public safety and community benefit. 

 
Mr. Williams pointed out that the public safety component of cellular towers is very important, as 
across the country over 80% of 911 calls are made on a handheld device, and in many urban 
jurisdictions that ratio goes up to 90%. AT&T is interested in the site, and AT&T is the FirstNet 
provider (First Responder Network Authority) that enables first responders to communicate 
seamlessly. 

 
Commissioner Trafelet asked how deep the footings would be, and the measure of the fall radius. Mr. 
Williams said the towers were built to stand, and the fall radius was taken into account in terms of 
location placement. He was not sure of the depth of the footings, but that information could be 
provided. 

 
In response to further questions, Mr. Williams said the Telecommunications Act of 1996 specifies 
that the governing authority on health and safety of cellular towers is the FCC, and the FCC and FDA 
and all governing authorities have deemed the cellular communication facilities as safe for human 
use. 

 
MOTION by Stimson, support by Trafelet, that Site Plan 52-4-2023, dated April 14, 2023, 
submitted by Atlas Tower Group, Bill Williams, Territory Manager, be set for public hearing, 
for the Planning Commission’s next available regular meeting agenda. 

 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 
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ADJOURNMENT 
Motion by Stimson, support by Grant, to adjourn the meeting at 9:05pm. 

Motion carried unanimously by voice vote. 

Respectfully Submitted, 
Marisa Varga 
Planning Commission Secretary 
/cem 
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MINUTES 
CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
31555 W ELEVEN MILE ROAD 

FARMINGTON HILLS, MICHIGAN 
October 26, 2023, 7:30 P.M. 

 
CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
The Planning Commission Regular Meeting was called to order by Chair Countegan at 7:30 p.m. 

 
ROLL CALL 

 

Commissioners present: Aspinall, Brickner, Countegan, Grant, Mantey, Trafelet, Stimson, Varga, 
Ware 

 
Commissioners Absent: None 

 
Others Present: City Planner Perdonik, City Attorney Schultz, Planning Consultant 

Bahm 
 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 

MOTION by Brickner, support by Trafelet, to approve the agenda as published. 

Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

A. SITE PLAN 52-4-2023 
LOCATION: 30691 Grand River Avenue 
PARCEL I.D.: 22-23-35-105-017 
PROPOSAL: Construction of cellular tower in B-3, General Business zoning 

district 
ACTION REQUESTED: Recommendation to City Council 
APPLICANT: Atlas Tower Group, Bill Williams, Territory Manager 
OWNER: Motel Rainbow 

 
Applicant presentation 
Bill Williams, Atlas Tower Group, Boulder CO, was present on behalf of this application to construct 
a cellular tower in a B-3 General Business zoning district. 

 
The tower will be located at 30691 Grand River Avenue, with T Mobile as the primary anchor tenant. 
The tower will replace the T Mobile tower currently located on the smokestack at the Farmington 
Junction building. 

 
In response to questions, Mr. Williams provided the following information: 
• As the project moves forward, other providers will be encouraged to co-locate on this tower. 

AT&T has already expressed interest; this would be an important location for AT&T’s First 
Responder system. 

• The nearest tower to this location is over 2 miles away. 



City of Farmington Hills 
Planning Commission Meeting 
October 26, 2023 
Page 2 

Approved 11-16-2023 
 

 

• Security will be provided by a 6-foot fence. Barbed wire was not allowed in the City. Atlas 
Tower Group has not had much malicious activity at their sites. 

• The tower will be a monopole. The fall zone is no longer calculated because the pole is built to 
crumble. 

• The tower will not need an FAA light. The access road off Freedom Road will not change. Atlas 
Tower will trim back the overgrowth near the tower. 

• It came out in discussion that without a co-locator the tower could only be 100’ tall. Mr. Williams 
said they would have a co-locator. 

 
Planners review 
Referencing the June 27, 2023 Giffels Webster memorandum, Planning Consultant Bahm gave the 
background and review for this application for a new, 120’ cellular tower on the site of an existing 
motel. The installation will include a fenced, 50’x50’ equipment enclosure. Cellular towers are a 
permitted use in the B-3 district, although they do require public hearings before both the Planning 
Commission and City Council. 

There were no outstanding issues. A 120’ tall pole must have up to 4 colocation opportunities. 

Public Hearing 
No public indicated they wished to speak. 

 
Commission discussion and/or action 

 

MOTION by Brickner, support by Trafelet, that the Planning Commission recommend to City 
Council that Site Plan 54-2-2023, dated April 14, 2023, submitted by Atlas Tower Group, Bill 
Williams, Territory Manager, be approved, because it appears to meet all applicable 
requirements of the Zoning Chapter, with the following condition: 
• This approval is for 100’ for a sole location, or 120’ feet for colocation(s). 

 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
None. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 

Motion by Mantey, support by Ware, to adjourn the meeting at 9:15pm. 

Motion carried unanimously by voice vote. 

Respectfully Submitted, 
Marisa Varga 
Planning Commission Secretary 

 
 

/cem 







      
 

INTEROFFICE CORRESPONDENCE 
 

 
DATE:  August 16, 2023 
 
TO:  Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Jason Baloga, Fire Marshal 
 
SUBJECT: Site Plan 52-4-2023 (30691 Grand River) 
   
The Fire Department will have no objection to approval of this proposed project contingent upon 
compliance with the following: 
 
1. Utility access easement shall not obstruct Fire Department access to rear of hotel. 
 
 

 
 
       Jason Baloga, Fire Marshal 

                                                                                        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JB/al 



CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 
CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 

www.fhgov.com 
 

 DATE: December 11, 2023 
 TIME: 7:30 P.M. 
 PLACE: Farmington Hills City Hall, City Council Chambers 
  31555 Eleven Mile Rd., Farmington Hills, MI 48336 
 ITEM: Site Plan 52-4-2023 
 
The Farmington Hills City Council shall consider an Application for Site Plan Approval, dated April 14, 2023. 
The applicant, Atlas Tower Group, Bill Williams, Territory Manager, seeks to construct a cellular tower within 
the B-3, General Business zoning district.   
 
The subject property is located at 30691 Grand River Avenue, south of Grand River Avenue, between Orchard 
Lake and Tuck Roads, and being more particularly described as: Parcel Identification Number: 22-23-35-105-
017, City of Farmington Hills, Oakland 
County, Michigan. 
 
Any interested person is invited to comment 
on the request in person at the scheduled 
hearing, or written comments may be 
submitted to the City of Farmington Hills 
Planning Office at 31555 W. Eleven Mile 
Road, Farmington Hills, Michigan 48336, or 
ckettler@fhgov.com, prior to the hearing. The 
application may be reviewed at the Planning 
Office between 8:30 a.m. and 4:30 p.m., 
Monday through Friday. 
 
Charmaine Kettler-Schmult 
Director of Planning and Community 
Development  
 
Phone: (248) 871-2540 
Email: ckettler@fhgov.com 
Publish: November 26, 2023 
 
Procedures for accommodations for persons with disabilities: 
The City will be following its normal procedures for accommodation of persons with disabilities. Those 
individuals needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should contact the City 
Clerk (248) 871-2410 at least two (2) working days in advance of the meeting. An attempt will be made to 
make reasonable accommodations. 
 

http://www.fhgov.com/
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INTEROFFICE CORRESPONDENCE 

 

DATE: December 11, 2023 

TO:   City Council 

FROM:  Theresa Rich, Mayor 

SUBJECT:  Recommendation for appointment. 

 

I would like to recommend the following appointments at the December 11, 2023 City Council 

meeting. 

 
 

Commission on Community Health 

      Length of Term:    Term ending: 

Daniel Konja     3 years    February 1, 2027 

 

Daniel will fill the vacancy left by Joseph Curran who resigned in 2022. Attached, please find 

Daniel’s resume. 

 

 

Emergency Preparedness Commission 

      Length of Term:    Term ending: 

Sean Thomas     3 years    February 1, 2027 

 

Sean will fill the alternate vacancy. Attached, please find Sean’s resume. 

 

 

Economic Development Corporation 

      Length of Term:    Term ending: 

Gerrard Allen     6 years    February 1, 2030 

 

Gerrard will fill the vacant seat. Attached, please find Gerrard’s resume. 

 

 

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 

      Length of Term:    Term ending: 

Alex Meyers     3 years    February 1, 2027 

 

Alex will fill the vacancy left by Lori McDaniel who resigned in 2021. Attached, please find 

Alex’s resume. 

 

 

 



Grand River Corridor Improvement Authority 

      Length of Term:    Term ending: 

Mary Newlin     4 years    February 1, 2028 

 

Mary will fill the vacancy left by Teresa Brazzle. Attached, please find Mary’s resume. 

 

 

Commission on Children, Youth & Families 

      Length of Term:    Term ending: 

Ashley Gabb     3 years    February 1, 2027 

 

Ashley will fill the vacancy left by Edward Cherkinsky who resigned in 2023. Attached, please 

find Ashley’s resume. 

 

 

Zoning Board of Appeals 

      Length of Term:    Term ending: 

Asim Khan     Unexpired term  February 1, 2025 

 

Asim is currently an alternate and will be promoted to full member filling the vacancy left by 

Azam Masood who resigned in 2023.  

 

 

Commission on Aging 

      Length of Term:    Term ending: 

Tiffany Tuttle     Unexpired term  February 1, 2025 

 

Tiffany will fill the vacancy left by Colleen Irvin who resigned in 2022. Attached, please find 

Tiffany’s resume.  

 















From: Dennis Randt <DRandt@fhgov.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, December 6, 2023 11:06 AM 
To: Danielle King <DKing@fhgov.com> 
Subject: RE: Boards & Commissions Applicants 
 
 
I would recommend Asim Khan  who is currently an alternate to replace Azam Masood (Vice Chair) who 
recently resigned his position because of family issues.  
 
 
From: Danielle King <DKing@fhgov.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, December 5, 2023 1:07 PM 
Subject: Boards & Commissions Applicants 
 
Good afternoon, 
 
Mayor Rich will be approving Boards & Commission applicants at the next Council meeting. If you have 
anyone you would like to recommend, please send their names to me as soon as possible. If they have 
not applied, please have them do so soon. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Danielle King 
Secretary to the City Manager 
City Manager’s Office 
O: (248) 871-2504 
Email: dking@fhgov.com 
  

 

City of Farmington Hills | www.FHgov.com  
31555 W. Eleven Mile Rd. | Farmington Hills, MI 48336 
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Danielle King

From: postmaster@muniweb.com
Sent: Saturday, August 26, 2023 2:23 PM
To: CMO
Subject: Boards and Commissions Questionnaire

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or
clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 

Submittor' s Name Tiffany Tuttle

Submittor' s Address

Submittor' s Phone

Submittor' s Email

Interest( s) Commission on Aging

Resume

Hi, I would like to be involved in the Commission on Aging. I am a geropsychologist with 15 years of experience. 
I live in FH and have been an advocate for seniors for years. One of my professional and personal goals is to
assist members of the senior population in living their best, most vibrant, and fulfilling life. TIFFANYTUTTLE
PSY.D FULLY LICENSED PSYCHOLOGIST MICHIGAN ID 6301014697 OHIO LICENSE NUMBER P.08322
Home Address: Farmington Hills, MI 48331 EDUCATION Psy.D. The
Michigan School of Psychology – Farmington Hills, MI – August 2008 M.A. The Center for Humanistic Studies – 
Farmington Hills, MI – July 2004 B.A. Wayne State University – Detroit MI – December 2002 Psychology – 
Magna Cum Laude B.A. Wayne State University – Detroit MI – December 2002 Sociology – Magna Cum Laude
Seniors Wellness Group Royal Oak, MI February 2011-present Provide psychiatric services to geriatric
populations residing in local nursing and rehabilitation facilities. Duties include but are not limited to completing
capacity evaluations, assessing residents for dementia, facilitating psychotherapy, providing behavioral
management and treatment, facilitating non- pharmacological pain management interventions, completing
certifications for inpatient psych hospitalization, and consulting with members of the interdisciplinary team as
needed. Radical Well-Being Center Southfield, MI January 2021- January 2023 Supervisor to temporary limited
licensed psychologists. I facilitate weekly individual supervision, provide case consultation, and assist therapists
in managing urgent clinical issues that arise. Family Services Incorporated Dearborn, MI June 2012-March 2014
Operated as an independent contractor providing outpatient psychotherapy to clients. Populations primarily
seen were adolescents, young adults, and older adults. Common clinical areas addressed included coping with
trauma, substance abuse, stress management, anxiety, and depression. Theoretical orientation adhered to a
combination of humanistic, psychodynamic and cognitive behavioral therapy. Counseling and Resource Center
of Dearborn Dearborn, MI Dec 2010-June 2012 Provided weekly therapy to adolescents, adults, and older
adults for various clinical issues. Senior Program Manager for Matrix Human Services Detroit, MI September
2009-May 2010 This non-profit organization has been serving the city of Detroit since 1906. It is a 20 million
dollar corporation that relies on grants to carryout services. As the program manager of our Senior Division, I
supervised a team of 16 who provided in-home wellness services to impoverished seniors across the city. 
Writing grants, budgeting, implementing monthly in-service trainings, collation of outcome measures, marketing, 
hiring, negotiating contracts and launching new program initiatives were some of the responsibilities I held. Post-
Doctoral Resident for Deer Oaks Behavioral Health Fort Worth, TX August 2008- August 2009 Provided
psychiatric services to in-patient residents at nursing and rehabilitation centers. Primary focus was placed upon
clinical work with adult and older adult patients experiencing co-occurring medical and mental health issues. 

References

Available upon request.  



Interoffice Correspondence 
________________________________________________________________________ 

DATE: December 11, 2023 

TO:  Gary Mekjian, City Manager 

FROM: Charmaine Kettler-Schmult, Director of Planning and Community 
Development  

SUBJECT: Second Amendment to Planned Unit Development (“PUD”) 5, 1993 
Agreement – Kojaian PUD – Construction of Two (2) New Office 
Buildings 

Please find attached the draft Second Amendment to the PUD 5, 1993 Agreement. The purpose 
of the draft Amendment is to revise the Agreement to permit the construction of two (2) new 
150,000-square foot office buildings on a vacant parcel on the south side of Twelve Mile Road, 
between Investment Drive and the JST site.  

The Planning Commission unanimously recommended approval of the draft Amendment to City 
Council following a public hearing on July 21, 2022 (minutes). City Council approved the plan 
(5-1) associated with the draft Amendment following a public hearing on August 22, 2022 
(minutes), which just leaves the revised text of the agreement reflecting the Council-approved 
plan to be approved by Council. The question before Council is simply whether the proposed 
agreement is consistent with the previously approved plan, as the decisions with regard to the 
specifics of the PUD Plan approval were made by Council on August 22, 2022. 

The draft Amendment to the 1993 Agreement has been reviewed by the City Attorney and 
Planning and Community Development Department staff, and it appears to be in a form 
suitable for City Council consideration. Staff will be present to address any questions.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

• City Attorney Memorandum
• Draft Second Amendment to PUD 5, 1993 Agreement and Exhibits
• July 21, 2022, Planning Commission Public Hearing Minutes
• August 22, 2022, City Council Public Hearing Minutes
• Staff memo-PUD 5, 1993 public benefits



 
STEVEN P. JOPPICH 

sjoppich@rsjalaw.com 
 

27555 Executive Drive, Suite 250 
Farmington Hills, Michigan 48331 
P 248.489.4100 | F 248.489.1726 

rsjalaw.com 
 

 
 

          

LEGAL MEMORANDUM 
 

 

TO:  Farmington Hills City Council 

 

FROM:  Steven P. Joppich, City Attorney 

  Lisa J. Hamameh, Asst. City Attorney 

 

RE:  Kojaian PUD (a/k/a NBD Bank, N.A., PUD) 

 

DATE:  December 7, 2023 

 

 

Our office has worked with City Staff to negotiate the terms of the attached “Second 

Amendment to Planned Unit Development Agreement” and “Third Amendment to 

Planned Unit Development Agreement” with the owner, developer, and their attorneys.  

We have reviewed this final draft of the Third Amendment agreement and report to 

Council that, in our opinion, it is in conformance with the requirements of the City’s zoning 

regulations concerning amendment of planned unit development agreements and City 

Council’s decisions earlier this year to approve the associated PUD Plan amendments. 
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STATE OF MICHIGAN 
COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
KOJAIAN PUD 

 
          THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (the 
"Second Amendment to PUD Agreement"), dated _______________, 2023, is made and entered 
into by and between the CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS, a Michigan municipal corporation, 
having the address of 31555 West Eleven Mile Road, Farmington Hills, Michigan 48336, hereinafter 
referred to as and called the “City”, and FARMINGTON HILLS CORPORATE INVESTORS, 
LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, whose address is 39400 Woodward Ave., Suite 250, 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304, and FARMINGTON HILLS VII CORPORATE INVESTORS, LLC, a 
Michigan limited liability company, whose address is 39400 Woodward Ave., Suite 250, Bloomfield 
Hills, MI 48304, both of whom are sometimes hereinafter referred to together as “Kojaian.” 
  

RECITALS: 
 

A. Kojaian, as successor to NBD Bank, N.A., and the City are parties to a certain 
Planned Unit Development Agreement dated October 28, 1994, recorded on January 27, 1995, in 
Liber 15225, Page 50, Oakland County Records (the “PUD Agreement”), pertaining to 
approximately 138.2749 acres of real property situated in the City of Farmington Hills, Oakland 
County, Michigan, being more particularly described in attached Exhibit A to the PUD Agreement 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Property”).  

    
B. Farmington Hills Corporate Investors is the developer of the Property and retains 

control over the common elements within the Planned Unit Development, being PUD Plan 5, 1993.  
 
C. On February 28, 2022, the City Council considered and approved a First 

Amendment to the PUD Plan 5, 1993, dated January 4, 2022, including Site Plan 65-10-2021, 
dated January 4, 2022 (hereinafter referred to as the “First Amendment”), to develop 
approximately a 2.59-acre part of parcel 22-23-17-201-014. 

 
D. On May 9, 2022, the City Council considered and approved the First Amendment 

to Planned Unit Development Agreement, dated June 6, 2022, and recorded on June 15, 2022, in 
Liber 57858, Page 733, Oakland County Records (the “First Amendment to PUD Agreement”), 
relating to the First Amendment. 

 



 

 
 

E. Farmington Hills VII Corporate Investors, LLC is the fee owner and Farmington 
Hills Corporate Investors, LLC is the developer of approximately 18.11 acres of the Property 
located at the southeast corner of W. 12 Mile Road and Investment Drive, more particularly 
described in attached Exhibit B (hereinafter referred to as the “Second Amended Property”). 

 
F. Kojaian requested a second amendment to PUD Plan 5, 1993, as it pertains to the 

Second Amended Property.   
 
G. On July 21, 2022, after providing notice as required by law, a public hearing on 

Kojaian’s application for a second amendment to PUD Plan 5, 1993, including Site Plan 58-4-2022, 
was held before the City Planning Commission.  The City did not receive objections to the 
requested amendment. 

 
H. The City Planning Commission considered and recommended City  

Council approve Kojaian’s proposed second amendment to the PUD Plan, being PUD Plan 5, 1993, 
Amended, including Site Plan 58-4-2022, to develop the Second Amended Property consistent 
with the City’s OS-4 zoning classification, subject to certain conditions. 

 

I. On August 22, 2022, the City Council considered and approved Kojaian’s proposed 
Second Amendment to the PUD Plan, being PUD Plan 5, 1993, dated August 4, 2022, including 
Site Plan 58-4-2022, dated August 4, 2022 (hereinafter referred to as the “Second Amendment,” 
and attached hereto as Exhibit C), to develop the Second Amended Property consistent with the 
City’s OS-4 zoning classification, subject to certain conditions, including the approval, execution 
and recording of a second amendment to the PUD Agreement 

 
J. Kojaian accepts any and all risks associated with the City’s approval of the Second 

Amendment and agrees to release and hold the City harmless from any and all claims, liabilities, 
causes of action, damages, judgments, attorney fees, court costs, and expenses which arise out 
of or are related to the City’s approval of the Second Amendment.  

 
K. Pursuant to Section 25 of the PUD Agreement and in accordance with the 

procedures set forth in Section 34-3.20 of the City’s Zoning Ordinance, Kojaian and the City desire 
to amend the PUD Agreement for the purposes set forth in this Second Amendment to PUD 
Agreement. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants contained herein and for other 

good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
it is agreed as follows: 
 

1. All references in the PUD Agreement to the PUD Plan, site plan, landscape plan and 
any other plans, elevations and surveys are hereby amended to include and shall be 
amended to include the First Amendment, attached to the First Amendment to PUD 
Agreement and the Second Amendment (attached hereto as Exhibit C). 
 

2. Paragraph 2 of the PUD Agreement is removed and replaced, in full, by the following:  
 

“The property shall be developed only in accordance with: (a) the Agreement, 
as amended; (b) the Planned Unit Development plan approved by City Council 



 

 
 

on August 8, 1994, as amended on February 28, 2022 and on August 22, 
2022; (c) the site plans and landscape plans that have been or are to be 
approved by the Planning Commission; and (d) the engineering plans that 
have been or are to be approved by the City Administration.” 

 
3. Paragraph 10 of the PUD Agreement is removed and replaced, in full, by the following: 

 
“Within those areas designated, by the coordinates shown on the Planned Unit 
Development plan as “greater height zones”, buildings may be constructed to 
a height not to exceed fifty-five (55) feet. The first floor level of a building 
which exceeds forty (40) feet shall not be above eight hundred sixty (860) 
feet above sea level U.S.G.S.  Not more than thirty-five percent (35%) of the 
land area covered by buildings (exclusive of parking buildings) may be devoted 
to buildings in excess of forty (40) feet in height.  In no event shall a parking 
building exceed forty (40) feet in height.  Communication towers and satellite 
antennas shall be located only within the greater height zones.  
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, two buildings on 
the Second Amended Property may be constructed to a height not to exceed 
fifty-five (55) feet and not to exceed four (4) stories, as depicted on the 
Second Amendment, being PUD Plan 5, 1993, dated August 4, 2022, including 
Site Plan 58-4-2022, dated August 4, 2022, and incorporated as Exhibit C to 
the Second Amendment to PUD Agreement.” 

 
4. Kojaian acknowledges and understands that the development of the Second Amended 

Property, particularly in relation to the utility installation under the wetlands, the 
retaining wall installation, and the fill in the wetlands in order to construct the parking 
lot, will require a permit(s) from the Michigan Department of Environment, Great 
Lakes, and Energy. 
  

5. Kojaian acknowledges that, at the time of the execution of this Second Amendment to 
PUD Agreement, Kojaian has not yet obtained engineering approvals for the 
development of the Second Amended Property. Kojaian acknowledges that the 
Engineering Division of the City may impose additional conditions other than those 
contained in this Second Amendment during its plan reviews and approvals as 
authorized by law; provided, however, that such conditions shall not be inconsistent 
with the PUD Plan, as amended by the First Amendment and Second Amendment 
documents. The plans approved by the Engineering Division and any conditions 
imposed by the Engineering Division as authorized by law shall be incorporated into 
and made a part of this Second Amendment automatically upon issuance of the City 
Engineering Division’s approval of same and without the necessity of amending this 
Second Amendment, and shall be enforceable against Kojaian in the event Kojaian 
proceeds with the development on the Second Amended Property. 
 

6. The exhibits attached hereto and the recital paragraphs set forth above are hereby 
incorporated into this Second Amendment to PUD Agreement by this reference as 
though fully set forth herein. 
 



 

 
 

7. The parties acknowledge and agree that, except as expressly set forth in the First 
Amendment to PUD Agreement and this Second Amendment to PUD Agreement; all 
of terms, conditions and obligations contained in the Agreement remain unchanged 
and are in full force and effect.  
 

8. This Second Amendment to PUD Agreement shall be recorded at the Oakland County 
Register of Deeds Office. 

 
[Signatures on Next Page] 



 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands on the day and year set forth 
with the notarization of their signatures. 
 
 

KOJAIAN: 
 
FARMINGTON HILLS CORPORATE INVESTORS, 
LLC, a Michigan limited liability company 
 
 
By:  Kojaian Acquisitions XI, LLC a Michigan 

limited liability company 
Its: Sole Member 
 By: KOJAIAN ACQUISITIONS XI-MM,  
  INC., a Michigan corporation 
 Its: Manager 
 
 
 By: ______________________________ 
  Anthony G. Antone, Esq.  
 Its:  Vice President 

 

 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 

 ) ss 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 

 
 
 

On this ____ day of ________________, 2023, before me personally appeared Anthony 
G. Antone the Vice President of Kojaian Acquisitions XI-MM, Inc., a Michigan corporation which is 
the Manager of Kojaian Acquisitions XI, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, which is the 
sole member of Farmington Hills Corporate Investors, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, 
who acknowledged that he signed this Agreement on behalf of said company. 
 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Notary Public 
Oakland County, Michigan 
Acting in Oakland County, Michigan 
My Commission Expires:  _______________ 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

FARMINGTON HILLS VII CORPORATE 
INVESTORS, LLC, a Michigan limited liability 
company 
 
By: ______________________________ 
 Anthony G. Antone, Esq.  
Its:  Vice President 

 
 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 

 ) ss 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 

 
On this ____ day of ________________, 2023, before me personally appeared Anthony 

G. Antone, the Vice President of Kojaian Acquisitions XI-MM, Inc., a Michigan corporation which 
is the Manager of Farmington Hills VII Corporate Investors, LLC, a Michigan limited liability 
company, who acknowledged that he/she signed this Agreement on behalf of said company. 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Notary Public 
Oakland County, Michigan 
Acting in Oakland County, Michigan 
My Commission Expires:  _______________   



 

 
 

CITY: 

 CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS,  

 a Michigan municipal corporation 
 
 
 ____________________________________ 

 By: Gary Mekjian 

 Its: City Manager 

 

 

 ____________________________________ 

 Attested: Pamela B. Smith 

 Its: City Clerk 

 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 

 ) ss 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 

 

On this ____ day of ________________, 2023, before me personally appeared Gary 
Mekjian, the City Manager, and Pamela B. Smith, the City Clerk, who acknowledged that they 
signed and attested to this Agreement on behalf of the City of Farmington Hills. 

 
 
____________________________________ 
Notary Public 
Oakland County, Michigan 
Acting in Oakland County, Michigan 
My Commission Expires:  _______________ 

 
 
 

Drafted Jointly By: 
Steven P. Joppich, Esq. 
Rosati Schultz Joppich & Amtsbuechler, P.C. 
27555 Executive Drive, Suite 250 
Farmington Hills, MI 48331-3550 
 
and 
 

When Recorded, Return To: 
City Clerk 
City of Farmington Hills 
31555 West Eleven Mile Road 
Farmington Hills, MI 48336-1165 

Jennifer Hill, Esq. 

Farmington Hills Corporate Investors, LLC  

39400 Woodward Ave., Suite 250  

Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 

  



 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

PROPERTY LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

(Attached)  

 

 
  





 

 

Exhibit B 

SECOND AMENDED PROPERTY LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

  



DESCRIPTION OF A 28.59 ACRE PARCEL (FUTURE PARCEL A) OF LAND LOCATED IN THE 
NORTH 1/2 OF SECTION 17, T1N, R9E, CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS, OAKLAND COUNTY, 
MICHIGAN

Commencing at the North 1/4 corner of Section 17, Town 1 North, Range 9 East, City of Farmington Hills, 
Oakland County, Michigan, thence South 01 degrees 53 minutes 59 seconds East 120.00 feet to the 
Southerly Right-of-Way line of 12 Mile Road (Variable Width) for a PLACE OF BEGINNING; thence along 
said Southerly Right-of-Way line, North 88 degrees 06 minutes 09 seconds East 1063.58 feet; thence 
South 02 degrees 03 minutes 48 seconds East 46.39 feet; thence South 14 degrees 25 minutes 54 
seconds East 102.16 feet; thence South 02 degrees 03 minutes 48 seconds East 313.94 feet; thence 
South 55 degrees 38 minutes 31 seconds West 253.68 feet; thence South 02 degrees 18 minutes 07 
seconds East 708.87 feet to the Northerly Right-of-Way line of Interstate 696 (300 feet wide); thence 
along said Northerly line the following two courses: South 85 degrees 28 minutes 10 seconds West 
210.71 feet and 240.75 feet along the arc of a curve to the left (having a Central Angle of 01 degrees 11 
minutes 08 seconds, a Radius of 11,634.65 feet and a Chord bearing South 84 degrees 54 minutes 31 
seconds West, 240.74 feet); thence North 03 degrees 05 minutes 46 seconds West 272.15 feet; thence 
North 63 degrees 01 minutes 14 seconds West 289.81 feet; thence North 62 degrees 07 minutes 25 
seconds West 608.03 feet; thence North 02 degrees 57 minutes 08 seconds West 84.05 feet; thence 
North 87 degrees 58 minutes 27 seconds East 30.58 feet; thence North 02 degrees 01 minutes 33 
seconds West 60.00 feet; thence North 87 degrees 58 minutes 27 seconds East 121.37 feet; thence 
North 27 degrees 24 minutes 44 seconds East 234.53 feet; thence North 01 degrees 54 minutes 03 
seconds West 265.28 feet to the Southerly Right-of-Way line of said 12 Mile Road; thence North 88 
degrees 05 minutes 57 seconds East 95.28 feet along said Southerly Right-of-Way line to the Place of 
Beginning, containing 28.59 acres of land, more or less, being subject to easements, conditions, 
restrictions and exceptions or record, if any.

Vacant Property
Parcel ID Part of 23-17-201-014
Farmington Hills VII Corporate Investors, LLC



 

 

EXHIBIT C 

 

SECOND 2022 PLAN AMENDMENT 

(Attached) 





2NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

Know what's below.
      Call before you dig.

SITE BENCHMARKS:

LEGEND



BM #2

BM #5

BM #3

BM #4

3NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

Know what's below.
      Call before you dig.

SITE BENCHMARKS:

SITE DATA                                   
PARCEL SUMMARY

BUILDING DATA

STANDARD PARKING DATA

ACCESSIBLE PARKING DATA

FRONT YARD OPEN SPACE

LEGEND                                                                          





5NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

Know what's below.
      Call before you dig.



6NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

Know what's below.
      Call before you dig.



7NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

Know what's below.
      Call before you dig.



8NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

Know what's below.
      Call before you dig.





10

GENERAL NOTES                   

MAINTENANCE / WARRANTY

PLANT MATERIALS                

INSTALLATION                        

PLANTING NOTES                  

LAWN INSTALLATION            

SEEDBED PREPARATION      

EARTH/SPADE EDGE DETAIL

CONTAINER SHRUB PLANTING DETAIL

SHRUB/PERENNIAL BED DETAIL

DECIDUOUS TREE PRUNING DETAIL

DECIDUOUS CANOPY TREE PLANTING DETAIL

MULTI-STEMMED PLANTING DETAIL
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GROUND FLOOR PLAN

OFFICE SPACE

SHAFTS

BUILDING COMMON AREA

FLOOR COMMON AREA
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TYPICAL FLOOR PLAN
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SOUTH-ELEVATIONTH-ELEVATION

LAMINATED GLASS CANOPY ON
EXPOSED STEEL CANOPY
FRAMING PAINTED TO MATCH
ACM AT SIMILAR NORTH
ELEVATION ENTRIES.LIGHT GREY TINTED SPANDREL

GLASS AT FLOOR SLAB EDGES

LIGHT GREY TINTED GLASS IN
KYNAR COATED ALUMINUM
FRAMING SYSTEM; VERTICAL
JOINTS TO BE BUTT GLAZED;
HORIZONTALS W/ MULLION CAP

HORIZONTAL FLUTED STEEL
SIDING PAINTED TO MATCH ACM

ALUMINUM COMPOSITE METAL
(ACM) PANELS AT PARAPET

55'-0" 

PARAPET 
ABOVE  
FIRST FLOOR

ARCHITECTURAL PRECAST
CONCRETE PANELS
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VIEW[01]
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VIEW[02]
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VIEW[03]

BUILDING [A] BUILDING [B]
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FACADE DETAIL[01]
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info@yamasakiinc.com

The Fisher Building
Yamasaki, Inc.

(Fax) 313-557-0805
877-547-0885

3011 West Grand Boulevard, Suite 222
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RS

0000-00

Detroit, Michigan 48202

F.H Corporate
Campus Phase VII
Office Buildings

Developer

Kojaian
Management
Corporation
39400 Woodward Ave, Suite 250
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304

West 12 Mile Road
Farmington Hills, MI 48331

Sheet

Drawn By

Scale

Sheet No.

Site Details

SSA

A2-01
REFER TO AND COORDINATE
WITH CIVIL SITE WORK.

A2-01

TYPICAL

Trash Enclosure Plan
1/4" = 1'-0"

1
A2-01

NORTH

BRICK VENEER WITH
REINFORCED CMU BACK
UP.  TYPICAL.

BUMPER POST.  SEE
DETAILS. TYPICAL.

CONCRETE FILLED STEEL
BOLLARDS.  6" DIAMETER
x 4'-0" HIGH AND PAINTED
YELLOW.  TYPICAL.

GATE  POST.  SEE
DETAILS.  TYPICAL.

REMOVABLE DUMPSTER.
TYPICAL.

GATES.  SEE
DETAILS.  TYPICAL.

Trash Enclosure Wall Section
3/4" = 1'-0"

5
A2-01

Trash Enclosure Detail
3/4" = 1'-0"

6
A2-01

CAST STONE SILL WITH
ANCHORS AT HEAD JOINTS.
ATYPICAL.

REINFORCED MASONRY WALL:
4" BRICK VENEER
8" C.M.U.
LADDER TYPE  HORIZONTAL JOINT
REINFORCEMENT WITH CROSS
WIRES @ 16" O.C. WITH
ADJUSTABLE VENEER TIES AT 16"
O.C.  STAGGERED.
COORDINATE WITH CIVIL

FINISH ALL EXPOSED CMU WITH
DIRECT APPLIED FINISHING
SYSTEM.

#5 @ 32" OC FULL HEIGHT GROUT
SOLID DOWEL TO FOOTING.
TYPICAL.

HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE
PAVEMENT, REFER TO CIVIL.
TYPICAL INSIDE ENCLOSURE
AND IN FRONT OF GATES.

GROUT FIRST TWO COURSES
SOLID.  TYPICAL.

GRADE.  COORDINATE
WITH CIVIL.  TYPICAL.

2 #5 CONTINUOUS TOP BARS
WITH 3" CLEAR COVER, TYPICAL

CONCRETE FOUNDATION,
COORDINATE WITH CIVIL

10x36 #4 @ 48" O.C. WITH 3"
CLEAR COVER, TYPICAL.

2 #5 CONTINUOUS BOTTOM BARS
WITH 3" CLEAR COVER, TYPICAL

BRICK VENEER WITH REINFORCED
CMU BACK UP.  TYPICAL.

BUMPER POST IN
FOREGROUND.  SEE DETAILS.

FOUNDATION. SEE SECTION.
TYPICAL.

STEEL FENCE POST BEYOND.

COORDINATE ADJACENT
CURBS WITH CIVIL.  TYPICAL.

SYMMETRICAL ABOUT
CENTERLINE.  TYPICAL.

GATE FRAME:  SEE DETAILS ON
THIS SHEET.  TYPICAL.

1"x2" WOOD SLATS.  TYPICAL.

3/4" Ø STEEL KEEPER ROD
WELDED TO  DROP ROD

DROP ROD RETAINER
SLEEVE WELDED TO FACE
OF STEEL ANGLE.  TYPICAL.

3/4" Ø DROP RODS.  TYPICAL.

8"x8"x3/4" GALVANIZED STEEL
PLATE RECEIVER.  CAST INTO
CONCRETE.  TYPICAL.

NOTE:
ALL DOUGLAS FIR MEMBERS,  TO BE
BASE STAINED WITH  A SEMI-SOLID
STAIN COLOR APPROVED BY ARCHITECT

Gates Plan Detail
3" =1'-0"

9
A2-01

Gates Plan Detail
3" =1'-0"

10
A2-01

Gates Plan Detail
3" =1'-0"

7
A2-01

Gates Plan Detail
3" =1'-0"

8
A2-01

CONTINUOUS WELD ON EACH
SIDE OF TUBE.  TYPICAL.

BUMPER POST: PAINTED CONCRETE FILLED
4" SQUARE x 4'-0" HIGH GALVANIZED STEEL.
SEE DETAILS ON THIS SHEET.  TYPICAL.

CENTER LINE OF GATE POST

GATE POST: PAINTED CONCRETE FILLED
4" SQUARE x GATE HEIGHT GALVANIZED
STEEL.  SEE DETAILS.  TYPICAL.

BRICK VENEER WITH
REINFORCED CMU
BACK UP.  TYPICAL.

GATE FRAME:  2" SQ. GALVANIZED AND
PAINTED STEEL FRAME MEMBERS (VERTICAL
AND INTERMEDIATE HORIZONTAL).  PROVIDE
MITERED AND FULLY WELDED CORNERS
AND (3) 1/2" DRAIN HOLES PER GATE  IN THE
BOTTOM RAIL OF EACH FRAME.  TYPICAL.

1"x2" WOOD SLATS ATTACHED WITH HOT
DIPPED GALVANIZED NAILS..  TYPICAL.

2"x2" WOOD NAILERS BOLTED
TO HORIZONTAL GATE FRAME
MEMBERS.  TYPICAL.

GATES IN OPEN
POSITION.   TYPICAL.

CONTINUOUS OFFSET
HINGE.  TYPICAL.

CONTINUOUS WELD ON EACH
SIDE OF TUBE.  TYPICAL.

GATES IN OPEN
POSITION.   TYPICAL.

3/4" BENT ROD KEEPER.
TYPICAL

11" LONG x 8' WIDE  x 1/4" THICK
GALVANIZED STEEL PLATE
WELDED TO BUMPER POST WITH
STIFFENING PLATES TO POST
ON BOTH SIDES.  TYPICAL.

BRICK VENEER WITH
REINFORCED CMU
BACK UP.  TYPICAL.

11" LONG x 10' WIDE  x 1/4" THICK
GALVANIZED STEEL PLATE WELDED
TO BUMPER POST.  TYPICAL.

3"x3"x1/4" GALVANIZED STEEL
ANGLES CONTINUOUS ALONG EACH
SIDE OF GATES.  TYPICAL.

8"x8"x3/4" GALVANIZED STEEL PLATE RECEIVER.
CAST INTO CONCRETE WITH 1/2" Ø x 4" LONG x 2"
LEG ANCHOR BOLTS WELDED TO BOTTOM WITH
HOLES FOR KEEPER RODS.  TYPICAL.

3/4" Ø STEEL KEEPER ROD WELDED TO
DROP ROD EXTENDED 1".  TYPICAL.

3/4" Ø DROP RODS.  TYPICAL.

GROUT CAVITY AND BRICK CORES
SOLID.  TYPICAL.

Front Elevation
1/4" = 1'-0"

2
A2-01

Back Elevation
1/4" = 1'-0"

3
A2-01

FACE BRICK

CAST STONE SILL.
TYPICAL.

GRADE.  COORDINATE
WITH CIVIL.  TYPICAL.

A2-01

CENTER LINE OF GATE BUMPER POST

Side Elevation
1/4" = 1'-0"

4
A2-01

A2-01

TYPICAL

A2-01

FACE BRICK

CAST STONE SILL.
TYPICAL.

GRADE.  COORDINATE
WITH CIVIL.  TYPICAL.



GENERAL NOTES:

1. EXTERIOR LIGHTING WILL BE CONTROLLED BY PHOTOCELL AND TIMER CONTROL (LIGHTING CONTROL
RELAY PANEL WITH BUILT-IN TIMER), PHOTOCELL ON / TIMER OFF.

2. BUILDING FACADE AND LANDSCAPE LIGHTING WILL BE TURNED OFF 15 MINUTES AFTER CLOSE OF
BUSINESS AND AT OPENING OF BUSINESS.

3. ALL EXTERIOR LIGHTING WILL BE TURNED OFF AT 15 MINUTES AFTER CLOSE OF BUSINESS. 
4. ILLUMINATION AT EXTERIOR DOOR WILL BE USING MAX. 1500.

5. ILLUMINTION LEVELS ARE 2.3 LUMENS PER SQUARE FOOT OF HARDSCAPE AREA.

40K
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MINUTES 
CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
31555 W ELEVEN MILE ROAD 

FARMINGTON HILLS, MICHIGAN 
JULY 21, 2022, 7:30 P.M. 

 
CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
The Planning Commission Regular Meeting was called to order by Chair Countegan at 7:30 p.m. 

 
ROLL CALL 

 

Commissioners present: Aspinall, Brickner, Countegan, Grant, Mantey, Stimson, Trafelet, Varga, 
 

Commissioners Absent: Ware 
 

Others Present: City Planner Perdonik, City Attorney Schultz, Planning Consultant 
Tangari, Staff Engineer Dawkins 

 
 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 

MOTION by Brickner, support by Trafelet, to approve the agenda as presented. 
 

MOTION carried unanimously by voice vote. 

REGULAR MEETING 

PUBLIC HEARING 

A. AMENDMENT TO PUD 5, 1993, & SITE PLAN 58-4-2022 
LOCATION: South side of Twelve Mile Rd, between Drake Rd 

and Investment Dr 
PARCEL I.D.: 23-17-201-014 
PROPOSAL: Construction of two office buildings in an OS-4, Office Research 

District 
ACTION REQUESTED: Recommendation to City Council 
APPLICANT: Robert Szantner, Yamasaki Inc. 
OWNER: Farmington Hills Corporate Investors, LLC 

 
Applicant presentation: 
Members of the development team present this evening included: 
Robert Szantner, Yamasaki Inc. 
Chris Kojaian, Kojaian Companies 
Jared Kime, Atwell 

 
The development team made the following points: 
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• They were proposing two 55’-tall buildings (a 4-foot height deviation), with 4 stories. They believed 
the small height modification allowing an extra story was a minor modification to the PUD 
Agreement. The construction of the buildings in the location as presented met the intent of the 
Agreement. While they were not within the extra height/story zone of the PUD, they were very close, 
and the buildings will be similar to the other 4-story, 55-foot high structures already constructed on 
the campus. The extra height and story would not be noticeable by anyone driving by. 

• A schematic from the original PUD agreement showed a 55’ height “box”, within which, due to 
topographic considerations, a 55’-high structure was a matter of right. The location in question was 
very close to the box. 

• They had updated the site plan to incorporate feedback from city staff and consultants, including 
landbanked spaces, looped watermain around the buildings, pedestrian access to the west side, and a 
changed location of the southern drive. 

• The City Engineer had indicated he would like to see a full 60-foot right of way on their private drive. 
This would impact the development significantly, and as it was not a requirement of the PUD 
Agreement would be an unnecessary encumbrance on the property. 

• The four stories allowed a much more compact arrangement of floor plate size, so that the floor plates 
on each building are 36,000sf, as compared to 50,000sf for a 1-3 story building. They were well under 
the coverage ratios and densities originally contemplated by the PUD agreement, and the extra space 
allowed them to create more buffer area and to provide better transitions around wetland areas. The 
more compact spaces were also more competitive in the marketplace. 

 
Consultant comments: 
Referencing his July 11, 2022 written comments, Planning Consultant Tangari gave the review for this request 
for construction of two office buildings in an OS-4, Office Research District. 
• The applicant was proposing two large, four-story office buildings and a parking lot. Both buildings 

have a gross floor area of 150,000 square feet. The site is proposed to be accessed from a driveway off 
Investment Drive at the west end, and from the same access drive that serves JST at the east end. A 
road connecting the two access roads is not proposed; the plans show a private driveway ringing the 
site. 

• Outstanding site plan issues include: 
1. Label all setback distances. 
2. The buildings exceed the height limits of both the underlying district and the PUD. The PUD 

permits heights up to 55 feet in certain areas, but only where the grade is below 860 feet. The 
proposed buildings are located on grades with an elevation over 860 feet according to the 
preliminary grading plan, so the higher height limit afforded in certain areas of the PUD does not 
apply. Permitting this height would require an amendment to the PUD agreement. The original 
PUD reflected the 40-foot height limit then in place in the OS-4 district; this has since been raised 
to 50 feet. For this development to move forward, the PUD must be amended to permit the fourth 
story and the extra five feet of height in this location. 

3. Dumpster enclosure detail is not provided. 
4. Screening hedge/berm is not shown along 12 Mile Rd. in areas where natural screening is not in 

place. 
5. Lighting plan requires adjustments. 
6. Tree replacement numbers require adjustment. 

• Regarding the PUD (Planned Unit Development) Agreement, the applicant proposes to amend the 
PUD to permit greater height in the area of the proposed building and an additional story (presently 
limited to 3; the applicant proposes 4). 

• Per Section 34-3.20.5.G, the Planning Commission shall determine whether the proposed 
modification is a minor or major amendment. If the determination is the amendment is major, the 
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amendments shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission and City Council in accordance with 
normal approval procedures. 

• After the public hearing, if the Planning Commission makes a determination that this is a major 
amendment to the PUD, action on the site plan should be postponed until the amendment to the PUD 
is fully approved by Council and the agreement has been updated accordingly. Alternatively, site plan 
approval could be made contingent on approval of the PUD amendment. 

 
Attorney comments: 
City Attorney Schultz said that even if the deviations were small, under the ordinance the Planning 
Commission could not approve this plan as a minor change to the PUD agreement, because the proposed 
deviations represented two violations of the PUD agreement. Making a determination that this was a 
major amendment to the PUD was not a negative determination; it was a required determination. 

 
Discussion: 
If the Commission could not approve the PUD amendment and site plan tonight, the applicants asked for 
a positive recommendation to Council. 

 
Public Hearing 
Chair Countegan opened the public hearing. 

 
Scott Elliot, 415 Fox Club Drive, supported this request for PUD amendment. This was a great project for 
the City and the variance requested was small. 

 
Seeing that no other public indicated they wished to speak, Chair Countegan closed the public hearing 
and brought the matter back to the Commission. 

 
After discussion and amendment, the following motion was made: 

 
MOTION by Brickner, support by Stimson, to RECOMMEND TO CITY COUNCIL that a major 
amendment to PUD Plan 5, 1993, including Site Plan 58-4-2022, dated June 27, 2022, submitted by Robert 
Szantner of Yamasaki Inc., BE APPROVED, because the plans are consistent with the goals, objectives, and 
policies of the Master Plan and applicable provisions of the Planned Unit Development Option in Section 34- 
3.20 of the Zoning Ordinance, 

 
With the following finding: 

• Modifications of Zoning Ordinance requirements as indicated on the proposed plan constitute a 
Major Amendment to the PUD Agreement, which modifications are: 

1. An increase of 5 feet over the 50 foot height limit to permit a 55-foot height limit, and 
2. A 4th story (1 story in excess of that which is permitted) for the two buildings as submitted 

And with the following conditions regarding the site plan: 
• Outstanding items in the Giffels Webster report be resolved and approved administratively. 
• Approval of the PUD amended agreement by City Council. 

 
Motion carried unanimously by voice vote. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT 

None. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

MOTION by Trafelet, support by Grant, to adjourn the meeting at 8:56pm. 
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MOTION carried unanimously by voice vote. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
Marisa Varga 
Planning Commission Secretary 

 
/cem 



 

APPROVED 9/12/2022 
 
 

MINUTES 
CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBER 

AUGUST 22, 2022 – 7:30 PM 
 
The regular session meeting of the Farmington Hills City Council was called to order by Mayor Barnett at 
7:32pm. 

 
Council Members Present: Barnett, Boleware, Bridges, Knol (arrived at 8:50pm), Massey, and 
Newlin 

 
Council Members Absent: Bruce 

 
Others Present: City Manager Mekjian, City Clerk Smith, Assistant City Manager 

Valentine, Directors Kettler-Schmult, Mondora and Schnackel, Planning 
Consultant Arroyo and City Attorney Morita 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Layla Cypher, Miss Oakland County led the pledge of allegiance. 

 
APPROVAL OF REGULAR SESSION MEETING AGENDA 

MOTION by Massey, support by Boleware, to approve the agenda as published. 

MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 

PUBLIC HEARING: 
PUBLIC HEARING AND CONSIDERATION OF AMENDMENT TO PLANNED UNIT 
DEVELOPMENT 5, 1993, INCLUDING SITE PLAN 58-4-2022 LOCATED AT THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF TWELVE MILE ROAD AND INVESTMENT DRIVE 
Charmaine Kettler-Schmult, Director of Planning and Community Development, introduced the proposed 
amendment. She mentioned that the Planning Commission held their public hearing meeting on this 
amendment on July 21st and recommended approval unanimously to City Council. 

 
Robert Szantner, applicant, noted that the amendment is to construct two 150,000 square foot buildings at 
4-stories each. H noted that while the buildings meet the height requirement and there are other 4-story 
buildings on the site, due to the topography in the area where they plan to construct, the buildings would 
be 4 feet higher than allowed. This also allows a more compact development to enhance the green space 
to buffer surrounding neighbors. He showed renderings of the proposed project. 

 
Chris Kojaian, representing Kojaian Companies, added that they are excited about this last piece of this 
development and are here to discuss the 4 foot height variance due to the grade of the property. 

 
Rod Arroyo, Planning Consultant from Giffels-Webster, briefly reviewed his letter of August 4th and 
mentioned that the amendment is for the 4 foot heigh difference and while there are other minor site plan 
items to address, they could be handled administratively, including any concerns with lighting and those 
items would be required to meet ordinance standards. 

 
Discussion was held on when the height limit was updated and it was suggested that this type of 
background information is included in future reports to Council as rationale to support or deny a project. 

 
Council expressed concern with vacant office buildings and constructing more traditional office space. 

Planning Consultant Arroyo agreed that there are vacant office buildings but that he had heard from the 
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applicant that they have a specific tenant for these buildings who has requested certain specifications. He 
added that there is retail to the west of the site and the proposed plan has a pedestrian connection that will 
enable office staff from the buildings to walk to the retail areas so there is potential for synergy with 
surrounding uses in the area. 

 
Mayor Barnett opened the public hearing. 

 
Pam Gerald, resident, inquired about the PUD process and if the buildings proposed would be LEED 
Certified Gold and if there are any Brownfield tax incentives for the property. She also expressed  
concern with the proximity of the buildings to the retention pond. 

 
Mayor Barnett explained that a PUD runs with the property and that if there are any changes to the 
original plan, an amendment is required. She noted that the property is a Greenfield and there are no tax 
incentives for this property; however, the applicant could potentially seek credits or grants for energy 
efficiency building material. She added that the reason for the retention pond is to hold any extra water on 
the site and is designed to certain standards so any water would not interfere with surrounding neighbors. 

 
There being no further comments, Mayor Barnett closed the public hearing. 

 
Council inquired if the proponent had a tenant in mind for the building. Mr. Kojaian answered that they 
have a proposed tenant with whom they are in serious discussions; however, they want some assurances 
that Council will support the amendment before they commit. 

 
The proponents added that they the plan is to build the buildings to the specifications of the proposed end 
user and that tenants expect the higher floor plans for technology purposes and indirect lighting and that is 
how they compete in the market. Mr. Szantner added that the project would allow for LEED certified 
buildings but that would be up to the tenant. 

 
Some members of Council expressed concern with the proposed traditional office buildings when the city 
is in the process of reviewing and revising its Master Plan to allow for mixed-use developments. It was 
questioned if the applicant needed all of the parking requested and the plans for lighting. 

 
Mr.Ackerman, Atwell Southfield, MI., responded that there are certain parking requirements for office 
space but they did discuss land banking some of the parking based on the suggestion of the Planning 
Department and have done so for about 100 parking spaces. They also kept in mind preserving as many 
trees as possible in order to keep the buffer to the surrounding neighbors. A revised lighting plan was 
submitted to the city based on minor adjustments requested in order to satisfy city requirements. 

 
Antonio Kojaian, Executive Vice President of Kojaian Companies, commented that they are only 
appearing before City Council for the amendment to the height requirement as all other requirements are 
dictated by city code. He assured Council that they are not building spec buildings and are in discussions 
with an end user for the buildings. He added that the water on the property naturally flows north to south 
so it runs naturally into the detention pond. 

 
Council concerns were again expressed about the traditional office buildings and a preference to have 
mixed use so they don’t end up with two more vacant buildings and a large parking lot. 

 
Antonio Kojaian stated that his company is in discussions with National and International users that want 
high-end amenities and these are not proposed to be multi-tenant office buildings. 
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Other Council comments included that while they agree with mixed-use development, there may be a 
need for more options and since there is an end-user in mind for the buildings, they should consider 
approving the amendment and that the project could help the surrounding retail businesses and potentially 
bring new families to live in Farmington Hills. 

 
MOTION by Bridges, support by Knol, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby approves 
the application for approval of an amendment to PUD Plan 5, 1993, including SP 58-4-2022, subject 
to the following conditions: 

 
1) Any conditions and requirements stated in Giffels Webster’s review shall be complied with or 

addressed to the satisfaction of the Planning and Community Development Department 
2) City Council approve an amendment to the PUD agreement to permit fifty-five (55) feet of 

building height and four (4) stories 
 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council directs the City Attorney prepare the appropriate 
PUD agreement stipulating the final PUD approval conditions and authorizing the identified zoning 
deviations for City Council consideration and final approval. 

 
MOTION CARRIED 5-1 (Barnett opposed, Bruce absent) 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

MOTION by Massey, support by Bridges, to adjourn the regular session City Council meeting at 
10:42pm. 

 
MOTION CARRIED 6-0. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

Pamela B. Smith, City Clerk 



 
Interoffice Correspondence 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
DATE: December 11, 2023 
 
TO:   Gary Mekjian, City Manager 
 
FROM: Charmaine Kettler-Schmult, Director of Planning and Community 

Development  
 
SUBJECT: PUD 5, 1993– Kojaian PUD – Twelve Mile and Halsted (Public 

Benefits) 
 
 
PUD 5, 1993 was originally approved as corporate headquarters for a large banking business. Since 
that time the property was separated into large office campuses for a variety of businesses. The 
adaptation of the property has necessitated a modification of the original vision however, many 
assets to the community have been achieved through the PUD process.  
 

• Conservation of natural features within each developed property and the permanent 
preservation of 7.43 acres. 

• An emergency access to I-696 that was recently implemented to provide essential service 
to residents and motoring public during the road construction. 

• Public roads and connections approved to be built to public road standards. 
• Pedestrian access within and connecting to major roadways.  

 



Interoffice Correspondence 
________________________________________________________________________ 

DATE: December 11, 2023 

TO:  Gary Mekjian, City Manager 

FROM: Charmaine Kettler-Schmult, Director of Planning and Community 
Development  

SUBJECT: Third Amendment to Planned Unit Development (“PUD”) 5, 1993 
Agreement – Kojaian PUD – Comerica Signage 

Please find attached the draft Third Amendment to the PUD 5, 1993 Agreement. The purpose 
of the draft Amendment is to revise the text of the Agreement to permit new signage in connection 
with Comerica Bank’s planned occupancy of an existing office building at 36455 Corporate Drive. 

The Planning Commission unanimously recommended approval of the draft Amendment to City 
Council following a public hearing on July 20, 2023 (minutes). City Council unanimously 
approved the signage plan associated with the draft Amendment following a public hearing on 
August 28, 2023 (minutes), which just leaves the revised text of the agreement reflecting 
the Council-approved signage plan to be approved by Council. The question before Council is 
simply whether the proposed agreement is consistent with the previously approved signage plan, 
as the decisions with regard to the specifics of the PUD Plan approval were made by Council on 
August 28, 2023. 

The draft Amendment to the 1993 Agreement has been reviewed by the City Attorney and 
Planning and Community Development Department staff, and it appears to be in a form 
suitable for City Council consideration. Staff will be present to address any questions.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

• City Attorney Memorandum
• Draft Third Amendment to PUD 5, 1993 Agreement and Exhibits
• July 20, 2023, Planning Commission Public Hearing Minutes
• August 28, 2023, City Council Public Hearing Minutes
• Staff memo-PUD 5, 1993 public benefits



 
STEVEN P. JOPPICH 

sjoppich@rsjalaw.com 
 

27555 Executive Drive, Suite 250 
Farmington Hills, Michigan 48331 
P 248.489.4100 | F 248.489.1726 

rsjalaw.com 
 

 
 

          

LEGAL MEMORANDUM 
 

 

TO:  Farmington Hills City Council 

 

FROM:  Steven P. Joppich, City Attorney 

  Lisa J. Hamameh, Asst. City Attorney 

 

RE:  Kojaian PUD (a/k/a NBD Bank, N.A., PUD) 

 

DATE:  December 7, 2023 

 

 

Our office has worked with City Staff to negotiate the terms of the attached “Second 

Amendment to Planned Unit Development Agreement” and “Third Amendment to 

Planned Unit Development Agreement” with the owner, developer, and their attorneys.  

We have reviewed this final draft of the Third Amendment agreement and report to 

Council that, in our opinion, it is in conformance with the requirements of the City’s zoning 

regulations concerning amendment of planned unit development agreements and City 

Council’s decisions earlier this year to approve the associated PUD Plan amendments. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 
COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 
 

THIRD AMENDMENT TO PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
KOJAIAN PUD 

 
          THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (the 
"Third Amendment to PUD Agreement"), dated _______________, 2023, is made and entered 
into by and between the CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS, a Michigan municipal corporation, 
having the address of 31555 West Eleven Mile Road, Farmington Hills, Michigan 48336, hereinafter 
referred to as and called “City”, and FARMINGTON HILLS CORPORATE INVESTORS, LLC, a 
Michigan limited liability company, whose address is 39400 Woodward Ave., Suite 250, Bloomfield 
Hills, MI 48304, and FARMINGTON HILLS V CORPORATE INVESTORS, LLC, a Michigan 
limited liability company, whose address is 39400 Woodward Ave., Suite 250, Bloomfield Hills, MI 
48304, both of whom are sometimes hereinafter referred to together as “Kojaian.” 
  

RECITALS: 
 

A. Kojaian, as successor to NBD Bank, N.A., and City are parties to a certain Planned 
Unit Development Agreement, dated October 28, 1994, and recorded on January 27, 1995, in 
Liber 15225, Page 50, Oakland County Records (the “PUD Agreement”), pertaining to 
approximately 138.2749 acres of real property situated in the City of Farmington Hills, Oakland 
County, Michigan, being more particularly described in attached Exhibit A to the PUD Agreement 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Property”).  

    
B. Farmington Hills Corporate Investors, LLC is the developer of the Property and 

retains control over the common elements and other areas within the Planned Unit Development, 
being PUD Plan 5, 1993.  

 
C. On February 28, 2022, the City Council considered and approved a First 

Amendment to PUD Plan 5, 1993, dated January 4, 2022, including Site Plan 65-10-2021, dated 
January 4, 2022 (hereinafter referred to as the “First Amendment”), relating to the development 
of an approximately 2.59-acre part of parcel 22-23-17-201-013. 

 

D. On May 9, 2022, the City Council considered and approved the First Amendment 
to Planned Unit Development Agreement, dated June 6, 2022, and recorded on June 15, 2022, in 
Liber 67858, Page 733, Oakland County Records (the “First Amendment to PUD Agreement”), 
relating to the First Amendment. 
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E. On August 22, 2022, the City Council considered and approved a Second 
Amendment to PUD Plan 5, 1993, dated August 4, 2022, including Site Plan 58-4-2022, dated 
August 4, 2022 (hereinafter referred to as the “Second Amendment”), relating to the development 
of an approximately 18.11-acre portion of the Property located at the southeast corner of W. 12 
Mile Road and Investment Drive. 

 

F. On ____________, 2023, the City Council considered and approved the Second 
Amendment to Planned Unit Development Agreement, dated __________, 2023, and recorded 
on ___________, 2023, in Liber _____, Page ___, Oakland County Records (the “Second 
Amendment to PUD Agreement”), relating to the Second Amendment. 

 

G. Farmington Hills V Corporate Investors, LLC is the fee owner and Farmington Hills 
Corporate Investors, LLC is the developer of approximately 26.06 acres of the Property located at 
36455 and 36555 Corporate Drive, more particularly described in attached Exhibit B (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Third Amended Property”). 

 
H. Kojaian requested amendments to PUD Plan 5, 1993, and the PUD Agreement 

pertaining to signage for the Third Amended Property, and on August 28, 2023, the City Council 
considered and approved a Third Amendment to PUD Plan 5, 1993, dated May 13, 2023, 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Third Amendment”), subject to certain conditions, including the 
approval, execution, and recording of an amendment to the PUD Agreement. 

 

I. Kojaian accepts any and all risks associated with the City’s approval of the Third 
Amendment and agrees to release and hold the City harmless from any and all claims, liabilities, 
causes of action, damages, judgments, attorney fees, court costs, and expenses which arise out 
of or are related to the City’s approval of the Third Amendment.  

 
J. Pursuant to Section 25 of the PUD Agreement and in accordance with the 

procedures set forth in Section 34-3.20 of the City’s Zoning Ordinance, Kojaian and City desire to 
amend the PUD Agreement for the purposes set forth in this Third Amendment to PUD Agreement. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants contained herein and for other 

good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
it is agreed as follows: 
 

1. All references in the PUD Agreement to the PUD Plan, site plan, landscape plan and 
any other plans, elevations, and surveys are hereby amended to include and shall be 
amended to include the signage relating to the “Request from Comerica” reflected on 
the Signage Plan for Third Amended Property attached hereto as Exhibit C. 
 

2. Paragraph 13 of the PUD Agreement is amended and restated, in full, to read as 
follows:  

 
“13.  (A) Nine (9) freestanding accessory signs shall be permitted as follows: one (1) 
at each of four (4) vehicular entrances to the site off of 12 Mile Road and Halsted Road 
(as shown on the Planned Unit Development plan); two (2) oriented toward the I-696 
Freeway; and three (3) along Corporate Drive on the Third Amended Property as 
shown in the attached Exhibit C.  Nine (9) other freestanding signs are permitted 
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within individual building sites as shown on Page 1 of Exhibit C and identified thereon 
as “existing” signs 5-10 and “future” signs 16-18 for the building site east of the Third 
Amended Property.  Requirements of the OS-4 District as to area and height shall apply 
to the signs in this subparagraph, except that the sign on the Third Amended Property 
oriented toward the I-696 Freeway may be up to 25.75 feet in height and 31.85 square 
feet in area.  
(B) Signs limited to providing directions or instructions for vehicular or pedestrian 
traffic shall be permitted as set forth in the Zoning Ordinance, except that four (4) 
such signs may be placed within the campus and shall be no larger than seventy (70) 
square feet in area and no higher than ten (10) feet. The four signs shall be located 
at the four (4) intersections of the entrance roads with the interior private roads of the 
site.  
(C) Requirements of the OS-4 District as to area shall apply to all wall signs within the 
campus, except the building on the Third Amended Property may have up to three (3) 
wall signs on its south building façade not to exceed two-hundred-and-ninety-one 
(291) square feet in total area, in addition to the wall sign on its north building façade 
permitted under and in accordance with the Zoning Ordinance.” 

 
3. Kojaian acknowledges that, at the time of the execution of this Third Amendment to 

Planned Unit Development Agreement, Kojaian has not yet applied for or obtained the 
sign permits that are required for the signage pertaining to the Third Amended 
Property allowed under this Third Amendment to PUD Agreement. Kojaian 
acknowledges that such permits are required prior to the installation of any signs 
allowed under this Third Amendment to PUD Agreement and City ordinances may 
require and City may impose additional conditions other than those contained in this 
Third Amendment to PUD Agreement during its reviews and approvals of sign permit 
applications as authorized by law; provided, however, that such conditions shall not 
be inconsistent with the PUD Plan, as amended by the Third Amendment. All sign 
permits approved by City and any conditions imposed as part of such permits, as 
authorized by ordinance or other law, shall be incorporated into and made a part of 
this Third Amendment automatically upon issuance of same and without the necessity 
of amending this Third Amendment to PUD Agreement. 
 

4. The exhibits attached hereto and the recital paragraphs set forth above are hereby 
incorporated into this Third Amendment to PUD Agreement by this reference as though 
fully set forth herein. 
 

5. The parties acknowledge and agree that, except as expressly set forth in the Third 
Amendment and this Third Amendment to PUD Agreement, all of terms, conditions 
and obligations contained in the PUD Agreement, as previously amended by the First 
Amendment to PUD Agreement and Second Amendment to PUD Agreement, remain 
unchanged and are in full force and effect.  
 

6. This Third Amendment to PUD Agreement shall be recorded at the Oakland County 
Register of Deeds Office. 

 
[Signatures on Next Page] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands on the day and year set forth 
with the notarization of their signatures. 
 

KOJAIAN: 
 
FARMINGTON HILLS CORPORATE INVESTORS, 
LLC, a Michigan limited liability company 
 
By:  Kojaian Acquisitions XI, LLC a Michigan 

limited liability company 
Its: Sole Member 
 By: KOJAIAN ACQUISITIONS XI-MM,  
  INC., a Michigan corporation 
 Its: Manager 
 
 
 By: ______________________________ 
  Anthony G. Antone, Esq.  
 Its:  Vice President 

 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 

 ) ss 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 

 
 
 

On this ____ day of ________________, 2023, before me personally appeared Anthony 
G. Antone, the Vice President of Kojaian Acquisitions XI-MM, Inc., a Michigan corporation which 
is the Manager of Kojaian Acquisitions XI, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, which is the 
sole member of Farmington Hills Corporate Investors, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, 
who acknowledged that he/she signed this Agreement on behalf of said company. 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Notary Public 
Oakland County, Michigan 
Acting in Oakland County, Michigan 
My Commission Expires:  _______________ 

 
FARMINGTON HILLS V CORPORATE INVESTORS, 
LLC, a Michigan limited liability company 
 
By: ______________________________ 
  Anthony G. Antone, Esq.  
 Its:  Vice President 
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STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 

 ) ss 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 

 
On this ____ day of ________________, 2023, before me personally appeared Anthony 

G. Antone, the Vice President of Kojaian Acquisitions XI-MM, Inc., a Michigan corporation which 
is the Manager of Farmington Hills V Corporate Investors, LLC, a Michigan limited liability 
company, who acknowledged that he/she signed this Agreement on behalf of said company. 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Notary Public 
Oakland County, Michigan 
Acting in Oakland County, Michigan 
My Commission Expires:  _______________   
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CITY: 

 CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS,  

 a Michigan municipal corporation 
 
 
 ____________________________________ 

 By: Gary Mekjian 

 Its: City Manager 

 

 

 ____________________________________ 

 Attested: Pamela B. Smith 

 Its: City Clerk 

 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 

 ) ss 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 

 

On this ____ day of ________________, 2023, before me personally appeared Gary 
Mekjian, the City Manager, and Pamela B. Smith, the City Clerk, who acknowledged that they 
signed and attested to this Agreement on behalf of the City of Farmington Hills. 

 
 
____________________________________ 
Notary Public 
Oakland County, Michigan 
Acting in Oakland County, Michigan 
My Commission Expires:  _______________ 

 
 
 

Drafted Jointly By: 
Steven P. Joppich, Esq. 
Rosati Schultz Joppich & Amtsbuechler, P.C. 
27555 Executive Drive, Suite 250 
Farmington Hills, MI 48331-3550 
 
and 
 

When Recorded, Return To: 
City Clerk 
City of Farmington Hills 
31555 West Eleven Mile Road 
Farmington Hills, MI 48336-1165 

Jennifer Hill, Esq. 

Farmington Hills Corporate Investors, LLC  

39400 Woodward Ave., Suite 250  

Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 
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EXHIBIT A 

 

PROPERTY LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

(Attached)  
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Exhibit B 

THIRD AMENDED PROPERTY LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
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EXHIBIT C 

 

SIGNAGE PLAN FOR THIRD AMENDED PROPERTY 

(Attached) 
 



























Approved 08-17-2023 
 

 
 

MINUTES 
CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
31555 W ELEVEN MILE ROAD 

FARMINGTON HILLS, MICHIGAN 
July 20, 2023, 7:30 P.M. 

 
CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
The Planning Commission Regular Meeting was called to order by Chair Countegan at 7:30 p.m. 

 
ROLL CALL 

 

Commissioners present: Aspinall, Brickner, Countegan, Mantey, Trafelet, Stimson, Ware 

Commissioners Absent: Grant, Varga 

Others Present: City Planner Perdonik, City Attorney Schultz, Planning Consultant 
Bahm 

 
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

 

MOTION by Trafelet, support by Brickner, to approve the agenda as published. 

Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

A. AMEND PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) 5, 1993 
LOCATION: 36455 and 36555 Corporate Drive 
PARCEL I.D.: 22-23-17-127-001 
PROPOSAL: Amend PUD to permit signage not presently permitted 
ACTION REQUESTED: Recommendation to City Council 
APPLICANT: Farmington Hills Corporate Investors, LLC 
OWNER: Farmington Hills V Corporate Investors, LLC 

 
Chris Kojaian, Kojaian Companies, 39400 Woodward Ave., Bloomfield Hills, was present on behalf of 
this application to amend PUD 5, 1993, to permit signage not presently permitted. The action requested 
was that the Planning Commission make a recommendation to City Council regarding this request. 

 
Mr. Kojaian explained that Comerica Bank is moving their Michigan Operations Center to this site. 
Comerica is investing in both in the building and in the community. The request for new signage on the 
building was part of the overall building update. 

 
The building was previously two buildings operating as a multi-tenant space, with multiple signs. 
Comerica is converting the previous use into a single-tenant, single connected building. 

 
Comerica is requesting the approval of additional signage, as well as just cleaning up the PUD language. 
The requested building signage was actually not any more signage than existed when the buildings were 
separate and under multi-tenant use. Comerica is also asking for an additional free-standing sign along the 
freeway, in order to give more visibility to the Comerica campus. 



City of Farmington Hills 
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Approved 08-17-2023 
 

 

Referencing the June 8, 2023 Giffels Webster memorandum, Planning Consultant Bahm gave the 
background and review for this request for PUD amendment, in order to permit the signage that is 
proposed above and beyond OS-4 district requirements, as follows: 

1. Three wall signs on the south façade where one is permitted. 
2. 291 square feet of wall sign on the south façade where 100 square feet are permitted. 
3. Two freestanding signs along Corporate Drive one is permitted. 
4. A 25.75-foot height for the sign along I-696 where six feet is permitted. 

 
Chair Countegan explained that the Planning Commission had previously determined that this request 
represented a major amendment to the PUD, and therefore a public hearing was necessary. 

 
Chair Countegan opened the public hearing. Seeing that no public indicated that they wished to speak on 
this agenda item, Chair Countegan closed the public hearing and brought the matter back to the 
Commission. 

 
MOTION by Brickner, support by Trafelet to recommend to City Council that the proposed 
Amendment to PUD 5, 1993, dated May 18, 2023, submitted by Farmington Hills Corporate Investors, 
LLC, be approved, because the plans are consistent with the goals, objectives, and policies of the Master 
Plan and applicable provisions of the Planned Unit Development Option in Section 34-3.20 of the Zoning 
Ordinance, subject to: 

1. Modifications of Zoning Ordinance requirements as indicated on the proposed plan. 
 

Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 
 
 

Motion by Trafelet, support by Ware, to adjourn the meeting at 9:01pm. 

Motion carried unanimously by voice vote. 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 

Marisa Varga 
Planning Commission Secretary 
/cem 
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APPROVED 9/11/2023 
 
 

MINUTES 
CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBER 

AUGUST 28, 2023 – 7:30 PM 
 
The regular session meeting of the Farmington Hills City Council was called to order by Mayor Barnett at 
7:36pm. 

 
Council Members Present: Barnett, Boleware, Bridges, Knol, Massey and Newlin 

Council Members Absent: Bruce 

Others Present: City Manager Mekjian, City Clerk Smith, Directors Kettler-Schmult and 
Schnackel, Fire Chief Unruh and City Attorney Joppich 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Mayor Barnett led the pledge of allegiance. 

 
APPROVAL OF REGULAR SESSION MEETING AGENDA 

MOTION by Massey, support by Knol, to approve the agenda as published. 

MOTION CARRIED 6-0. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
PUBLIC HEARING AND CONSIDERATION OF AMENDMENT TO PLANNED UNIT 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 5, 1993 DATED MAY 13, 2023 LOCATED AT 36455 AND 36555 
CORPORATE DRIVE. 
Erik Perdonik, City Planner, reviewed the proposed amendment that would allow for a new wall and 
monuments signage at the future site of Comerica Bank. He noted that typically signage would come 
before the Zoning Board of Appeals, but since signage was covered as part of the original PUD 
agreement, approval of an amendment by City Council is required. He noted that the Planning 
Commission held a public hearing on July 20th at which time they recommended approval to City Council 
following the public hearing this evening. 

 
Chris Kojaian, owner of the building and landlord, provided a background the proposed development 
noting that they are connecting two existing buildings and they do not need the existing signage and are 
asking to clean up the PUD agreement in order to have appropriate signage for the new building that will 
also serve as a great recruitment tool for the business. 

 
Mayor Barnett opened the public hearing. 

 
Pam Gerald, resident, spoke in favor of the proposed amendment as proper signage is important to 
success of businesses. 

 
There being no further comments, Mayor Barnett closed the public hearing. 

 
MOTION by Bridges, support by Knol, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 
approves the application for approval of an amendment to PUD Plan 5, 1993, dated May 13, 
2023, and 
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IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council directs the City Attorney to prepare the 
appropriate PUD agreement stipulating the final PUD approval conditions and authorizing the 
identified zoning deviations for City Council consideration and final approval. 

 
MOTION CARRIED 6-0. 

 
 

Mayor Barnett inquired about illumination of the proposed signage. Mr. Kojaian assured Council that the 
lighting would not adversely affect property across the freeway and that they would comply with the 
city’s lighting ordinance. 

 
City Planner Perdonik confirmed that if the amendment were approved this evening, a sign permit would 
be required and illumination standards reviewed at that time. 

 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

MOTION by Bridges, support by Bruce, to adjourn the regular session City Council meeting at 
8:16pm. 

 

MOTION CARRIED 6-0. 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Pamela B. Smith, City Clerk 



 
Interoffice Correspondence 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
DATE: December 11, 2023 
 
TO:   Gary Mekjian, City Manager 
 
FROM: Charmaine Kettler-Schmult, Director of Planning and Community 

Development  
 
SUBJECT: PUD 5, 1993– Kojaian PUD – Twelve Mile and Halsted (Public 

Benefits) 
 
 
PUD 5, 1993 was originally approved as a corporate headquarters for a large banking business. 
Since that time, the property was separated into large office sites for a variety of businesses. The 
adaptation of the property has necessitated modification of the original vision via PUD 
amendments; however, assets to the community have been achieved through the PUD process, 
such as:  
 

• Conservation of natural features within each developed property and the permanent 
preservation of 7.43 acres. 

• An emergency access to I-696 that was recently implemented to provide essential service 
to residents and motoring public during the road construction. 

• Public roads and connections approved to be built to public road standards. 
• Pedestrian access within and connecting to major roadways.  

 



REPORT FROM THE CITY MANAGER TO CITY COUNCIL 

December 11, 2023 

SUBJECT: CONSULTING SERVICES FOR BUILDING DEPARTMENT DATABASE 

MANAGEMENT AND SYSTEM 

ADMINISTRATIVE SUMMARY 

• The City is implementing a new Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) software, BS&A

Software, over the next two years, with anticipated completion by the Summer of 2025.

• The City must clean up the existing BS&A “Building.NET” database, so that the

Building.NET database can be combined together with other BS&A databases without

difficulty.

• Assessor Matt Dingman and his staff have provided invaluable assistance by rectifying over

25,000 issues with the existing Building.NET database.  However, there are still several

thousand remaining issues that need to be corrected that require in-depth analysis by an

expert in BS&A database management and Building Department procedures. It is also

imperative that the City upgrade standard operating procedures and other systems in the

Building Department to optimize the use of the new BS&A Cloud software, by:

o ensuring the highest quality data going forward,

o the best customer experience, and

o the most efficient and cost-effective administration.

• Recently, the City engaged consultant Kevin Keyes of Munivate, LLC for several days of

consulting work.  Mr. Keyes is a former BS&A Project Manager who formed Munivate, LLC

in 2021 to provide consulting services for municipalities.  Mr. Keyes is an expert in BS&A

software and building department operations.

• At the City’s request, Mr. Keyes reviewed the City’s Building.NET database and the

Building Departments existing standard operating procedures.  The attached proposal reflects

the City’s requested scope of work, namely to:

- Clean-up record types/picklists, organize and digitize data and documents, to 

eliminate thousands of issues within records, and to improve software functionality for 

staff and customers; 

- Increase self-service by customers and automate processes to improve customer 

experience and to reduce staff workload; 

- Formalize Project Management by collaborating with City staff and identifying key 

roles and responsibilities; 

• BS&A recommended Mr. Keyes (owner of Munivate, LLC) as a leader who possesses

unique experience and qualifications; Mr. Keyes has assisted several other area

CMR 12-23-125



municipalities with similar building database transition projects, including the City of Royal 

Oak, and Pittsfield Township. 

 

City staff does not believe that a Request for Proposal would be in the City’s best interest in this 

particular case, since we have a definite limitation in terms of the amount of time available to 

successfully complete the cleanup of the Building.NET system.   

 

Furthermore, Munivate, LLC possesses unique skills and expertise with the BS&A software 

system, and with Building operations and best practices, that will be invaluable to the City’s 

efforts to optimize the implementation of the BS&A Cloud for the Building Department. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

In view of the above, it is recommended that City Council waive the sealed bid process & 

authorize the City Manager to sign an agreement and issue a purchase order for purchasing sole 

source from Munivate, LLC, to provide Consulting Services to manage the Building system 

transition to BS&A Cloud for the City of Farmington Hills, in an amount not to exceed $75,000.   

 

Prepared by: Thomas C. Skrobola, Finance Director/Treasurer 

 

Reviewed by:  Charmaine Kettler-Schmult, Director of Planning and Community Development 

 

Approved by: Gary Mekjian, City Manager 
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Background 

• The City is implemen�ng a new Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) so�ware, BS&A 
So�ware, over the next two years, with an�cipated comple�on by the Summer of 2025.   

• The migra�on will require the city to clean up the exis�ng BS&A “Building.NET” database 
so that it can be combined with other BS&A databases without difficulty, and to improve 
standard opera�ng procedures to op�mize use of the new ERP system.  

• Assessor Mat Dingman and his staff have provided invaluable assistance by rec�fying 
over 25,000 issues with the exis�ng Building.NET database related to addressing.  
However, there are s�ll several thousand remaining addresses that need to be corrected 
that require in-depth analysis by an expert in BS&A database management and Building 
Department procedures.  

• BS&A will need staff to complete ac�vi�es during the BS&A Cloud project which are 
cri�cal to its success but some�mes difficult to coordinate and complete. 

About Munivate 

Munivate is a Michigan-based company that specializes in local government solu�ons and is a 
professional services partner of BS&A So�ware. It was founded in 2021 by Kevin Keyes, a highly 
experienced partner of communi�es who spent over a decade with BS&A So�ware and has 
worked with around 300 municipali�es in 16 states. Munivate currently has over 25 clients in 6 
states, including the City of Royal Oak, Pitsfield Township, the City of Ypsilan�, and others in 
southeast Michigan.  

About the Project 

In November 2023, Kevin Keyes performed a Comprehensive Environment Assessment (CEA) of 
the Building Department database and met with staff to discuss opera�ons. Through this work, 
a number of opportuni�es were iden�fied where the so�ware and department processes could 
be op�mized to provide staff with the tools they need to improve service delivery for applicants 
and set the table for a smooth transi�on to Cloud. These include: 

• Improve user experience by cleaning up system configura�on, reorganizing data, and 
reconfiguring exis�ng records to create a more posi�ve experience for staff and public. 

• Improve and increase self-service and overall efficiency by expanding and promo�ng 
online services and implemen�ng system workflow automa�on to reduce manual 
interven�on for repe��ve tasks.  

• Formalize Project Management by establishing a process to iden�fy, rank, and approve 
necessary ac�vi�es required to achieve success, then plan and manage work packages 
to ensure quality comple�on.  

Munivate enjoys a unique set of skills, combining deep domain exper�se with advanced 
technical capabili�es that allows it to not only manage projects but take an ac�ve, hands-on 
role in them as well. We see exci�ng things happening in the City the next few years and we 
would love to be a part of it.  
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Project Es�ma�on 
The following are es�mates of hours for each area based on our experience 
implemen�ng similar projects.  

AREA ESTIMATED HOURS 
1. PERMIT, PROJECT, FEE, PLAN REVIEW, 

WORKFLOW AUTOMATION, 
RECONFIGURATION, AND TRAINING 

42  

2. BSA ONLINE PERMIT, PZE, AND INSPECTION 
RECONFIGURATION, EXPANSION, AND 
TRAINING 

12  

3. CLEAN PICKLISTS 3 

4. REPORTS CREATION, ADJUSTMENT, AND 
CLEANUP 

6  

5. CODE ENFORCEMENT RECONFIGURATION, 
WORKFLOW AUTOMATION, TRAINING 

9 

6. CERTIFICATE RECONFIGURATION, WORKFLOW 
AUTOMATION, TRAINING 

9 

7. ONE YEAR OF PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND 
RESOURCE SERVICES (SYSTEM OPTIMIZATION, 
CLOUD PRE-IMPLEMENTATION, AD-HOC 
ACTIVITY MANAGEMENT AND DELIVERY) 

260 

8. ADDRESSING SOP ESTABLISHMENT AND 
RECONCILIATION 

60 

9. BONDS AND ESCROW RECONCILIATION 6 
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The proposed services are being offered on an hourly basis based upon the es�mates provided 
above. Travel is es�mated based on the an�cipated number of trips.  

 

Purpose 

 

Es�mated Hours 

 

Total 

Services 407 $71,225 

Travel  $2,904 

Totals  $74,129 

Hourly rates for services: 

Role Rate 

Senior Consultant $175 

Senior Advisor $195 

Data Visualiza�on Consultant $150 

 

The proposed billing schedule is as follows unless otherwise stated in a separate city contract or 
amended via change order:  

Invoice Date Amount 

Billed Monthly Accrued Monthly Total 

 

Hours are tracked in the project SharePoint site as accrued and invoiced electronically monthly 
(net 30) to the client. Only actual hours are billed.   
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Kevin 
Keyes 

 
Senior 

Consultant 

 
On this Project 

  

 
 
Kevin will work directly with the city to plan and execute the ac�vi�es within 
the project plan. He’ll interview staff, conduct research, execute ac�vi�es, and 
perform other project-related ac�vi�es while providing in-depth insight from 
years of Community Development, project management, and advisory 
experience.   
 

worked with  

300+ 
Community 

Development 
Departments 

 
History 

  

 
Kevin has spent the last 12+ years working directly with Community Development 
departments. 
 
During that �me, he’s helped over 300 municipali�es in 16 different states implement 
technology, improve service delivery, and bring about real organiza�onal change.  
 
Founding Munivate in 2021 with a mission to empower municipali�es to innovate, 
Kevin has quickly been relied on by both public and private organiza�ons who serve 
the public within the Community Development domain.  
 
Prior to founding Munivate, Kevin served in various roles for BS&A So�ware where he 
worked with Community Development teams throughout the country.  
 
Kevin also has experience in many cross-disciplinary areas such as: 

• Governmental Fund Accoun�ng 
• Change Management 
• Organiza�onal Management 
• GIS 
• ERP So�ware Design, Func�on, and Implementa�on 
• Data Analy�cs and Modeling 
• Robo�c Process Automa�on (RPA) 
• System Integra�ons 
• Documenta�on, Tutorial Crea�on (Document and Video), Training  

Over 

12 
Years experience in 

Community 
Development 

Experience:  
 
Munivate 
2021-2023 
 
BS&A So�ware 
2011-2021 
 
IBM (via Preferred 
Solu�ons) 
2008-2011 
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John 
Dullock 

 
Senior 

Advisor 

 
On this Project 

  

 
 
John may work under contract (as needed) to assist with organiza�on 
change management, project management, and process re-
engineering.  

35+  

Years Experience in 
program, project, and 
change management 

 
History 

  

  
John joins the Munivate team a�er a successful career both managing large 
teams and advising current and former State of Michigan (SOM) departments 
including Health and Human Services (MDHHS), Community Health (MDCH), 
Technology, Management, and Budget (DTMB), Correc�ons (MDOC), Natural 
Resources (DNR), and Michigan Department of State (SOS).  
 
As the contracted Senior Program Management Director within MDHHS, John 
was responsible for coordina�ng the startup of the Systems Integra�on 
Administra�on (SIA) along with 8 Project Management Offices (PMO’s), each 
consis�ng of $10m to $150m worth of project work, accoun�ng for over a half 
billion-dollar por�olio.  
 
John successfully led the team responsible for the implementa�on of the 
Affordable Care Act (ACA) requirements for the State of Michigan, including its 
$128m budget and nearly 40 projects. This program was delivered months 
ahead of schedule.  
 
Earlier, John took on the role of Senior Program Manager for the SOM 
Business Applica�on Moderniza�on (BAM) Phase 3 project, a 5-year, $52m 
redesign of the Michigan Department of State (MDOS) business applica�ons. 
Prior to that, he served as the Senior Project Manager for BAM Phase 2 which 
successfully performed a comprehensive organiza�onal, service, and 
technology assessment of the Michigan Department of State (MDOS), leading 
to the crea�on of a roadmap for the future moderniza�on of the department.  
 
John also has experience as a Program Manager within Sparrow Health 
System where he worked to establish formal project management discipline 
within the organiza�on as well as implement the iSparrow Charts document 
management system. 

Over 

$500m 
Por�olio of Projects 

Prior Experience:  
 
Dully PPM LLC 
2019-Present 
 
State of Michigan 
(Contracted) 
1985-2008 
2012-2020 
 
Sparrow Health 
2010-2012 
 
HP 
2008-2010 
 
EDS 
(23 Years) 
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Caleb  
Forner 

 
Data 

Visualiza�on 
Consultant 

 
On this Project 

  

 
 
Caleb may work (as needed) remotely under contract to provide technical 
assistance in data gathering, modeling, and visualiza�on. 

13 
Years opera�onal 

repor�ng and analy�cs 
experience 

 
History 

  

 
  
Caleb is a veteran of the Army Na�onal Guard where he was trained in 
database management systems before earning his Computer Science degree 
from Western Michigan University. During his �me with the Na�onal Guard, 
Caleb designed, developed, and implemented several interac�ve opera�onal 
systems such as a personnel tracking and management system to assist in 
required training and repor�ng processes.  
 
A�er serving our country, Caleb con�nued serving in the public sector where 
he administered applica�on databases for the Jackson County Intermediate 
School District, eventually being elevated to the role of Supervisor of Student 
Informa�on Systems. At the ISD, Caleb brought a crea�ve perspec�ve to 
problem solving, custom developing many solu�ons for so�ware integra�ons, 
repor�ng, and data migra�on for the 24 school districts he served.  
 
Most recently, Caleb provides his exper�se to Consumers Energy as a Data 
Scien�st. In this ini�a�ve, he has helped inventory and consolidate data 
collec�ons throughout the organiza�on, re-write and op�mize algorithms 
used to query large rela�onal database sets, and build custom dashboards to 
help execu�ve teams make more educated and insigh�ul decisions.  
 
Caleb is experienced with many technologies including SQL, Oracle,  
MS Power BI, VBA, Fusion Charts, JavaScript, Power Query, and DAX. 

200+  
Custom repor�ng 

solu�ons developed 

Prior Experience: 
 
Consumers Energy 
2022-2023 
 
Jackson County ISD 
2015-2022 
 
Mich Army Na�onal 
Guard 
2011-2015 
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Client Roles and Responsibili�es 
Role Responsibili�es 

Project Sponsor The Sponsor will execute agreements on behalf of the 
city, op�onally atend progress mee�ngs, provide key 
decisions, and provide general high-level oversight of 
the project.  

Department Managers Managers will help coordinate scheduling with 
department team members. They will also provide 
access to systems, documenta�on, and other requests 
for informa�on.  
 

Subject Matter Experts Subject Mater Experts (SME’s) provide valuable insight 
into current-state processes within the city and take an 
ac�ve role in the project to help ensure project 
success.  

Team Members Team Members consist of intake staff, reviewers, 
inspectors, and other support staff. They may be 
needed to provide insight into processes and will also 
be involved in solu�on training. 
 
 

IT Lead The IT lead may be required to provide access to 
systems or data for project team members, as well as 
general IT support for the systems which contain data.  

Communications 
Specialist 

Coordinate with Munivate and Department staff team 
to develop, review, and publish public-facing 
informa�on, no�ces, surveys, etc. 
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Municipality Kenilworth IL 
Contact Name Heather McFarland 
Contact Title Assistant to the Village Manager 
Phone 847-251-1666 x5255 
Email hmcfarland@vok.org 

 

Organiza�on BS&A So�ware 
Contact Name Steve Rennell 
Contact Title Senior Account Execu�ve 
Phone 248-808-7328 
Email srennell@bsaso�ware.com 

Organiza�on Professional Code Inspectors of 
Michigan 

Contact Name Eric Thompson 
Contact Title Managing Partner 
Phone 269-207-6323 
Email ethompson@pcimi.com 

Municipality City of Royal Oak MI 
Contact Name Jason Craig 
Contact Title Ast. Dir. of Community Development 
Phone 248-246-3210 
Email Jasonc@romi.gov 

Municipality City of Ypsilan� MI 
Contact Name Jenni Miller 
Contact Title Office Manager 
Phone 734-482-1025 
Email Jmiller2@cityofypsilan�.com 
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Municipality Pitsfield Township MI 
Contact Name Kurt Weiland 
Contact Title Community Development Director 
Phone 734-822-3127 
Email weilandk@pitsfield-mi.gov 

 

Municipality Bradley IL 
Contact Name Bruce Page 
Contact Title Community Development Director 
Phone 815-936-5100 x1111 
Email bepage@bradleyil.org 

 

Municipality Riverside IL 
Contact Name Ashley Monroe 
Contact Title Assistant Village Manager 
Phone 704-447-2700 x238 
Email amonroe@riverside.il.us 

 

Municipality City of Plymouth MN 
Contact Name Tyson Jenkins 
Contact Title Building Official 
Phone 763-509-5431 
Email tjenkins@plymouthmn.gov 

 

Municipality City of Pewaukee WI 
Contact Name Nick Fuchs 
Contact Title Dir. Of Community Development 
Phone 262-691-6007 
Email fuchs@pewaukee.wi.us 

 

 

mailto:weilandk@pittsfield-mi.gov


REPORT FROM THE CITY MANAGER TO CITY COUNCIL - DECEMBER 11, 2023 

SUBJECT:  Award of Bid for As-Needed Asphalt Materials 

ADMINISTRATIVE SUMMARY: 

• The 2023 As-Needed Asphalt Materials contract was publicly advertised and competitively bid on the Michigan
Intergovernmental Trade Network (MITN) e-procurement system and opened on November 16, 2023, after a one-week
postponement to obtain additional interest. Notification was sent to over 80 vendors including 12 that hold the classification 
of minority owned, women owned, veteran owned, disabled, disadvantaged or service disabled.

• The bid process provided unit prices for UPM cold patch required road repairs (see attached bid tab). The quantities of the
materials bid were estimates (using historical data) for bid comparison and evaluation only. These materials will be
purchased as needed up to the approved annual budgeted amount.

• Funding for the DPW road maintenance supplies is provided in the Major and Local Road Maintenance accounts.

• The bid provides pricing for a one-year period with provisions for up to four (4) one-year extensions through mutual consent 
by the City and the contractor.

• Ajax Materials Corporation has provided these materials in the past and has proven to be professional and reliable with
over 70 years of experience.

RECOMMENDATION: 

IT IS RESOLVED, that the City Council of Farmington Hills authorize the City Manager to approve the required contract and 
purchase orders to Ajax Materials Corporation for As-Needed Asphalt Materials in the amount not-to-exceed $50,000 per year with 
one or more administration approved extensions not-to-exceed a total of four (4) additional years. 

SUPPORTING ATTACHMENT: 

Prepared by:  Derrick Schueller, DPW Superintendent 
Departmental Authorization: Tammy Gushard, P.E., Interim Director of Public Services 

Michelle Aranowski, Director of Central Services 
Nikki Lumpkin, Senior Buyer 

Approved by:     Gary Mekjian, P.E., City Manager 

City of Farmington Hills
Bid Tabulation
itb-fh-23-24-2427
As Needed-Asphalt Materials-Cold Patch
Opened 11/16/2023

Est. Qty. UNIT Unit Price Total Unit Price Total
UPM COLD PATCH - 20 OR MORE TONS 
(TRANSPORT BY VENDOR)

250 TONS 155.00$        $38,750.00 135.00$   $33,750.00

MATERIAL NAME

GRAND TOTAL 250 $38,750.00 $33,750.00

Price Increase beginning Year 2

Extend to MITN Purchasing Cooperative

i ifi i  86 i   (0) " i

No No

15% 10%

ITEM

Cadillac Asphalt, 
Farmington Hills, MI

Ajax Materials
Corporation          

Troy, MI

UPM UPM

CMR 11-23-126



REPORT FROM THE CITY MANAGER TO CITY COUNCIL - December 11, 2023 

SUBJECT: Award of Bid – Two (2) 5-Yard Swap Loader Dump Truck Chassis 

ADMINISTRATIVE SUMMARY: 

 A request for proposals (RFP) was issued through the Michigan Intergovernmental Trade Network
(MITN) e-procurement system by the City of Rochester Hills, RFP-RH-20-023 and opened on
March 18, 2020. The initial term was for three (3) years and has been extended through 2025.

 The RFP was a seven-community cooperative effort, with the City of Rochester Hills acting as lead
agency and included the cities of Farmington Hills, Rochester Hills, Auburn Hills, Madison
Heights, Livonia, Huntington Woods, and Bloomfield Township. The proposal was developed with
the intent to create a multi-year, comprehensive, cooperative contract for any MITN agency to
procure single and tandem-axle dump trucks and related equipment for snow and ice control.
Participating in a cooperative purchase provides cost savings for the City of Farmington Hills due
to the buying power of the cooperative.

 The proposed purchase provides two (2) 5-yard dump truck chassis with Swap Loader hoist systems
that will ultimately replace two (2) dump trucks with over 9 years of service.

 The backbone of the DPW’s daily operation is the dump truck. It is used for hauling debris, sand
and gravel during the summer months, and granular salt, liquid brine, and sand during the winter
storms.  These vehicles are our exclusive tool for snow plowing and de-icing and needed to
maintain safe travel within the City.

 The recommended award complies with the City’s specifications and is within budget. Funding for
this purchase is provided in the Capital Improvement Budget for FY 23/24.

 The recommended vendor is Wolverine Freightliner of Mt. Clemens, Michigan. Wolverine has
provided several 5-yard and 10-yard dump truck chassis to the City in the past with high quality
and solid workmanship.

RECOMMENDATION: 

IT IS RESOLVED that the City Council of Farmington Hills authorize the City Manager to issue a purchase 
order to Wolverine Freightliner located in Mt. Clemens, Michigan, in the amount of $231,492.00 for the 
purchase of two (2) 5-yard Swap Loader dump truck chassis.   

CMR 12-23-127



Award of Bid for Two (2) 5-Yard Swap Loader Dump Truck Chassis 
Page 2 
SUPPORTING ATTACHMENT: 

 

 

Prepared by:    Derrick Schueller, DPW Superintendent 
 
Reviewed by:   Tammy Gushard, P.E., Interim Director of Public Services 

Nikki Lumpkin, Senior Buyer 
 
Departmental Authorization: Michelle Aranowski, Director, Department of Central Services 
 
Approved by:     Gary Mekjian, P.E., City Manager 



K:\SHARED\CC Packet\2023\12-11-23\CMR As Needed OEM Parts for Emergency Vehicles.docx 

REPORT FROM THE CITY MANAGER TO CITY COUNCIL 

December 11, 2023 

SUBJECT: AS NEEDED PURCHASE OF OEM PARTS FOR EMERGENCY VEHICLES 

ADMINISTRATIVE SUMMARY 

• The Farmington Hills DPW is responsible for the maintenance and repair of over 300 units of equipment,

including vehicles, light trucks, heavy equipment, and specialty equipment. The City annually budgets

approximately $105,000 for the purchase of Fire Department emergency vehicle parts.

• The Fire Department vehicles are custom and require unique equipment that is manufacture specific and is not

readily available through the City’s current contracts. Therefore, the DPW and Fire Department are consistently

obtaining quotes from the vendors for competitive pricing.

• The Fire Department and Farmington Hills DPW will continue to order available part and equipment through the

City’s current contracts but request authorization to order manufacture specific emergency vehicle parts and

equipment required for maintenance and repairs.

• Funding for these parts is available and budgeted in the Auto Truck Parts Fund.

RECOMMENDATION 

In view of the above, it is recommended that City Council authorize the City Manager to approve purchase orders to the 

following three (3) vendors for the estimated annual amounts.  Liquid Spring LLC. - $15,000.00, Rosenbauer - 

$30,000.00 and MacQueen - $15,000.00. 

Prepared by: Michelle Aranowski, Director of Central Services 

Reviewed by: Derrick Schueller, DPW Superintendent 

Reviewed by: Jon Unruh, Fire Chief 

Reviewed by:  Karen Mondora, Assistant City Manager 

Approved by: Gary Mekjian, City Manager 

CMR 11-23-128



    

31555 West Eleven Mile Road • Farmington Hills MI 48336 • 248.871-2410 Phone • 248.871.2411 Fax 

OFFICE OF CITY CLERK 

 

 

 

TO:   Mayor and City Council Members 

 

FROM:  Carly Lindahl, Interim City Clerk 

 

DATE:  December 11, 2023 

 

SUBJECT:  Setting of Annual Goals Study Session Meeting  

 

 

The date of Saturday, January 6, 2024 has been suggested for the City Council’s annual 

goals study session meeting.   

 

The meeting is proposed to begin at 9:00 a.m. and take place in the Community Room at 

City Hall. If this date and time is acceptable to Council, the following motion is in order 

to formally confirm the meeting date.  Thank you.    

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

IT IS RESOLVED, that City Council hereby schedules the annual goals study session 

meeting for Saturday, January 6, 2024, beginning at 9:00 a.m. in the Community Room at 

City Hall. 
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MINUTES 

  CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 

FARMINGTON HILLS CITY COUNCIL 

CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBER 

NOVEMBER 27, 2023 – 6:00PM 

 

The study session meeting of the Farmington Hills City Council was called to order by Mayor Pro Tem 

Bruce at 6:05pm. He noted that there was not a quorum present of current Council members to hold a formal 

meeting so he called for a recess at this time and noted that they would reconvene the formal meeting if 

there were a quorum at some point.  

 

Attorney Joppich pointed out that there is no action taken at a study session and cautioned Council not to 

deliberate on any issues; but stated that staff could still provide information to Council on the topics on the 

agenda. 

 

Mayor Pro-Tem Bruce reconvened the meeting at 6:45pm as there was now a quorum present. 

 

Council Members Present: Boleware, Bridges, Bruce, Knol  

 

Council Members Absent:  Barnett and Massey  

 

Others Present: Mayor elect Rich, Council members elect Aldred and Dwyer, 

City Manager Mekjian, City Clerk Smith, Assistant City 

Manager Mondora, Directors Brown, and Kettler-Schmult and 

City Attorney Joppich  

 

It was noted that City Clerk Smith had provided background information on the liquor license moratorium 

to City Council. 

 

Mayor Pro-Tem Bruce asked if the moratorium would automatically expire as of December 11, 2024. 

Clerk Smith confirmed that it would automatically expire should there be a consensus of Council to take 

no further action at the December 11, 2023 meeting to extend the moratorium. 

 

Attorney Joppich stated that if there was consensus to bring this forth at the December 11, 2023 meeting 

for further discussion and possible extension, staff would like some recommendation as to the length of 

the extension in order to prepare the appropriate resolution for that meeting. 

 

Discussion was held on the master plan process and when that was expected to be completed as well as 

potential for redevelopment liquor licenses or licenses issued through a Downtown Development 

Authority or Corridor Improvement Authority (DDA.CIA). 

 

Charmaine Kettler-Schmult, Director of Planning and Community Development, stated that the proposed 

timeline for adopting the master plan is May, 2024. 

 

Attorney Joppich and Planning Consultant Bahn further discussed redevelopment licenses and that 

process and/or utilizing a CIA District. 

 

Council commented that past discussion also included the city’s liquor license ordinance and changes to 

that to allow for specific types of facilities such as cigar bars or jazz bars to operate without having to be a 

bona fide restaurant, which is a requirement in the existing ordinance. 
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Council inquired if a quota license is issued and the business ceases to operate, would the city lose the 

license. Clerk Smith stated that the city has an agreement that they request owners to sign indicating that 

they will return the license to the city; however, it is difficult to track licenses if they are transferred to 

another community and whether or not they originated from the city as one of their quota licenses. 

 

Attorney Joppich stated that he would provide an updated legal opinion on the city agreement. 

 

The consensus of Council was that they would prefer to allow the moratorium to expire and allow 

existing applicants to come before City Council for those licenses. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

The study session meeting adjourned at 7:14pm.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Pamela B. Smith, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 

MINUTES 

CITY OF FARMINGTON HILLS 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBER 

NOVEMBER 27, 2023 – 7:30 PM 

 

The regular session meeting of the Farmington Hills City Council was called to order by Mayor Barnett at 

7:32pm.  

 

Council Members Present: Aldred, Barnett, Boleware, Bridges, Bruce, Dwyer, Knol and Rich  

 

Council Members Absent: None 

 

Others Present: City Manager Mekjian, City Clerk Smith, Assistant City Manager 

Mondora, Directors Aranowski, Brown, Kettler-Schmult, Police Chief 

King, Fire Chief Unruh and City Attorney Joppich 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Michael Sweeney, Emergency Preparedness Commission Member, led the pledge of allegiance.  

 

Mayor Barnett gave her outing Mayoral speech acknowledging staff and councilmembers for all they do 

for the city. 

 

OATH OF OFFICE TO MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS ELECTED ON NOVEMBER 7, 

2023 

 

47th District Court Judge Marla Parker provided the oath of office as Mayor to Theresa Rich. 

Mayor Barnett passed the gavel to Mayor Rich and offered her congratulations. 

 

47th District Court Judge Marla Parker provided the oath of office as Council Member to Jon Aldred, 

Jackie Boleware and Bill Dwyer. 

 

APPROVAL OF REGULAR SESSION MEETING AGENDA 

MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, to approve the agenda as published.  

 

MOTION CARRIED 7-0. 

 

INTRODUCTION OF NEW ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER KAREN MONDORA 

Gary Mekjian, City Manager, introduced Karen Mondora as the new Assistant City Manager noting that 

she was the first female Assistant City Manager for the city and offered her his congratulations. 

 

Karen Mondora, Assistant City Manager, thanked everyone for their support and stated that she looks 

forward to working with everyone in her new position. 

 

EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS TIP OF THE MONTH 

Michael Sweeney, EPC member, provided tips for preparing your automobile for winter. 

 

CORRESPONDENCE 

There was no correspondence acknowledged. 
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CONSENT AGENDA 

Mayor Rich requested City Council to consider a motion to suspend their rule with regard to approving 

minutes in order to allow for a quorum to approve items #18 and #19 – meeting minutes from October 

23rd. 

 

She explained that since the newly elected members were not yet elected at that time and not present at 

the October 23rd meeting and council member Bridges was also absent from that meeting, there would be 

no quorum to act on those items if the rule is not suspended for this purpose. 

 

MOTION by Bridges, support by Boleware, that the City Council hereby suspends for this 

meeting the rule adopted in the Rules of the City Council and Guidelines of Conduct stating that a 

Council member should not vote on the question of approving, correcting or amending minutes of 

meetings at which the member was absent for the reason that such member is unable to determine 

the accuracy of such minutes. 

 

 MOTION CARRIED 7-0. 

 

Mayor Pro-Tem Bruce read the consent agenda items into the record. 

 

MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, to approve consent agenda items #7 through #17.   

 

Roll Call Vote:  

    Yeas: ALDRED, BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE, DWYER, KNOL AND RICH  

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

MOTION CARRIED 7-0.   

 

MOTION by Boleware, support by Bruce, to approve consent agenda items #18 and #19.   

 

Roll Call Vote:  

    Yeas: BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE AND KNOL  

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: ALDRED, DWYER AND RICH 

 

MOTION CARRIED 4-0-0-3   

 

 

MOTION by Bridges, support by Knol, to approve consent agenda items #20 and #21.   

 

Roll Call Vote:  

    Yeas: BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE AND KNOL  

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: ALDRED, DWYER AND RICH 

 

MOTION CARRIED 4-0-0-3   
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PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS 

Pam Gerald spoke thanked the Farmington Hills and Southfield Police Chiefs for hosting their 

community forums. She encouraged all watching to attend future events such as these. 

 

Jackie Tomlinson, District Director for State Senator Mary Cavanaugh, mentioned that Senator 

Cavanaugh was hosting a Voting Rights Town Hall on Tuesday, December 19th from 5:30pm-7pm on 

election law changes at the South Redford Administration Building. 

 

Glen Rader, resident, inquired about the closing of the Costick Center in light of the recommendation 

within the SFA report in order to optimize services and questioned where Council stands on that 

recommendation. 

 

City Manager Mekjian suggested that Mr. Rader speak with Assistant City Manager Mondora regarding 

the report and indicated that City Council will most likely be taking up the issue in the new year. 

 

Mr. Rader thanked City Manager Mekjian and stated that he just wanted to make sure it was on the city’s 

radar for further discussion.  

 

Hassan Aoun, resident of Dearborn, mentioned that the city received a Freedom of Information Act 

(FOIA) request today from him and commented on the Open Meetings Act and Roberts Rules of Order 

and that Council should not stay mute on questions asked by residents at this time. 

 

Ed Morykwas, resident, spoke about taking his granddaughter to Marvelous Marvins and the on-line 

petition to save the business at its existing location and he encouraged City Council to save the business.. 

 

Angie Smith thanked the Police and Fire Chiefs for their service and commented on being an elected 

official and rules that they follow and interaction with constituents. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Councilmembers Aldred, Dwyer and Boleware all thanked the voters for their support stating that they 

look forward to working together for all of the residents.  

 

Mayor Pro-Tem Bruce and Councilmembers Knol and Bridges congratulated the new Mayor and Council 

and thanked outgoing Mayor Barnett and Councilmembers Massey and Newlin for their years of service. 

 

Mayor Rich thanked Mayor Barnett for her time and wisdom and continued support and Council 

members and staff for the warm welcome. She also commented on the past service of Councilmembers 

Massey and Newlin. 

 

Mayor Rich stated that she wanted to start a new tradition of acknowledging item to celebrate and she 

acknowledged the following: 

• Mercy High School is celebrating three State Championships for golf, volleyball and swim and 

dive and their cast for Frozen the musical will be heading to New York to perform on Good 

Morning America. 

 

• Leo’s Coney Island who on Thanksgiving Day served free Thanksgiving dinners to anyone that 

wanted to show up in the community 
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CITY MANAGER UPDATE 

City Manager Mekjian also thanked Mayor Barnett and Councilmembers Massey and Newlin for their 

service and congratulated the new Mayor and Councilmembers elect. He also thanked City Clerk Smith 

and her staff for another well run election.  

 

City Manager Mekjian provided an update on the following: 

• Yard waste pickup will be ending the week of December 11, 2023  

• Winter road maintenance efforts are underway  

• High speed fiber installation continues throughout the city 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 

PUBLIC HEARING AND CONSIDERATION OF PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 1, 2023 

LOCATED AT 29905, 29915 AND 29845 THIRTEEN MILE ROAD 

Mayor Rich explained that the City has received a request from the applicant for the City Council to 

postpone action on this item to allow them to submit a revised plan to the city. Since the public hearing 

was advertised, we will go ahead and hear from staff and the applicant if they wish and then open the 

public hearing and allow anyone who is present to speak on the item as advertised. 

 

Charmaine Kettler-Schmult, Director of Planning and Community Development, provided an overview of 

the project as advertised.  She stated that the Planning Consultants were present to speak if needed but 

that staff would defer to the applicant to comment and then the public hearing should be held prior to any 

action of Council. 

 

Tom Haji, Director of the Chaldean Community Foundation, stated that after several meetings with the 

Planning Commission and speaking with City Council, they want to be respectful and mindful to the and 

come back with a revised plan of which they are hoping the Planning Commission will be more receptive 

and they want to be a respectful neighbor. He hopes to pursue the project but understands that City 

Council has to also listen to the residents. 

 

Mayor Rich opened the public hearing and acknowledged that correspondence was received from the 

following in opposition to the project as proposed: 

 

Jo Anne Zechar, Westgate Subdivision 

Amy Broglin-Peterson 

Emilio Ramirez, President of Holly Hill Farms Association 

Beverly Mihalko, Westgate Subdivision 

Aubrey and Janice Lee, Westgate Road 

Todd Skowronski, representing Holly Hill Farms Association and Westgate Civic Association 

Adrienne Davies, Chairman of the Holly Hill Farms Architectural Control Committee/Holly Hill 

Farms Homeowners Association Board Member 

Larissa Gallagher, Woodbrook Street 

David and Kerry Peabody, Woodcreek Ct. 

Carrie Richardson, Pond Ridge Road 

The Spiess Family, Holly Hill Farms Subdivision 

Alan Isner, Holly Hill Farms Subdivision 
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The following individuals spoke against the proposed project at the meeting: 

 Todd Skowronski, representing Holly Hill Farms Association and Westgate Civic Association,  

Emilio Ramirez, President of Holly Hill Farms Association 

 Sam Rabah, Westgate 

 John Nagoda, Westgate Subdivision 

 Richard and Audrey Olenzek, Highmeadow 

Liviu Marinica, Richmond Hill 

Amy Broglin-Peterson, Northbrook St 

Paul Blizman, Herndonwood 

Ken Snodgrass, Sugar spring in Holly Hill Farms 

Adrienne Davies, Chairman of the Holly Hill Farms Architectural Control Committee/Holly Hill 

Farms Homeowners Association Board Member 

 

Mr. Blizman also suggested the city install signs on the property where there is a proposed 

development before the city for consideration. 

 

Other comments by the public included the following: 

Hassan Aoun, Dearborn, commented that the project seems like a nice project but Council should 

listen to the wishes of the residents affected and that if the Planning Commission denies the 

project, it should not go to Council for consideration. He suggested that City Council and the 

Planning Commissioners already have their minds made up and commented that City Council has 

no authorization to consider the project if it was already denied by the Planning Commission. He 

mentioned he has submitted a FOIA for emails of Council members and if he does not get them 

he will go to litigation as he is entitled to them per 15.231 and he is entitled to them for free but 

does not have to say why or his circumstances.  

 

Lori Boyce, representing YIMBY that stands for Yes In My Back Yard, an advocacy group for 

affordable housing, commented that this is attainable housing and not affordable housing spoke to 

the need for work-force housing in the city.  

 

Pam Gerald, resident, spoke to the process of going before the Planning Commission and City 

Council and encouraged the city and developer to work on a more cohesive plan. 

  

There being no further comments, Mayor Rich closed the public hearing. 

 

Attorney Joppich explained that the applicant has requested Council to postpone consideration of the 

project and he explained the process for submitting a revised plan that would go back to the Planning 

Commission for review and recommendation prior to coming back to Council for consideration. 

 

MOTION by Bruce, support by Dwyer, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

POSTPONES consideration of PUD 1, 2023, received June 19, 2023 submitted by Martin Manna, 

to allow the applicant an opportunity to submit a revised plan for Planning Commission review 

and recommendation to this council, and that this matter shall be placed back on a Council 

agenda with a resumption of the public hearing and Council consideration after the Planning 

Commission makes a recommendation on the revised plan. 
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Council inquired about legal ramifications for each option of city council either to postpone action, deny 

the project or approve the project. 

 

Attorney Joppich stated that sample motions have been prepared for each option for Council to consider. 

He explained that Council has handled minor changes to PUD plans at the table in the past, but when the 

changes are significant, staff has recommended it be returned to the Planning Commission for further 

consideration and recommendations. He explained that Council does not have to send this back to the 

Planning Commission; however, that has typically been done when significant changes to a plan are made 

which appears to be the case with this PUD based on preliminary alternate plans provided with the 

request to postpone. Council has the legal discretion to take either of the three actions mentioned; 

however, in the past Council has allowed for plans to go back to the Planning Commission for revision 

although they are not legally required to do so. 

 

Council members expressed the following comments and concerns: 

• Project is not compatible with surrounding area and does not provide for transition to the single-

family districts 

• Density is too high 

• Current plan appears to be spot zoning 

• Lack of sufficient public benefit with the project 

• Suggested better options may be to look at areas already zoned for this type of housing or to 

consider the rehabilitation of existing apartment buildings or hotels/motels 

• In favor of affordable and/or attainable housing but this particular property isn’t the area for this 

project 

• Indication from majority of Council that a revised plan that was not for single-family cluster 

housing is not something they can support at this time for the reasons stated  

• Concerned that the applicant is not still present at the meeting to hear the comments and that 

Council cannot ask if cluster housing is what they will be proposing. Councilmembers were 

concerned that the applicant will bring a revised plan back to the Planning Commission with 

adjustments to density that are minor and not single-family homes, which Council is not likely to 

approve based on comments made tonight. Councilmembers expressed concern about the 

applicant getting the wrong idea from a postponement and possibly wasting its time and resources 

on a non-single-family project for this property. 

 

Further discussion was held on all options of Council to postpone, deny or approve the project.  It was 

asked if the legal jeopardy of the city was increased with any of the options. 

 

Attorney Joppich stated that he could not answer that without further studying each option to determine 

what any legal jeopardy may exist and providing a written legal opinion; but Council certainly has all of 

those options available and he can only provide background information at this time. He added that 

Council could also postpone the matter in order to request a legal opinion on that issue. 

 

Mayor Rich requested that the applicant is made aware of Council’s comments this evening if they choose 

to go back to the Planning Commission with a revised plan as well as for staff to take back to Planning 

the concerns expressed and in particular making sure there is sufficient public benefit with any revised 

plan. 

 

Mayor Rich requested a roll call vote. 
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Roll Call Vote:  

 Yeas: BOLEWARE, BRUCE, DWYER AND RICH 

 Nays:  ALDRED, BRIDGES AND KNOL 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

 MOTION CARRIED  4-3.    

 

NEW BUSINESS 

CONSIDERATION OF APPROVAL OF THE CITY CLERK EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

MOTION by Bruce, support by Aldred, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

approves the City Clerk Employment Agreement with Carly Lindahl, as presented, and authorizes 

the Mayor to sign the agreement on behalf of the City. 

 

MOTION CARRIED 7-0 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF OAKLAND COUNTY INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

SERVICES INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT AND RESOLUTION. CMR 11-23-117 
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RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF EXTENSION OF BID FOR AS NEEDED 

ARCHITECTURAL MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS AND RENOVATIONS TO ALLIED 

BUILDING SERVICES FOR THE DURATION OF THE CONTRACT WHICH WILL EXPIRE 

ON NOVEMBER 30, 2025. CMR 11-23-118 

MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

authorizes the City Manager to approve all budgeted purchase orders for architectural 

maintenance, repairs & renovations with Allied Building Services for the duration of the contract 

that will expire on November 30, 2025. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

 Yeas: ALDRED, BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE, DWYER, KNOL AND RICH 

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

 MOTION CARRIED  7-0.    

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF PURCHASE OF MEDICAL USE OXYGEN TO 

MATHESON TRI-GAS, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF $31,000. CMR 11-23-119 

MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

authorizes the City Manager to issue a purchase order to Matheson Tri-Gas, Inc., for Medical Use 

Oxygen in the combined amount of $31,000.00. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

 Yeas: ALDRED, BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE, DWYER, KNOL AND RICH 

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

 MOTION CARRIED  7-0.    

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF AWARD OF BID FOR A HEAVY-DUTY PIPE TRAILER 

TO JACK DOHENY COMPANY IN THE AMOUNT OF $29,950. CMR 11-23-120 

MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

authorizes the City Manager to issue a purchase order to Jack Doheny Company located in 

Northville, Michigan in the amount of $29,950 for a Brooks Brothers heavy duty pipe trailer. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

 Yeas: ALDRED, BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE, DWYER, KNOL AND RICH 

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

 MOTION CARRIED  7-0.    

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF AWARD OF BID FOR THE 2023 DIRT AND DEBRIS 

HAULING PROGRAM TO GFL ENVIRONMENTAL IN THE AMOUNT OF $50,000 PER 

YEAR, WITH POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS. CMR 11-23-121 
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MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

authorizes the City Manager to approve the required contract and purchase orders to GFL 

Environmental for the 2023 Dirt and Debris Hauling Program in the amount of $50,000 per year, 

with one or more administration approved extensions not-to-exceed a total of four (4) additional 

years. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

 Yeas: ALDRED, BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE, DWYER, KNOL AND RICH 

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

 MOTION CARRIED  7-0.    

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF AWARD OF BID FOR COSTICK CENTER JANITORIAL 

SERVICES TO WILKINS PRO CLEAN, INC. IN THE AMOUNT OF $18,018 PER YEAR WITH 

OPTIONAL RENEWAL. CMR 11-23-122 

MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

authorizes the City Manager to sign a one (1) year contract with Wilkins Pro Clean, Inc., in the 

amount of $18,018 per year for janitorial services at the Costick Activities Center with an option 

to renew for an additional four (4) one-year terms upon mutual consent between the City and 

Wilkins pro Clean, Inc. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

 Yeas: ALDRED, BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE, DWYER, KNOL AND RICH 

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

 MOTION CARRIED  7-0.    

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF AWARD OF PROPOSAL FOR FIRE ALARM AND/OR 

SUPPRESSION SYSTEMS INSPECTION, TESTING AND MAINTENANCE WITH 

SHAMBAUGH & SONS L.P. IN THE AMOUNT OF $10,305 PER YEAR FOR A PERIOD OF 

ONE YEAR WITH OPTIONAL RENEWAL, AND PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION OF FIRE 

ALARM AND SUPPRESSION SYSTEMS TO SHAMBAUGH & SONS L.P. FOR A PERIOD OF 

ONE YEAR WITH OPTIONAL RENEWAL. CMR 11-23-123 

MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

authorizes the City Manager approve all budgeted purchase orders to Shambaugh & Sons L.P. for 

fire alarm and/or fire suppression inspection, testing and maintenance for $10,305 per year for a 

period of one (1) year with optional renewal for four (4) additional one (1) year renewals under 

the same terms and conditions, through mutual consent by the City and Shambaugh & Sons L.P.; 

and  

 

FURTHER RESOLVES, that the City Council hereby authorizes the City manager to approve all 

budgeted purchase orders for the purchase and installation of fire alarm and suppression systems 

to Shambaugh & Sons L.P. for a period of one (1) year with optional renewal for four (4) 

additional one (1) year renewals under the same terms and conditions, through mutual consent by 

the City and Shambaugh & Sons L.P. 
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Roll Call Vote:  

 Yeas: ALDRED, BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE, DWYER, KNOL AND RICH 

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

 MOTION CARRIED  7-0.    

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF AWARD OF BID FOR ROOF REPLACEMENT FOR THE 

POLICE DEPARTMENT INCLUDING ANCILLARY MATERIALS TO ROYAL ROOFING 

CO., INC. IN THE AMOUNT OF $228.850, AND AWARD OF PURCHASE OF ROOFING 

SUPPLIES, INSPECTION AND PROJECT MANAGEMENT TO THE GARLAND COMPANY, 

INC. IN THE AMOUNT OF $248,074.12. CMR 11-23-124 

MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, , that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

authorizes the City Manager to issue a purchase order to Royal Roofing Co., Inc. for roof 

replacement, including ancillary materials, in the amount of $228,850.00; and 

 

FURTHER RESOLVES, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby authorizes the City 

Manager to issue a purchase order with The Garland Company, Inc., for roofing supplies, 

inspection and project management in the amount of $248,074.12. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

 Yeas: ALDRED, BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE, DWYER, KNOL AND RICH 

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

 MOTION CARRIED  7-0.    

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF REQUEST FOR EMPLOYMENT UNDER SECTION 10.01A 

OF THE CITY CHARTER FOR A BUILDING ASSISTANT 

MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

approves an employment request per Section 10.01A of the City Charter for Paul Clark as a 

Building Assistant for the Special Services Department. 

 

Paul Clark is related to Christina Clark who is employed as a Building Assistant at the Costick 

Center. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

 Yeas: ALDRED, BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE, DWYER, KNOL AND RICH 

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

 MOTION CARRIED  7-0.    

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF REQUEST FOR EMPLOYMENT UNDER SECTION 10.01A 

OF THE CITY CHARTER FOR A GYMNASIUM COORDINATOR 
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MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

approves an employment request per Section 10.01A of the City Charter for Rodney Rue, Jr. as a 

Gymnasium Coordinator for the Special Services Department. 

 

Rodney Rue, Jr. is the son of Rosalind Rue who is employed as a Guest Services Assistant at The 

HAWK. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

 Yeas: ALDRED, BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE, DWYER, KNOL AND RICH 

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

 MOTION CARRIED  7-0.    

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF REQUEST FOR EMPLOYMENT UNDER SECTION 10.01A 

OF THE CITY CHARTER FOR A DPW SEASONAL LABORER 

MOTION by Knol, support by Bridges, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

approves an employment request per Section 10.01A of the City Charter for Michael Sisan as a 

DPW Seasonal Laborer 

 

Michael Sisan is the grandson of John Marr, Plumbing Inspector for the Planning and Community 

Development Department. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

 Yeas: ALDRED, BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE, DWYER, KNOL AND RICH 

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: NONE 

 

 MOTION CARRIED  7-0.    

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF CITY COUNCIL STUDY SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

OF OCTOBER 23, 2023 

MOTION by Boleware, support by Bruce, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

approves the study session meeting minutes of October 23, 2023. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

    Yeas: BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE AND KNOL  

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: ALDRED, DWYER AND RICH 

 

MOTION CARRIED 4-0-0-3   

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION MEETING 

MINUTES OF OCTOBER 23, 2023 

MOTION by Boleware, support by Bruce, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

approves the regular session meeting minutes of October 23, 2023. 
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Roll Call Vote:  

    Yeas: BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE AND KNOL  

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: ALDRED, DWYER AND RICH 

 

MOTION CARRIED 4-0-0-3   

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF CITY COUNCIL STUDY SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

OF NOVEMBER 13, 2023 

MOTION by Bridges, support by Knol, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

approves the study session meeting minutes of November 13, 2023. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

    Yeas: BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE AND KNOL  

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: ALDRED, DWYER AND RICH 

 

MOTION CARRIED 4-0-0-3  

 

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION MEETING 

MINUTES OF NOVEMBER 13, 2023 

MOTION by Bridges, support by Knol, that the City Council of Farmington Hills hereby 

approves the regular session meeting minutes of November 13, 2023. 

 

Roll Call Vote:  

    Yeas: BOLEWARE, BRIDGES, BRUCE AND KNOL  

 Nays:  NONE 

 Absent: NONE 

Abstentions: ALDRED, DWYER AND RICH 

 

MOTION CARRIED 4-0-0-3 

 

ADDITIONS TO AGENDA 

There were no additions to the agenda. 

 

ADJOURNMENT   

The meeting was adjourned by Mayor Rich at 10:18pm 

.  

        Respectfully submitted, 

           
        Pamela B. Smith, City Clerk 
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